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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
Or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 001-34180

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaet)

Delaware 77-0513190
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 100
South San Francisco, California 94080
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
(650) 266-6000
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.001 Par Value per Share The NASDAQ Global Market
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) difie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welblwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 @¢barities Act of 1933, as amended. YBS No O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 19%lamended. Yes
O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (¥)filed all reports required to be filed by Secti®or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 188dng the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periottti@registrant was required to file such repoete}l (2) has been subject to such filing requirgmfar the past 90
days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hasngited electronically and posted on its corpokéfeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File reqdito be
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of R&gul&-T during the preceding 12 months (or forhssioorter period that the registrant was requiresitiomit and post
such files). Yes[xl No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is cohtained herein, and will not be contained, toltést of the
registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or infoation statements incorporated by reference inlRart this Form 10-K or any amendment to this fot0-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant srgd accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, aaxoelerated filer, or a smaller reporting comp&ase the definitions
of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filerich“smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of thechange Act.:

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant isedl €ompany (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the ExgfeaAct). Yes [ No

As of June 28, 2013, the last business day of thistrant’s most recently completed second fiscalrtgs, the aggregate market value of voting andvasimg common
equity held by non-affiliates of the registrant veaproximately $322,715,572 (based on a closingmade of $17.46 per share as reported for the NASDAGh&IMarket
on June 28, 2013). For purposes of this calculashares of common stock beneficially owned by #ugstrant’s officers and directors as of June 28,32and shares of
common stock held by persons who held more than dfd#te outstanding common stock of the registramfalune 28, 2013 (based solely upon Schedule ilia@sfmade
with the SEC) have been excluded from this calaetaliecause such persons may be deemed to betedfiliehis determination of executive officer oiileffe status is not
necessarily a conclusive determination for otheppses.

The number of shares of the registrant’'s commockst0.001 par value per share, outstanding aglofuary 28, 2014 was 27,873,761.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the registrant’s definitive Proxy Stagnt relating to its 2014 Annual Meeting of Stocktesk are incorporated by reference into Part Ithaf Form 10-K
where indicated




Table of Contents

PART |
ITEM 1.
ITEM 1A.
ITEM 1B.
ITEM 2.
ITEM 3.
ITEM 4.

PART Il

ITEM 5.

ITEM 6.
ITEM 7.

ITEM 7A.
ITEM 8.
ITEM 9.

ITEM 9A.
ITEM 9B.

PART I

ITEM 10.

ITEM 11.
ITEM 12.

ITEM 13.
ITEM 14,

PART IV

ITEM 15.

Fluidigm Corporation

Fiscal Year 2013
Form 10-K
Annual Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

BUSINESS
RISK FACTORS

UNRESOLVED STAFEF COMMENTS

PROPERTIES

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISCLOSURE

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

OTHER INFORMATION

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND REBTED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEHNDENCE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

BEER
= = |k = o 1=

IR IS
I

I3 19 1
o NN

I3 18 18
© o loo

I8 18
o o

81818
o 1O 1o




Table of Contents

Special Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements anthdustry Data

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statementt tire based on our management'’s beliefs and aisasipnd on information currently available to our
management. The forward-looking statements areagwed principally in the sections entitled “BusisgsRisk factors,” and “Management’s discussiom @malysis of
financial condition and results of operations.” Ward-looking statements include information conaegrour possible or assumed future results of operstbusiness
strategies, financing plans, competitive positiadustry environment, potential growth opportunitiasd the effects of competition. Forward-lookingteients include
statements that are not historical facts and cadeeified by terms such as “anticipates,” “beisy’ “could,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “expects,” “i&nds,” “may,” “plans,”
“potential,” “predicts, “projects,” “should,” “will’ “would,” or similar expressions and the negasivé those terms.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unkneisks, uncertainties, and other factors that neyse our actual results, performance, or achieventere
materially different from any future results, perfance, or achievements expressed or implied bfotineard-looking statements. We discuss these iiskseater detail in
the section entitled “Risk factors” and elsewheréhis Form 10-K. Given these uncertainties, you khoat place undue reliance on these forward-loglstatements.

Forward-looking statements represent our managembeliefs and assumptions only as of the datei®fRtrm 10-K. Except as required by law, we assume no
obligation to update these forward-looking statermentt to update the reasons actual results cofflet diaterially from those anticipated in thesexfard-looking
statements, even if new information becomes availaibthe future. You should read this Form 10-K caetgldy and with the understanding that our actuairutesults may
be materially different from what we expect.

“Access Array,” “BioMark,” “C.,” “CyTOF,” “D3,” “DELTAgene,” “DVS Sciences,” “Dynamic Amy,” “Digital Array,” “EP1,” “FC1,” “FLEXsix,” “Flui digm,” the
Fluidigm logo, “MSL,” “NanoFlex,” “qdPCR,” “SINGULAR,"and “SNPtype” are trademarks or registered tradiesnaf Fluidigm Corporation. Other service marks,
trademarks and trade names referred to in this Adxid are the property of their respective owners.
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

On February 13, 2014, we completed the acquisitiob\d® Sciences, Inc., or DVS, which develops, manuésctonarkets, and sells multi-parameter single-cell
protein analysis systems. The information set forttier this“Business" section relates principally to our busés of manufacturing, marketing, and selling micidftu
systems for single-cell genomics, applied genotygind,sample preparation for targeted resequencirg.ifformation relating to the acquisition of DVS ab¥S's
business, please refer to the subsections entitedent Developments—Acquisition of DVS Sciences$,dnd "—Business of DVS.”

Overview

We develop, manufacture, and market microfluidistesns to academic institutions, clinical laborasriand pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and agurallt
biotechnology (Ag-Bio) companies in growth marksts;h as single-cell genomics, applied genotypind,sample preparation for targeted resequencingpf@prietary
microfluidic systems consist of instruments andstonables, including integrated fluidic circuits@$), assays, and reagents. We actively marketfoznofluidic systems,
including 18 different commercial IFCs, and thramilies of assay chemistries. Our systems are degignsignificantly simplify experimental workflowngrease
throughput, and reduce costs, while providing eecltiata quality. In addition, our proprietary teclogy enables genetic analysis that in many irstswvas previously
impractical. As of December 31, 2013, we had sold@pmately 920 systems to customers in 35 countmeddwide.

To achieve and exploit advances in life sciencearsh, Ag-Bio, pharmaceutical and biotechnology dtexgelopment, and clinical research, laboratoresdrobust
systems that deliver high-throughput and simplerkfilows at decreased costs. Our microfluidic systanesdesigned to overcome many of the limitationsoofventional
laboratory systems by integrating a vast numbdiuafic components on a single microfabricated IBZir technology enables our customers to perfordhna@asure
thousands of sophisticated biochemical reactionsaomples smaller than the content of a single wélile utilizing minute volumes of reagents and skwapOur scalable
systems enable rapid preparation of multiple samiplgarallel for next-generation DNA sequencingwel as the isolation, processing, and gene exjesgsofiling of
individual cells at low cost.

We have successfully commercialized our BioMarlgNBark HD, and EP1 Systems for genetic analysis@iuingle-Cell Auto Prep System for single-cell sample
preparation for targeted gene expression, microRN#yars, mRNA sequencing, and targeted DNA sequeneaimdjjour Access Array System for sample preparation f
targeted next-generation DNA sequencing. Researahérslinicians have successfully employed our petgito help achieve breakthroughs in a varietyedl$, including
single-cell gene expression, gene regulation, gewmatiation, cellular function, and applied genstiThese include using our microfluidic systembketp detect life-
threatening mutations in cancer cells, discovecerassociated biomarkers, analyze the genetic @sitign of individual stem cells, and assess thaityuof agricultural
products, such as seeds or livestock. We believéotess Array System resolves a critical workflowtleoeck that exists in all commercial next-genera®DNA
sequencing platforms and provides fast, simple;dogt preparation of samples for targeted reseduognin addition, our GSingle-Cell Auto Prep System provides an easy
and highly reproducible sample preparation workflemabling rapid exploration of unique attributesmafividual cells without the technical variabilithe costs of manual
workflows. We expect that the versatility of our noftuidic technology will enable us to develop adutial applications across a wide variety of markets.

We have grown our total revenue from $42.9 millior2011 to $71.2 million in 2013. Our product marfas increased from 67% in 2011 to 71% in 2013. Aleh
incurred significant net losses since our inceptinaluding net losses of $16.5 million in 2013.
Our Target Markets

The current markets for our products include lf®sce research, clinical research, and Ag-Bio.

Life Science Research

Our primary area of focus within life science reshascgenetic analysis, the study of genes and taeations. The sum total of the hereditary materiaan organism
is known as its genome, which is commonly organiméd functional units known as genes. Analysis ofat&ons in genomes, genes, and gene activity irbataeen
organisms can provide tremendous insight into the&lth and functioning. There are several formgewfetic analysis in use today, including gene esgion analysis,
genotyping, and DNA sequencing.

Gene expression and genotyping are studied throggimaination of various technology platforms thad@cterize gene function and genetic variatiomsgh
platforms often rely on polymerase chain reactmr?CR, amplification to generate
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exponential copies of a DNA sample to provide sugfitisignal to facilitate detection. Real-time qitative PCR, or real-time qPCR, is a more advarfoed of PCR that
makes it possible to identify the number of comEBNA present in a sample.

The scale of genetic research varies widely. Ateme researchers sometimes examine a limited nuoflgeenetic variations in a relatively small pagion. At the
other end, researchers may perform genome-wideiatisocstudies where hundreds of thousands of plesgenetic variations are examined across thossantens of
thousands of samples. Researchers are rarelyabiscover scientifically relevant information byaenining just a few genetic variations because efitlherent complexity
of biological systems. In contrast, the result @iy genome-wide association studies is simply thetification of a more limited set of genetic véinas that need to be
examined in a larger population. As a result, sofrtae most productive life science research isedmra mid-multiplex scale, where tens or hundrédgpetic variations
are examined in hundreds or thousands of samples.

We target the following specific areas of life sdemesearch, and our products are used for midptextresearch or applications of a similar scale:

Gene Expression Analysis and Genotypifigpically, the process of gene expression inve®le generation of ribonucleic acid copies, or RMAies, of specific
regions of the genome by a process known as tratiscri Such RNA copies are known as messenger RNAsRIMAs. mRNAs may then be translated by the cell into
protein which may affect the activity of the celltbe larger organism. One prevalent form of gerngression analysis measures the levels of mRNA indimidual cell to
determine how the activity of particular genes as & genes affect the cell or the organism.

Genotyping involves the analysis of DNA variationsogsrindividual genomes. There are multiple formgasfants, including single nucleotide polymorphjsm
SNPs, insertion-deletions, and copy number varialocommon application of genotyping focuses onyaiag SNPs. In SNP genotyping studies, statistioalyses are
performed to determine whether a SNP or group of SM@sassociated with a particular genetic traithaagpropensity for a disease.

Our BioMark HD System performs, among other functjdngh-throughput gene expression analysis, inolgidingle-cell targeted gene expression analysis SNP
genotyping, and our EP1 System performs, among fithetions, SNP genotyping. Competing technologesh as pre-formatted arrays, bead arrays, anwaniays, are
limited and inflexible because they require nucks@ sequences on the device to be pre-specifiethithe chip or other consumable is manufacturedohtrast, our
microfluidic systems allow researchers to utilizel @asily tailor their assays to meet their expenimleneeds. We believe our systems also offer meéulicost savings
because they operate on nanoliter volumes of réage samples, which represents a small perceafage amount required by conventional systems.

Single-Cell GenomicsSingle-cell genomics is a rapidly emerging aregemetic research that requires specialized @odstechniques to harvest and process
individual cells with sufficient sensitivity andpeoducibility. Genetic research typically involviee analysis of samples containing thousands ¢f aall many different cell
types. When such samples are studied using tradltgene expression analysis, the results obtaeféztt a rough average of the activity of all leétcells in the sample.
Recently, researchers have demonstrated thatghieach often masks critical differences in gengression levels between different cell types andh éetween individual
cells of the same type. In addition, in the fiedd$n-vitro fertilization and stem cell research, reshars are often required to examine single cellatse the number of ce
available for analysis is inherently limited. Trewpe of this research has often been constraineglibe the small amount of genetic material in glsicell prevents
conventional methods from analyzing the activityrafre than a few genes. Furthermore, large numliesanaples are required to confidently determinehtsterogeneous
signatures of sub-populations of cells and largeaech studies like these can be prohibitively esppe or impractical when performed on conventigiatforms. Single-
cell genomic researchers need to conduct a highbauof tests on a large volume of individual ceNgjch in combination translates into thousandsxpegments that must
be accurate, fast, simple, and low cost.

The integrated workflow and precision of our systemable researchers to perform gene expressionsasaly single cells on a scale that is impractigti
conventional systems due to the cost, experimeatébility, and the large amount of biological sgerequired to initiate the study. We launched GuSingle-Cell Auto
Prep System in June 2012, which applies our techydlm among other things, rapidly and reliablylase, process, and profile individual cells for geric analysis.
Together, our Gand BioMark HD Systems improve single-cell targegede expression analysis by allowing researchegsttact, reverse transcribe, amplify, and
ultimately detect and analyze cell activity usingt@amlined workflow, reducing the variability cadsby multi-platform technical errors.

The high-throughput of our systems allows reseascteeanalyze thousands of cells. For example, éiviBrk HD System can deliver over 46,000 single deta
points in one day and high-throughput configuragiohour system can generate over 110,000 dataspwém day. Providing the combination of high-tlgbput and data
quality necessary for singkeell targeted gene expression analysis presentgisant challenges that we believe most convemtisystems are unable to address in a pra
manner.




Sample Preparation for Next-Generation DNA Sequencithrough a process known as nucleic acid sequeneagarchers are able to determine the partioudkar
of nucleotide bases that comprise all or a pontiba particular genome. For example, in the lastyears, researchers have begun to use next-gemeEAIA sequencers to
rapidly and cost-effectively sequence portionserigmes and identify genetic variations that coteeléth particular characteristics. Next-generafidWA sequencing
technologies have dramatically reduced the cosipanckssing time for genetic sequencing, but tathieed effectively, require large numbers of wrgsamples.

Next-generation DNA sequencing requires new sample prépanmaethodologies, including adding identificatitays to each segment of each individual samptag
to be sequenced. These sample preparation anah¢aggicesses, known as target enrichment, are ceraptérequire precise measurement and manipulafiorinute
quantities of DNA and reagents. Using conventionahds, this preparation and tagging must be doparagely for each individual sample being procesaddborious
process that could take several days or more figpieal validation study. The streamlined workflomdaflexibility of our Access Array System address tivitical workflow
bottleneck by allowing samples from up to 48 indiiats to be prepared and tagged in approximatelytours.

In addition, researchers are increasingly analytiegranscriptome at greater depth to uncover neshamisms of cell development, metabolism, ancadis@sing a
technigue called mRNA sequencing. Most standard ndstfar analyzing the transcriptome, such as micayarand next-generation DNA sequencing, are immador
single-cell analysis because those technologiasnetarge numbers of cells for analysis and asetdan complex workflows that are low-throughput eaidable. The
mRNA sequencing workflow on our {Single-Cell Auto Prep System was specifically optieda for high-throughput single-cell analysis anavjites an easy, end-to-end
workflow for sample preparation of up to 96 singidisfor downstream detailed transcriptome analysispidly study differential transcriptome preflof diverse cell
populations.

Digital PCR. Digital PCR allows researchers to detect nucleid sequences that are present in sample condengdhat are too small to be accurately measuyed b
conventional methods. Digital PCR typically reliessiandard PCR techniques, but increases theiitisegpdy dividing a sample into hundreds or thaunsls of smaller
samples and then performing a PCR assay on eabtsaomple. The ability to count the presence orradesef amplification in this assay format allows ésolute
quantitative measurement capabilities. As a redigttal PCR can perform more precise detectioraoé mutations, or copy number measurements, apaeah to real-time
gPCR.

We were the first to introduce and successfully cemialize a digital PCR system. With our BioMark HBdeEP1 Systems, digital PCR has been used for &&um
of different applications, including absolute qufication, determination of genomic copy numberigton, and detection of rare mutations. We wese #he first to
commercialize a gdPCR system that combines digitdlquantitative real-time PCR to provide real-tenalysis of digital PCR reactions with high leveishroughput and
precision.

Agricultural Biotechnology

Genetic analysis techniques, such as SNP genotygémgptyping by sequencing, and genotyping by iesd-PCR analysis, have become increasingly usefbiBio
applications, including wildlife population studiesyricultural quality control, and commercial génengineering and identification. Ag-Bio customszguire systems that
can quickly and accurately analyze a large numbsamples, such as tissue from livestock populatmmseeds from a production lot, in a cefficient manner. Due to the
demands, commercially viable genetic analysis tooksg-Bio must be inexpensive, easy to use, and &bprovide extremely high-throughput.

The high-throughput, streamlined, and flexible vitank of our systems allows customers to genotype afssamples in less time and cost than with tradal
systems. Our platforms span the breadth of Ag-Bidiegons, from low-to-mid SNP genotyping for par@ge identification and marker-assisted selectionwrEP1 and
BioMark HD Systems, to targeted resequencing for M discovery and validation of our Access Arrggt&m.

Clinical Research

Recent advances in genetic analysis technologinereasingly being used for clinical applicatiomechniques such as SNP genotyping, gene expreasaysis, and
other genetic correlation studies are used to ifyedisease susceptibility and to diagnose, clgssifid monitor disease progression. Researchrrgledimolecular diagnost
tests based on measuring these genetic markergtiepetential to be much more accurate and rahastconventional diagnostics. Validating theseaesh findings and
translating them into clinically available test$enf requires life science automation systems tiegaalle to measure multiple biomarkers efficieimla large number of
patient samples.

Our existing microfluidic systems are able to measartain nucleic acid biomarkers that are commasid in these tests, and in the future, we expettvelop
additional systems to measure other relevant bikensr We believe that the high-throughput, flexipjland simplified workflow of our microfluidic sysms could make
them an attractive solution for




validating and commercializing a wide range of molacdiagnostic tests being developed by reseasclir microfluidic systems have not been clearezbproved by the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, for useity molecular diagnostic tests and we cannot cuyrerdrket them for the purpose of performing molacu
diagnostic tests.

Products

We actively market four microfluidic systems, inding 18 different commercial IFCs, as well as tHegrilies of assay chemistries. Our systems are bars&he or
more IFCs designed for particular applications actlde specialized reagents, instrumentation,sarfiivare. All of our systems include IFC controllégher stand-alone
or embedded) that control the activation of valaed loading of reagents onto the IFC. Each IFCroliat comes with software to control IFC and instent operations for
particular applications. We further provide an esige set of protocols and application notes witlobur systems to support specific scientific ligagions. All of our
systems are designed to be compatible with starldaadatory automation equipment.

Our primary product offerings are summarized intdige below:

Product Product Description Applications

Instruments

BioMark HD System Real-time PCR instrument, bundled analysis softnemd ~ SNP Genotyping, Digital PCR

chip loading platforms and Gene Expression, including
Single-Cell Targeted Gene

Expression
C Single-Cell Auto Prep System Sample preparation system for single-cell genotthias Single-Cell Targeted Gene Expression,
facilitates the isolation and processing of indixatcells Single-Cell microRNA Analysis, Single-

Cell mMRNA Sequencing, and Single-Cell
Targeted DNA Sequencing (currently
available to early access customers)

EP1 System End-point PCR instrument, bundled analysis softwanel ~ SNP Genotyping and Digital
chip loading platforms PCR

Access Array System Sample preparation system for targeted resequetittg ~ Targeted Resequencing with
facilitates parallel amplification of up to 48 angoins acros Next-Generation DNA

48 unique samples Sequencing

Consumables
Dynamic Array IFCs

48.48 Dynamic Array IFC

96.96 Dynamic Array IFC

IFC based on matrix architecture, allowing users to
individually assay 48 samples against 48 reagents,
generating up to 2,304 real-time qPCR reactions
simultaneously

IFC based on matrix architecture, allowing users to
individually assay 96 samples against 96 reagents,
generating up to 9,216 real-time qPCR reactions
simultaneously

Real-time qPCR, SNP

Genotyping and Gene

Expression, including Single-Cell Targeted
Gene Expression

Real-time gPCR, SNP

Genotyping and Gene

Expression, including

Single-Cell Targeted Gene Expression




Product

Product Description

Applications

High Precision 96.96 Genotyping IFC

192.24 Dynamic Array IFC for Genotyping

192.24 Dynamic Array IFC for Gene Expression

FLEXsix Gene Expression IFC

Digital Array IFCs
12.765 Digital Array IFC

48.770 Digital Array IFC

qdPCR 37K IFCs

C . Single-Cell Auto Prep Array IFCs

Access Array IFCs

DELTAgene and SNPtype Assays

Access Array Target-Specific Primers

IFC that enables high sample throughput which edivel more
than 36,000 data points in a day with a minimunhregé of 99.9%,
a level of precision that is vital to productiordamman genomics
laboratories

IFC that allows users to genotype 192 samples agadnassays in a

single run, generating up to 4,608 parallel reastio

IFC that enables high sample throughput of 576 $esracross 24
genes in an 8-hour day

IFC that utilizes a new architecture which incorpesasix 12 X 12
partitions that can be organized in any configoratin up to six
separate experimental runs

IFC based on partitioning architecture, allowingrage divide
samples into up to 765 chambers in each of theah2Ip for up to
9,180 reactions per IFC

IFC based on partitioning architecture, allowingrage divide
samples into up to 770 chambers in each of thea#i@lp for up to
36,960 reactions per IFC

IFC that combines digital and quantitative realdiPCR to provide
real-time analysis of up to 36,960 digital PCR twaxs per IFC with
high-throughput and precision, performing at a 99 9iccess rate,
which is critical in high-sensitivity applicationsuch as rare
mutation detection, GMO testing, and aneuploidy d&tac

IFC that captures and prepares individuals celigémomic
analysis, and uses integrated thermal and pneugtaiicols at
nanoliter scale to enable the performance of efisbf the single-
cell genomic workflow without intervention; desigredmaximize
cell capture efficiency based on cell size (5-26rom); available in
three sizes per application

IFC that facilitates parallel amplification, bardog, and tagging of
48 unique samples and is designed to enable recofeeaction
products from the IFC for sequencing

Custom designed assays for specific nucleic agibns of interest,
providing optimized assays, content, and servicesers of
BioMark Systems at lower costs as compared to atiermercially
available chemistries

Allows for fast, simple and inexpensive preparabdmp to 480
amplicons per sample at a time

SNP Genotyping

SNP Genotyping

Gene Expression

Gene Expression

Digital PCR, Copy Number
Variation and
Mutation Detection

Digital PCR, Copy Number
Variation and
Mutation Detection

Digital PCR, Copy Number
Variation and
Mutation Detection

Sample Preparation for Single-Cell
Targeted Gene Expression, Single-
Cell microRNA Analysis, Single-
Cell mRNA Sequencing, and
Single-Cell Targeted DNA
Sequencing (currently available to
early access customers)

Targeted Resequencing with Next-
Generation DNA Sequencing

Gene Expression, Single-Cell
Targeted Gene Expression, and
SNP Genotyping

Targeted Resequencing with
Next-Generation DNA
Sequencing




The BioMark HD System

Our BioMark HD System performs high-throughput gexgression analysis, single-cell targeted gene asa analysis, SNP genotyping, and digital PCRgisi
Fluidigm DELTAgene and SNPtype assays, other cheigsstand Fluidigm Dynamic Array and Digital Array I15C

The BioMark HD System includes real-time PCR degiemponents that comprise a fast thermal cyclePfR and a fluorescence reader that can detectshés of
reactions over time. Our IFC controllers for the Bark HD System fully automate the setup of Dynamicaérand Digital Array IFCs for real-time qPCR-based
experiments and include software for implementingd tracking experiments. Our BioMark HD reader comsttbe PCR process and detects the fluorescentsigeaerated
using a white light source, emission and excitafilbers, precision lenses, a fast thermal cyclet ardigital camera. We also offer various softwaaekpges that provide
data analysis, annotation, and archival followintadallection. Our analysis software shows data ada-coded map of every position on the IFC, such asraplificatior
curves, and as numeric tabular data.

The C 1 Single-Cell Auto Prep System

Our C;Single-Cell Auto Prep System enables rapid andbigiisolation, processing, and profiling of indival cells for genomic analysis for key applicasipsuch as
single-cell targeted gene expression, single-caiaRNA analysis, single-cell mMRNA analysis, and $@acell targeted DNA sequencing, using ourSingle-Cell Auto Prej
Array IFCs and Greagent kit. Our GSingle-Cell Auto Prep System includes software fhatures pipetting templates, predefined and vaiianethods, and our
SINGULAR Data Analysis Toolset to view and interpsiegle-cell genomic data. Coupled with the BioMark Bistem, the GSingle-Cell Auto Prep System streamlines
genomic analysis to support up to 96 individualscatross 96 transcripts for candidate gene studigsality control of complementary DNA, or cDNA, lésies prior to
mRNA sequencing.

The EP1 System

The EP1 System performs SNP genotyping using FJoidBNPtype assays or TagMan assays, and end-pgitail € CR using TagMan assays, and Fluidigm Dynamic
Array and Digital Array IFCs. Because of its highethghput and focus on SNP genotyping, the EP1 Syistenpreferred choice by our Ag-Bio customers feldf
implementation.

The IFC controllers for the EP1 System fully autterthe setup of IFCs for end-point SNP genotypirdydigital PCR experiments, and include software for
implementing and tracking experiments. Our EP1 neddtects fluorescent signals generated in our iy a light source, emission and excitatiorfdt precision lense
and a digital camera. Our FC1 cycler performs ttastmal cycling for IFCs and enables up to 12 Dymafmray IFCs to be run per day. We also offer vasieaftware
packages that provide data analysis, annotatiahaeshival following data collection. Our analysifta@re shows data as color-coded map of every pasitiothe chip,
cluster maps showing results for every assay, anmdimeric tabular data.

The Access Array System

The Access Array System is used with the Access AR@yto enable automated PCR-based target enrichip@rttoding, and tagging of targeted resequencing
libraries, at a cost of $10 per sample or less. Ateess Array System can be used in conjunction wittBioMark HD System to provide real-time monitoriofy
amplification steps.

The Access Array System is comprised of two IFC aidletrs and a single stand-alone thermal cyclers Bgstem can load Access Array IFCs, amplify andtiag
regions of interest, and recover the sample fadifginto a next-generation DNA sequencer. We prowjtimized barcoding primers, or Access Array Bagcbibraries,
for use with Roche, Life Technologies Corporatioavirpart of Thermo Fisher Scientific), and Illlumiregsencing platforms. When used with the Access Af&y the
barcode library enables the user to pool productsfierent samples, perform amplification of alirsples in parallel, and then sequence the poolegisa as a single
sample. We also offer the D3 Assay Design Serviggduide validated custom primer sets for users.

Technology
Our products are based on a tiered set of relatgutiptary technologies that we have either develaptetnally or licensed from third parties.

Multi-Layer Soft Lithography

Our IFCs are manufactured using a technology knawmuati-layer soft lithography, or MSL technolodysing MSL technology, we are able to create valves,
chambers, channels, and other fluidic componentuorFCs at high density. We combine these compiznia complex arrangements that allow nanoliterties of
fluids or drops to be precisely




manipulated within the IFC. Unlike most prior micuflic technologies, our IFCs do not rely on el@ityi magnetism, or similar approaches to contratfmovement.
Rather, they control fluid flow with valves. The n@sportant components on our IFCs are our Nanofébxes, which are created by the intersectiomof ¢hannels on
adjacent layers. When the valve is open, fluicbige & flow through the lower or “flow” channel. Wh the upper or “control” channel is pressurized,material separating
the two channels is deflected into the lower charotesing the valve and stopping fluid flow. If prassis removed from the control channel, the chisnmgurn to their
original form, and the valve is again open. Thetlmeric properties of microfluidic IFC cores allowr NanoFlex valves to form a reliable seal andecffrough millions
of openings and closings.

The elastomer we currently use for our commerciadipcts is a form of silicone rubber known as patyelhylsiloxane, or PDMS, but we have researched othe
materials with different properties for specific pases. PDMS is transparent, which allows the flurdsthaeir contents to be easily monitored with aetgrof existing
optical technologies, such as bright field, phas@mast, or fluorescence microscopy. The gas pédritityaof PDMS allows the reliable metering of fluidgth near picoliter
precision by eliminating the bubble problems endered by most other microfluidic technologies. ssence, we are able to pump fluids into closed i@achambers at
sufficient pressure to drive any air out of therober directly through the chamber walls. This gasreability also supports maintenance of cellsihaulture conditions.
PDMS offers a favorable environment for many biochafreactions, including PCR and cell culture.

We have developed commercial manufacturing prosgsstabricate valves, channels, vias, and chambighsdimensions in the ten to 100 micron rangéigh
density and with high yields. For research purposeshave created devices with both substantiallylemend larger features. Although our manufactuibased on
standard semiconductor manufacturing technologidsgechniques, we have also developed novel praeésiseold fabrication that enable mass productibhigh density
IFCs with nanoliter volume features. These proceasesufficiently robust such that new microfluidiesigns can often be built using existing fabraratechniques,
allowing for rapid innovation of new IFC designshdut needing manufacturing process or equipmesmgés.

Integrated Fluidic Circuits
Our IFCs incorporate several different types of tetbgy that together enable us to use MSL technyotogapidly design and deploy new microfluidic @pations.

Microfluidic Components The first level of our IFC technology is a libyasf components that perform basic microfluidicdtians. We have proven designs for
numerous elements, such as pumps, mixers, sepacatiomns, control logic, and reaction chamber&sehare readily integrated to create circuits dapafiperforming a
wide range of biochemical reactions. Even wheniieisessary to integrate multiple elements to perfoyparticularly complex reaction, the area takemomia circuit for a
single reaction is small compared to our typicarayl IFC core size of three centimeters by thetimeters. As a result, we are routinely able teti® IFCs that perform
thousands of reactions per square centimeter.

Architectures The second level of our IFC technology comprisesarchitectures we have designed to exploit ollityatm conduct thousands of reactions on a single
IFC. The first of these is the Dynamic Array IFQnatrix architecture that allows multiple differeminsples and multiple different reagents to be loam®d a single IFC ar
then combined so that there is an isolated reabitween each sample and each reagent. The primheamtage of this architecture is that each sammder@agent is only
handled by a pipette once per IFC rather than peceeaction, as is the case with conventional ldgies. For example, a single 96.96 Dynamic Arfa@ tan perform a
total of 9,216 unique reactions between 96 sampld9& reagents with only 192 pipetting steps, coeg&r approximately 18,432 pipetting steps withvesttiional
technologies. In addition, the configuration of tR€ can be changed. For instance, our 192.24 Dynamay IFC for genotyping allows reactions betwe®&@ $amples and
24 assays. Our targeted next-generation DNA sequgseimple preparation architecture allows us to bsinglar benefits to reactions which require exmdrthe reaction
product and more complex (multi-step) reactions.és@mple, our Access Array IFC amplifies 48 genetgions on each of 48 samples and exports eapame sample.
Our Digital Array IFC architecture allows a samplédtosplit into hundreds to hundreds of thousandsibfsamples. Separate reactions can then be deddarc each of the
smaller subsamples. Our cell processor architecture autontaléseeding, culture, combinatorial dosing withltiple reagents, and export for further analysis. &xample
our C;Single-Cell Auto Prep Array IFC enables the captafrmany single cells from a flow stream, as welttesexecution of molecular biology protocols onkeac
individual cell in parallel.

Interface and Handling CarriersThe third level of our IFC technology involvegtimteraction of our IFCs with the actual laboratenyironment. Our IFCs are built
on specially designed input frames that are corbfgatvith most commonly used laboratory systemsyitidlg existing robotic pipetting systems, bar coslders, plate
handling systems, and other equipment. The costagteeric block at the center of our IFC is surrathly the frame, that delivers samples and reageite blocks. The
frames, or carriers, also transmit the pressurecanttol signals from our instruments to the IFC.
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Technological Advancedn our research and development laboratory, we banlt and tested fully functional Digital Array@s capable of performing 200,000
assays, over five-fold more than our 48.770 Dighahy IFC. We also designed an IFC architecturelauill a system to automate laboratory protocols teéquire one or
more column chromatography steps. The IFC can généigh quality sequencing libraries for bactesiadl human DNA samples using a commercially avails@ipiencing
library preparation kit.

Instrumentation and Software

We have developed instrumentation technology td Ezmples and reagents onto our IFCs and to caritcbimonitor reactions within our IFCs. Our line B€I
controllers consists of commercial pneumatic congmds and both custom and commercial electroniosy Bipply precise control of multiple pressures tivenfluid and
control valve states in a microfluidic IFC. Our Biakk HD System consists of a custom fast thermal cyaekaged with a sophisticated fluorescence imagystem. Our
FC1 cycler is a custom thermal cycler capable of vepid cycling: 45 cycles in 30 minutes. Our ER4tiument is a fluorescence reader designed fopemd imaging,
suitable for genotyping and digital PCR applicasioAll of these instruments are designed to beyeagioduced into standard automated lab envirortmen

We have developed specialized software to manageralgze the unusually large amounts of data prediby our systems. Our BioMark HD System’s gene
expression analysis software automatically measndegidual real-time qPCR reactions from fluoresciamages and generates amplification thresholdsimgsvalues,
allowing researchers to readily perform completemradized comparative gene expression analysis sitaoge numbers of samples and assays. SimilartyShP
genotyping analysis software automatically clustiersrescent intensities from individual genotypactions and makes genotype calls across indivathuaimultiple IFC
runs. Our digital PCR analysis software automaticediigulates absolute copy number and copy numbtiesrirom digital PCR experiments. Our melting cuaralysis
software supports genotyping from data collectetherBioMark HD System. More recently, we develop&dnformatic tools for single-cell genomics forrdD; Single-
Cell Auto Prep and BioMark HD Systems, the SINGULAR Amri Toolset, to facilitate the analysis and vigaion of single-cell gene expression data.

Assays Design and Protocols

Our DELTAgene and SNPtype assay products consissaf/atesign and custom content delivery systemgeoe expression and genotyping, respectively. Weue
our assay design and content delivery systemsseptran improvement over conventional pre-defiretefs by allowing customization based on cellulahways or
biological areas of interest while lowering up-freosts of experiments. These offerings provide l@stalternatives to chemistries such as TagManadaa customers to
use IFCs in more flexible ways. By specifying geaeSNP sites of interest and matching them to regpecific primers, customers using our existingtesy's are able to
amplify specific genetic regions of interest atueed cost without sacrificing data quality.

PCR assay reagents need to be specific to thetgegets of interest. Since our systems analyze rgang targets at once, the process of designiagaf assays may
delay the implementation experiments or requireuse of expensive pre-designed assays. To addhissssue, we developed a computational methodafudsturn PCR
assay design. This process allows us to provid@wess with validated assays for their targets afreggt. We have commercialized this service forBiaMark HD, EP1,
and Access Array System customers through our DELTAgerd SNPtype assays and our Access Array TargetfiSpgeaners.

We also provide protocols to guide our customethénuse of our products with commonly availabldenolar biology reagents for the analysis of tispiecific
sample types.

Sales and Marketing

We distribute our microfluidic systems through direct sales force and support organizations lacaté&lorth America, Europe, and Asia-Pacific, anatiyh
distributors or sales agents in several Europeatin lAmerican, Middle Eastern, and Asia-Pacific coiest Our domestic and international sales foréerins our current
and potential customers of current product offegjmgew product introductions, technological advanmeesir microfluidic systems and workflows, and raéaresearch
being performed by our customers or ourselves. Apomary point of contact in the marketplace, sates force focuses on delivering a consistent etk message and
high level of customer service, while also attengptim help us better understand our customers' ndadsf December 31, 2013, we had 97 people emplaysdles, sales
and technical support, and marketing, including&@s representatives and technical pre-salesadipeiocated in the field. We intend to signifitlg expand our sales,
support, and marketing efforts in the future.

Our sales and marketing efforts are targeted atdaty directors and principal investigators atlieg companies and institutions who need relialidedcience
automation solutions for their business or comna¢imirposes. We seek to increase awareness of @dugis among our target customers through regolatact,
participation in tradeshows, customer site




seminars, academic conferences, and dedicated ogrgptherings attended by prominent users and potise customers from various institutions.

Our systems are relatively new to the market pladeraquire a capital investment. As a result, ousptocess often involves numerous interactions and
demonstrations with multiple people within an orgation. Some potential customers conduct in-depdfuations of the system including running experitsen our
system and competing systems. In addition, in rooshtries, sales to academic or governmental untigtits require participation in a tender processlving preparation of
extensive documentation and a lengthy review prodess result of these factors and the budget cyaflesir customers, our sales cycle, the time froitieil contact with a
customer to our receipt of a purchase order, candfe 12 months or longer.

Single-Cell Genomics Collaborations

In May 2012, in collaboration with the Broad Inst&pwe announced the launch of the Single-Cell Gér®imitiative, or SCGi, a new research center deditto
accelerating the development of research methadiglianoveries in mammalian single-cell genomicse BEGi facilitates collaborative development by kirgell
genomics researchers of novel single-cell, micidituapproaches for gene expression profiling, RNAAD$¢quencing, and epigenetic analysis, and to dp\aid
disseminate new application workflows, reagentsnfdomatics tools, and data sets to the greatensific community. The SCGi is located at the Brdmstitute in
Cambridge, Massachusetts, and features a compliéteo$ our single-cell tools, protocols, and tealogies, most notably the BioMark HD System.

In December 2012, in collaboration with the Genoméitlrte of Singapore, or GIS, an institute underuh®rella of the Agency for Science, Technology and
Research, we announced the establishment of théeSal ‘Omics Center, or SCOC, the first research centAsia exclusively dedicated to accelerating the wstdeding
of how individual cells work, and how diagnosis @rehtment might be enhanced through insight derfr@d single cells. The SCOC provides integratedydica for
single-cell genomic applications to the regiontsgie-cell genomics researchers. The SCOC is lodateddicated laboratory space at GIS facilitieBiopolis, Singapore,
and features the full capabilities of our Single-Cell Auto Prep and BioMark HD Systems for siagéll targeted gene expression analytics and atidial.

Customers

We have sold our €Single-Cell Auto Prep, BioMark, BioMark HD, EP1, aAdcess Array Systems to leading academic institatiotinical laboratories, and
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and Ag-Bio companfesof December 31, 2013, we had sold approximatelysyatems to customers in 35 countries. No singieoauer
represented more than 10% of our total revenug2@aB, 2012, or 2011.

Manufacturing

Our microfluidic systems and instrumentation for coencial sale, as well as for internal researchdmsatlopment purposes, are manufactured at ouitiesiin
Singapore. We also manufacture IFCs for researdtdaaelopment and our assay chemistries at oumgueatetrs in South San Francisco, California.

We established our primary manufacturing facilitySingapore to take advantage of the skilled woddpsupplier and partner network, lower operatingsc@nd
government support available there. Our microflugistem manufacturing process includes photolidyolgy and fabrication technologies that are venyjlaimo those used
in the fabrication of semiconductor chips. As a ltiesee are able to hire from a pool of skilled maweo created by the existing semiconductor industigingapore.
Similarly, the Singapore semiconductor industry tr@sted a broad network of potential suppliersgarthers for our manufacturing operations. We hte # locally
source a large proportion of the raw materials megiin our processes and have been able to coflsbwith local engineering companies to develop mgkechnologies
chip fabrication.

Our manufacturing operations in Singapore have bapported by grants from the Singapore Economic@ment Board, or EDB, which provides incentivargr
payments for research, development and manufagtadtivity in Singapore. Our arrangements with EBBuire us to maintain manufacturing and researdh an
development presence in Singapore.

The leases for our current manufacturing facilitysingapore will terminate on September 30, 201400twber 14, 2013, Fluidigm Singapore Pte. LtdFlaidigm
Singapore, our wholly-owned subsidiary, acceptedféar of tenancy relating to the lease of a new ufiacturing facility in Singapore, which expires amé 1, 2022. We
expect to consolidate our manufacturing operatinriee new space in the third quarter of 2014. Weeekthat our existing manufacturing capacity, anticipated
manufacturing capacity under the new lease, forunstntation and IFCs is sufficient to meet our setdeast through 2016 and, with anticipated nicatibns for
additional capacity, through 2018.




We rely on a limited number of suppliers for certeaomponents and materials used in our productdeWie are in the process of qualifying additiomalices of
supply, we cannot predict how long that qualificatprocess will last. If we were to lose one or mdrew limited source suppliers, it would take sigeaht time and effort
to qualify alternative suppliers. Key componentsim products that are supplied by sole or limgedrce suppliers include a specialized polymerathdr specialized
materials from which our IFC cores are fabricagabcialized custom camera lenses, fiber light gyided other components required for the readeuoBioMark System,
specialized pneumatic and electronic componentedoC, Single-Cell Auto Prep System, and certain raw mdtefta our DELTAgene and SNPtype assays and Access
Array Target-Specific primers. With respect to mafypur suppliers, we are neither a major customardo we have long term supply contracts. Theselsuppnay
therefore give other customers’ needs higher gyidhian ours, and we may not be able to obtain aatecgupply in a timely manner or on commercialgs@nable terms.

Research and Development

We have assembled experienced research and devalopgams at our South San Francisco, Califormid,Singapore locations with the scientific, engrires
software, bioinformatic, and process talent thabe#eve is required to grow our business.

New Product and Application Development
The largest component of our current research amdldpment effort is in the areas of new productsreew applications.

Cell Culture SystemWith the support of a grant from the Californiestitute of Regenerative Medicine, or CIRM, in @yeegate amount of $750,000, we have
developed a prototype microfluidic cell culture teys that enables researchers to independentlyatdhé conditions for multiple cell cultures, allimg sequential dosing of
a variety of factors and then extraction of théscr further analysis. In 2011, CIRM awarded ushveih additional $1.9 million grant over three ydarfurther advance
research in this area and to deliver useable pyaéstto a limited number of stem cell researchratiooies.

Assay and Reagent Developmetite intend to enhance our SNPtype genotyping asBdBISTAgene gene expression assays, and Access RametSpecific primel
sets with improved performance and features. Footgping, we plan to improve our SNPtype bioinforraatipelines to support additional types of mutagidmprove
assay design rates for difficult areas of the gemand offer it in additional formats. For generession, we intend to lower sample preparation reageith lower costs
and to increase the multiplexing to enable analyklarger sets of genes. We currently support muggor third party commercial sequencing platforars] we plan to
provide reagents necessary to support Access ArrefF8&pecific primer sets for new major platformsheey are developed. In 2013, we introduced the Dsap®esign
Service to provide customers with automated subamisand feedback tools to improve the design adsaign experience.

Integrated Fluidic Circuit and Instrument Architeots. We intend to develop additional products to gthan the capabilities of our existing Dynamic ArrAgcess
Array, and G Single-Cell Auto Prep Array IFC product familieseWtend to design IFC architectures that are rflexible and cost effective for researchers with kena
numbers of assays or smaller numbers of samplegl&¥eto evaluate next-generation instrument aechires supporting these new IFC formats with aitalytapability
and other features. We are developing addition@kIfor use with our €Single-Cell Auto Prep System that are expected ptuce a larger numbers of cells and further
integrate traditional cell biology methods with neod genomic analysis.

Single-Cell Genomics Applicationsn late 2012, we launched our mRNA sequencing wovkflehich is specifically optimized for high-throughgmingle<cell analysi:
and enables larger scale, transcriptome-wide stuttidate 2013, we announced our universal sanrelegpation workflow for single-cell DNA sequencingtthans on our
C.Single-Cell Auto Prep System, which is currentlyikalde to early access customers. We also introdloce SINGULAR Analysis Toolset for analyzing and vigiag
single-cell gene expression data in 2013.

We intend to expand the menu of single-cell apfibcs available on our €SingleCell Auto Prep System to include additional RNA ardAanalysis methods anc
new protein analysis protocol. We are also devetppene expression reference data sets of indivitkli from diverse cell populations, which we intéadnake available
to the broader scientific community and use to suppew user training, develop new analysis toafg| assist in the establishment of applicable tustandards.

Process Devel opment

The second component of our research and develdpeffert is process development. We continuouskettsp new manufacturing processes and test metoadisve
down manufacturing cost, increase manufacturingutihput, widen fabrication process capability, angport new microfluidic devices and designs. Ootgiype
fabrication facility at our
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Singapore manufacturer fabricates prototype IFCkimgrclosely with product development teams in Scah Francisco, California. This process developrgam’s
focus is to improve fabrication processes for tradpction line. We invest in manufacturing autoratiprocess changes, and design modifications wigtbrically have
significantly improved yields and lowered the mamtifizing costs of our IFCs.

Our research and development expenses were $20i0nn$lL6.6 million, and $13.9 million in 2013, 2QEhd 2011, respectively. As of December 31, 2013f our
employees were engaged in research and develo@ttrities.

Competition

We compete with both established and developmegedife science companies that design, manufaanemarket instruments for gene expression aisalys
genotyping, other nucleic acid detection, and &l applications. For example, companies suchffysnetrix, Inc., Agilent Technologies, Inc., BiBad Laboratories, Inc
lllumina, Inc., Life Technologies Corporation (nowrpof Thermo Fisher Scientific), LGC Limited, Lumeix Corporation, NanoString Technologies, Inc., Pétkner, Inc.
(through its acquisition of Caliper Life Scienchs;.), RainDance Technologies, Inc., Roche Appliei@i®® (a division of Roche Diagnostics Corporati@®guenom, Inc.,
Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., and WaferGen Bio8yss, Inc. have products that compete in certagmsats of the market in which we sell our productsaddition, a
number of other companies and academic groupsidhe iprocess of developing novel technologiedifiescience markets.

The life science automation industry is highly cetifive and expected to grow more competitive whith increasing knowledge gained from ongoing re$eancl
development. Many of our competitors are eitheiiplybtraded or are divisions of publicly tradednepanies and enjoy several competitive advantagesusy including:

. significantly greater name recogniti

. greater financial and human resour

. broader product lines and product packe

. larger sales forces and eCommerce char

. larger and more geographically dispersed custoomgyt organizatiol
. substantial intellectual property portfoli

. larger and more established customer bases aritnslaips

. greater resources dedicated to marketing ef

. better established and larger scale manufactuapglality; an

. greater resources and longer experience in resaartdevelopmer

We believe that the principal competitive factarour target markets include:

. cost of capital equipment and suppl

. reputation among custome

. innovation in product offering

. flexibility and ease of us

. accuracy and reproducibility of results;

. compatibility with existing laboratory processemls, and methoc

To successfully compete with existing products andre technologies, we need to demonstrate to patenstomers that the cost savings and performahoar
technologies and products, as well as our custoopgcst capabilities, are superior to those of @mmpetitors. The regular introduction of new andowattive offerings is
necessary to continue to differentiate our comgemy other, larger enterprises. Additionally, a Methffed commercial team “in the field” is requdrto successfully
communicate the advantages of our products anaorer potential obstacles to acceptance of our ptedln addition, ongoing collaborations and pagh#s with key
opinion leaders in the genetics fields are desirédbldemonstrate both innovation and applicabdftgur products. These relationships create thd fereretention of a large
and talented specialized staff, and occasionatjyire the placement of products or supplies onmpteary basis at a customer facility to demonstagfgicability of our toc
to a specific scientific application.

Intellectual Property

Strategy and Position

Our core technology originated at the Californiditoge of Technology, or Caltech, in the laboratofyProfessor Stephen Quake, who is a co-foundetuadigm.
Dr. Quake, his students, and their collaboratorageoed the application of MSL technology in thédfief microfluidics. In particular, Dr. Quake’s latatory developed
technologies that enabled the
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production of specialized valves and pumps capaibtentrolling fluid flow at nanoliter volumes. bnseries of transactions, we exclusively licensehfCaltech the
relevant patent filings relating to these developteeWe have also entered into additional excluaiveé non-exclusive licenses for related technokfjiem various
companies and academic institutions.

Our patent strategy is to seek broad patent proteci new developments in microfluidic technology &émen later file patent applications covering new
implementations of the technology and new microftuarcuit architectures utilizing the technolodys these technologies are implemented and testefilenew patent
applications covering scientific methodology endtidy our technology. Additionally, where approprjate file new patent applications covering instruraéoh and
software that are used in conjunction with our nflaidic systems.

We have developed our own portfolio of issued patand patent applications directed to commerceiadycts and technologies in development. Our paotibvers
methods and devices for isolating, culturing, analyzing single cells; technologies for processing preparing DNA samples for next-generation DNA segug; high-
density and reusable IFCs for performing genotypind measuring gene expression with massive muligeand techniques for using these IFCs; andcéstsal
instrumentation and software for controlling anddiag our IFCs and analyzing the data obtained fiteem.

As of December 30, 2013, we owned or licensed ovempa®nts and we had approximately 200 pending patgiications worldwide. Our patents have expiration
dates ranging from 2018 to 2031. The U.S. issuéehpswe have licensed from Caltech expire betw@ai 2nd 2030.

The patent positions of companies like ours aregaly uncertain and involve complex legal anddatuestions. Our patents may not enable us tanobtkeep an
competitive advantage. Our pending U.S. and forpaent applications may not issue as patents ormogigsue in a form that will be advantageous tcAmy patents we
have obtained or do obtain may be challenged lBxesnination, opposition, or other administrativeqareding, or may be challenged in litigation, amchschallenges could
result in a determination that the patent is irzdin addition, competitors may be able to desiggrmative methods or devices that avoid infringatref our patents. To the
extent our intellectual property protection offeradequate protection, or is found to be invalig,ave exposed to a greater risk of direct compaititif our intellectual
property does not provide adequate protection agaur competitors’ products, our competitive posittould be adversely affected, as could our lssinBoth the patent
application process and the process of managirenpdisputes can be time consuming and expensivéhdfmore, the laws of some foreign countries matypnotect our
intellectual property rights to the same extend@she laws of the United States.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technolagg have taken steps to protect our intellectual gntypand proprietary technology by entering intafadentiality
agreements and intellectual property assignmemeagents with our employees, consultants, corpoeateqrs, and, when needed, our advisors. Such agréemay not b
enforceable or may not provide meaningful protecfar our trade secrets or other proprietary infation in the event of unauthorized use or disclesurother breaches of
the agreements, and we may not be able to prevehtswauthorized disclosure. Monitoring unauthoridestlosure is difficult, and we do not know whetties steps we
have taken to prevent such disclosure are, or wjledequate.

Our commercial success may depend in part on ouinfdngement of the patents or proprietary rightshird parties. Third parties have asserted any assert in th
future that we are employing their proprietary tealbgy without authorization. Competitors may as#ieat our products infringe their intellectual peoty rights as part of a
business strategy to impede our successful entiimse markets. In addition, our competitors etiérs may have patents or may in the future olptaiants and claim th
use of our products infringes these patents. Wéddaour substantial costs and divert the attentibaur management and technical personnel in déigragainst any of
these claims. Parties making claims against usbeable to obtain injunctive or other relief, whibuld block our ability to develop, commercialiaed sell products, and
could result in the award of substantial damageiagas. In the event of a successful claim ofiigfement against us, we may be required to pay desregd obtain one
more licenses from third parties, or be prohibitedn selling certain products. We may not be ablelitain these licenses at a reasonable costaif. at

License Agreements
We have entered into several significant exclusieeexclusive, and non-exclusive licenses to patantl patent applications owned by various acadestitutions,
and have additional intellectual property agrees@ith a range of institutions and companies.

Our license agreement with Caltech provides us witexalusive, worldwide license to certain patents ratated intellectual property, as well as the righprosecute
licensed patent filings worldwide at our expense tanditiate any infringement proceedings. Calteetains the right to use the licensed materials\émcommercial
educational and research purposes, as well asgtg riecessary to comply with the statutory righthe U.S. government. We have issued shares of@uamon stock to
Caltech and we agreed to pay to Caltech royaltisedan sales revenue of licensed products on a
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country-by-country basis with a minimum annual oyalhe license agreement will terminate as to eamintry and licensed product upon expiration efltst-to-expire
patent covering licensed products in each country.

Our license agreements with Harvard University alloblisenses (i) provided we can demonstrate thatawe fadded significant value to the patent rightseto
sublicensed and that such sublicense also cordanbstantial and essentially simultaneous licem#®gellectual property owned by us, or (ii) whaurch patent rights are
necessary to practice other Harvard University patghts exclusively licensed to us which are alemp licensed. We have issued shares of our constogk to Harvard
and we agreed to pay to Harvard royalties basedles savenue of licensed products on a country-hytrg basis with a minimum annual royalty. Harvardeisponsible
for filing and maintaining all licensed patentst ke must reimburse Harvard for our share of itsteelpatent prosecution expenses. We have thetagitbsecute any
infringement of our licensed patent rights. Thetise agreement will terminate with the last-to-expirthe licensed patents.

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation emetred into a series of patent cross-license aindisense agreements with Life Technologies Coramgnow part
of Thermo Fisher Scientific) and its Applied Biosyms, LLC subsidiary, referred to as Life, relattograrious patent rights of the two companies.c8pally, the
agreements involve a cross-license concerningroaging readers and other patent filings and cedflrife’s patent families relating to methods anstruments for
conducting nucleic acid amplification, such as VRBR; a sub-license that provides us access tarceftaife’s digital PCR patents; and a subliceitsat provides Life
access to certain of our non-core technology pstérensed from Caltech. The agreements provideddous royalty payments by each of the partiedpiding a royalty on
certain Life instruments. In July 2011, pursuantht® terms of the agreements, we paid Life $2.Gonilin connection with our exercise of an optiorpteclude Life from
initiating litigation under its patents existing @sJune 30, 2011 against our customer’s for twas/aad against our company, with respect to oueatiproducts and
equivalent future products, for four years, subjeatertain exceptions. Pursuant to the termspzftant cross license agreement, we are obligatedhke a $1.0 million
payment to Life upon satisfaction of certain coiodis. We do not believe that the conditions trigngthe payment obligation have been met; howeseQctober 16, 2013,
Life provided notice that the $1.0 million paymeves due and payable under the license agreemerdcivieed a loss contingency of $1.0 million on Seyter 30, 2013
and on January 30, 2014, we paid Life the amouetvehile reserving our rights with respect to suchtenaAmong other reasons, we made the payment tid awat woulc
have been, in our view, an improper terminatioowflicense to certain Life patent filings undee #igreement, which could have subjected our relgyraxiuct lines to risk
associated with patent infringement litigation.

In May 2011, we entered into a license agreemettt @aliper Life Sciences, Inc., which subsequendlgame a PerkinElmer company, referred to as Calipdicenst
Caliper’s existing patent portfolio in certain fis| including non-invasive prenatal diagnosticsl abtained an option to extend the license to cadeitional fields. Under
the agreement, we made an up-front payment of &@li&n, which is subject to adjustment, and wilMearoyalty obligations commencing in January 20@2August 2011,
we entered into an amendment to the agreement waifpef and made an additional up-front payment@56$nillion. Pursuant to the amendment, the ratesdyalties
payable to Caliper were substantially reduced aagériod for which we are obligated to make roypllyments was shortened, with the last payment doedf2018 for
our existing products at the time of amendmentthed future equivalents. If any of our future poots are determined to infringe Calipepatents, the same reduced roy
rates will apply until the respective patents expire

Government Regulation

Pursuant to its authority under the Federal Foodgand Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, the FDA has jurisdicttmer medical devices, which are defined to inclaeon
other things, in vitro diagnostic products, or IVised for clinical purposes. Our products are culydaibeled and sold for research purposes only vemdell them to
academic institutions, life sciences and cliniedldratories that conduct research, and pharmaaeatid biotechnology companies for ndiagnostic purposes. Our prodt
are not intended for use in clinical practice ia thagnosis of disease or other conditions, ang dne labeled for research use only. Accordindlgytare subject only to
limited, specific regulation with respect to lalnglias IVD medical devices by the FDA. In particularjlesRDA regulations require that research use onbgpcts be
labeled, “For Research Use Only. Not for use in miiegic procedures,” or RUO products, the regulatimsot subject such products to the FDA'’s broader gnd post-
market controls for medical devices. In Novembet2ahe FDA issued a final guidance document intdridelarify the types of in vitro diagnostic prads that are
properly labeled “for research use only.” The gamastates that merely including a labeling statdrtteat the product is for research purposes onllynat necessarily
render the device exempt from the FDA's clearaapgroval, or other regulatory requirements if thiewnstances surrounding the distribution of thedpict indicate that
the manufacturer knows its product is being usedusgomers for diagnostic uses. These circumstanagsnclude, among other things, written or verbatketing claims
regarding a product’s performance in clinical apgtions and a manufacturer’s provision of techrscgiport for such activities. In the future, certaf our products or
related applications could become subject to reigmas medical devices by the FDA.
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For example, if we wish to label and market ourduiets for use in performing clinical diagnostidayg subjecting them to regulation by the FDA undenyarket and
postmarket control as medical devices, unless amption applies, we would be required to obtainegifirior 510(k) clearance or prior pre-market apptdrom the FDA
before commercializing the product. The FDA classifigedical devices into one of three classes. Dedeemed to pose lower risk to the patient are pglateither class |
or Il, which, unless an exemption applies, requihesmanufacturer to submit a pre-market notifiaatiequesting FDA clearance for commercial distritrugpursuant to
Section 510(k) of the FFDCA. This process, known®3() clearance, requires that the manufacturerothstrate that the device is substantially equivtaiem previously
cleared and legally marketed 510(k) device or @-gamendment” class Il device for which pre-markgtraval applications, or PMAs, have not been reguingthe FDA.
This process typically takes from four to twelventits, although it can take longer. Most class licks/are exempted from this 510(k) premarket susionisrequirement.
Devices deemed by the FDA to pose the greatest tisk, &s life-sustaining, life-supporting, or implaioie devices, or those deemed not substantiallivalgat to a legally
marketed predicate device, are placed in clas€ldss |1l devices typically require PMA approvab dbtain PMA approval, an applicant must demonstieeaeasonable
safety and effectiveness of the device based,rin ga data obtained in clinical studies. PMA revigyeserally last between one and two years, alththieyncan take longe
Both the 510(k) and the PMA processes can be expeasd lengthy and may not result in clearanceppraval. If we are required to submit our productsgre-market
review by the FDA, we may be required to delay mankgtihile we obtain premarket clearance or approweahfthe FDA. There would be no assurance that we eaudd
obtain such clearance or approval.

Changes to a device that have received PMA apptgpdally require a new PMA or PMA supplement. Chantgea device that received 510(K) clearance which
could significantly affect its safety or effectivess, or that would constitute a major change imtended use, require a new 510(k) clearance ailplgMA approval. The
FDA requires each manufacturer to make this detextiain initially, but the FDA can review any of thefecisions and may disagree. If the FDA disagreed auith
determination not to seek a new 510(k) clearanca firange to a previously marketed product, the EBWAd require us to seek a new 510(k) clearanceesmarket
approval. The FDA also could require us to cease faaturing and/or recall the modified device until0gk) clearance or pre-market approval was obtaiAksh, in these
circumstances, we could be subject to warningrigtedverse publicity, significant regulatory firespenalties, seizure or injunctive action, ongnal prosecution.

In some cases, our customers or collaborators s@yur RUO products in their own laboratory-devetbigsts, or LDTs, or in other FDA-regulated proddots
clinical diagnostic use. The FDA has historically miged enforcement discretion in not enforcingrfedical device regulations against LDTs. HoweverRbé could
assert jurisdiction over some or all LDTs, which nmapact our customersises of our products or the sale of our product& BB uses. A significant change in the way t
the FDA regulates our products or the LDTs that ostamers develop may require us to change our basimedel in order to maintain compliance with tHeses. The
FDA held a meeting in July 2010, during which it icaied that it intends to reconsider its policy mfoecement discretion and to begin drafting a neersight framework
for LDTs.

If our products become subject to regulation aedioal device, we would become subject to additiéiizA requirements, and we could be subject to unanrezlinc
inspections by the FDA and other governmental auibsriwhich could increase our costs of doing bissin8pecifically, manufacturers of medical devivest comply
with various requirements of the FFDCA and its impdating regulations, including:

. the Quality System Regulation, which covers théhmes and documentation of the design, testingrehmanufacturing, labeling, quality assurance,
packaging, storage, and shipping of our product;

. labeling regulation:

. medical device reporting, or MDR, regulatic

. correction and removal regulations;

. postmarket surveillance regulations, which includeniegbns on marketing and promotit

We would need to continue to invest significant tiamel other resources to ensure ongoing compliaitbeRBDA quality system regulations and other postkagr
regulatory requirements. Although we are continumgualuate these issues in light of the new guidameecurrently do not have any specific plans &ksegulatory
approvals.

Our failure to comply with applicable FDA regulatogquirements, or our failure to timely and adeqyatespond to inspectional observations, could tésul
enforcement action by the FDA, which may includeftil®wing sanctions:

. fines, injunctions, and civil penaltit

. recall or seizure or our produc
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. operating restrictions, partial suspension, orl ttatdown of productio

. delays in clearance or approval, or failure to wbépproval or clearance of future product candigatr product modificatior
. restrictions on labeling and promoti

. adverse publicity, warning letters, fines, or injtions

. withdrawal of previously granted clearances or apgisypant

. criminal prosecutiol

International sales of medical devices are sultgeftireign government regulations, which vary sufisaly from country to country. The primary regidey
environment in Europe is that of the European UniorEU, which includes most of the major countrie&€urope. Currently, 28 countries make up the Elle®tountries,
such as Switzerland, have voluntarily adopted lawgsragulations that mirror those of the EU with extgo medical devices. The EU has adopted numelioestives and
standards regulating the design, manufacture celittiials, labeling, and adverse event reportargriedical devices. Devices that comply with theunegments of a relevant
directive will be entitled to bear the CE conformityarking, indicating that the device conforms te éissential requirements of the applicable direstand, accordingly, c.
be commercially distributed throughout Europe. @iat®f the EU, regulatory approval needs to be Bbag a country-by-country basis in order to marketlical devices.
Although there is a trend towards harmonization @fligqsystem standards, regulations in each country vary substantially which can affect timelimésntroduction.
Additionally, we understand that RUO products, sucbuas, are not currently subject to regulation aslical devices in the EU or by agencies comparabiee FDA in
other countries.

Property and Environmental Matters

We lease approximately 48,000 square feet of offivek laboratory space at our headquarters in SsanhH-rancisco, California under a lease that exirépril 2020.
The leases for approximately 28,000 square fertasfufacturing and office space at our currentitgdih Singapore will terminate on September 30,204dditionally, we
have entered into a lease for a new manufactuaaijtiy in Singapore, which expires on June 1, 26281 we expect to consolidate our manufacturingadjoas in the new
space in the third quarter of 2014. As of Decenigr2013, we also leased office space in JapanaChind France, with various expiration dates thrddgich 2016. We
believe that our existing office, laboratory andnmfacturing space, together with additional spawkfacilities under our new Singapore lease andratise available on
commercially reasonable terms, will be sufficientrteet our needs through 2016.

Our research and development and manufacturing ggesenvolve the controlled use of hazardous naserncluding flammables, toxics, corrosives, aialogics.
Our research and manufacturing operations produzgrdiaus biological and chemical waste productss@ék to comply with applicable laws regarding thedliag and
disposal of such materials. Given the small volufnguch materials used or generated at our faa|itiee do not expect our compliance efforts to hanemterial effect on
our capital expenditures, earnings, and competfingtion. However, we cannot eliminate the riskafidental contamination or discharge and any rastlbjury from
these materials. We do not currently maintain spagnvironmental liability coverage and any sumhtamination or discharge could result in significeost to us in
penalties, damages, and suspension of our opesation

Geographic Information

During the last three years, a majority of our rexewas generated within the United States and Eumpa anajority of our long-lived assets are locatétiin the
United States and Singapore. Product revenue ret&we customers outside the United States tota®&dmillion, or 48% of our total product reveniure2013, compare
to $24.2 million, or 47% of our total product rewenin 2012, and $18.9 million, or 47% of our tqiedduct revenue, in 2011. Please see Note 14 ofdtes to our audited
consolidated financial statements for addition&drimation for geographic areas.
Seasonality

In 2010, 2011, and 2012, our product revenue wdsehim the fourth quarter of the year than in tingt fiuarter of the next year reflecting numeractdrs, including,
among others, seasonal variations in customer tpesaand customer budget and capital spendingsycl
Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 325 employees, oftwiiovork in research and development, 59 work iregd and administrative, 98 work in manufacturiagg
97 work in sales, sales and technical supportnaadketing. None of our employees are representedialyor union or are the subject of a collectiveghming agreement.
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Corporate and Available Information

We were incorporated in California in May 1999 asdélyetrix Corporation, changed our name to Fluid@aonporation in April 2001, and reincorporated in &ere
in July 2007. Our principal executive offices aredted at 7000 Shoreline Court, Suite 100, SouthF8ancisco, California 94080. Our telephone nunib¢850) 266-6000.
Our website address is www.fluidigm.com. We make abél on our website, free of charge, our Annual Repo Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Qufrre
Reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to thgeetse as soon as reasonably practicable aftedeegenically file such material with, or furnishto, the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or SEC. Our SEC reports cacdessed through the investor relations page ofvebsite located at http://investors.fluidigm.com/sém.
Additionally, a copy of this Annual Report on Form-KQ@s located at the SEC’s Public Reference RoodDatF Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Infornratia the
operation of the Public Reference Room can be nédbby calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

We webcast our earnings calls and certain evengsaniipate in or host with members of the investhoammunity on our investor relations page of oebusite.
Corporate governance information, including ourrdazmmittee charters, code of ethics, and corpayavernance principles, is also available on uestor relations pa
of our website located at http://investors.fluidignm/governance.cfm. The contents of our websit@maréncorporated by reference into this Annual Repo Form 10-K
or in any other report or document we file with 8eC, and any references to our website are intetodee inactive textual references only.

Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the names, age®{&®ebruary 28, 2014) and positions of our exeeutifficers:

Name Age Position

Gajus V. Worthington 44 President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director

Vikram Jog 57 Chief Financial Officer

Robert C. Jones 59 Executive Vice President, Research and Development

William M. Smith 62 Executive Vice President, Legal Affairs, General Gaipand Secretary

Fredric Walder 56 Chief Operating Officer

Mai Chan (Grace) Yow 55 Executive Vice President, Worldwide Manufacturing &ahaging Director of Fluidigm Singapore
Pte. Ltd.

Gajus V. Worthingtois a co-founder of Fluidigm and has served as oesiBent, Chief Executive Officer and a directocsiour inception in June 1999. From May
1994 to April 1999, Mr. Worthington held variousfé@nd management positions at Actel Corporatigmylalic semiconductor corporation that was sold tervBemi
Corporation in 2010. Mr. Worthington received a BrSPhysics and an M.S. in Electrical Engineeffrogn Stanford University.

Vikram Joghas served as our Chief Financial Officer since fatyr2008. From April 2005 to February 2008, Mr. 3egved as Chief Financial Officer for XDx, Inc.,
a molecular diagnostics company. From March 2008pal 2005, Mr. Jog was a Vice President of Applegdration, a life science company that is now pafthermo
Fisher Scientific, and Vice President of Financeitorelated businesses, Celera Genomics and (eiagnostics. From April 2001 to March 2003, Mr. Joasw/ice
President of Finance for Celera Diagnostics and @atp Controller of Applera Corporation. Mr. Joga®wed a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Delhi Usit)yeand an
M.B.A. from Temple University. Mr. Jog is a membéitlre American Institute of Certified Public Accounta

Robert C. Jonebas served as our Executive Vice President, ResaattBevelopment since August 2005. From August 1884ily 2005, Mr. Jones held various
managerial and research and development positiohgplied Biosystems, a laboratory equipment ancbep manufacturer that was a division of Applem@ration,
including: Senior Vice President Research and Dg@weént from April 2001 to August 2005; Vice Presidemd &eneral Manager Informatics Division from 1992081;
and Vice President PCR Business Unit from 1994 88181r. Jones received a BSEE in Electrical Engingeand an MSEE in Computer Engineering from timiversity
of Washington.

William M. Smithhas served as our Executive Vice President, Lefaira since February 2012, and as General Coumskbar Secretary since May 2000. From May
2000 to February 2012, Mr. Smith served as our Yiesident, Legal Affairs and served as a direfcton May 2000 to April 2008. Mr. Smith served asassociate and
then as a partner at the law firm of Townsend and Fewd and Crew, LLP from 1985 through April 2008. Bmith received a J.D. and an M.P.A. from the Unineisf
Southern California and a B.A. in Biology from thaitdersity of California, San Diego.
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Fredric Walderhas served as our Chief Operating Officer since Deee2®12. From May 2010 to December 2012, Mr. Wadgeved as our Chief Business Officer.
From August 1992 to April 2010, he served in varisesior executive positions at Thermo Fisher Sdiené laboratory equipment and supplies manufaetuncluding as
Senior Vice President, Customer Excellence from Nudyer 2006 to April 2010, and Division President, TheiElectron Corporation from January 2000 to Noven2i086.
Mr. Walder holds a B.S. in Chemistry from the Unsigr of Massachusetts.

Mai Chan (Grace) Yowas served as Executive Vice President, Worldwidadfiacturing of Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd., ourgapore subsidiary, since February
2012, and as Managing Director of Fluidigm Singapete= Ltd. since March 2006. Ms. Yow served as Viesigfent, Worldwide Manufacturing, from March 2006 t
January 2012. From June 2005 to March 2006, Ms. 8&wed as General Manager of Fluidigm Singaporelile From August 2004 to May 2005, Ms. Yow served as
Vice President Engineering (Asia) for Kulicke andf8pé public semiconductor equipment manufactuesm March 1991 to July 2004, Ms. Yow served as Dirgc
Assembly Operations, Plant Facilities and EHS, faidti@l Semiconductor Singapore, a semiconductaidation subsidiary of National Semiconductor Cogiimm.

Ms. Yow received a B.E. in Electronic Engineeringnfr Curtin University, a Certificate in Managemenid@és from the Singapore Institute of Managemerd, aDiploma
in Electrical Engineering from Singapore Polytechni

Recent Developments
Acquisition of DVS Sciences, Inc.

On February 13, 2014, we completed our acquisitioD\$ (which changed its name to Fluidigm Sciencesdnbsequent to the acquisition), pursuant to an
agreement and plan of merger dated as of JanuaB028. Pursuant to the merger agreement, DVS beoameholly-owned subsidiary. DVS'’s wholly-owned subsigja
DVS Sciences Inc., an Ontario corporation, or DVS @ar(®hich changed its name to Fluidigm Canadaduabsequent to the acquisition), remained a wholiped
subsidiary of DVS.

The merger consideration payable by us to the fostoekholders of DVS pursuant to the merger agre¢cmnsisted of approximately $117.2 million inkcas
(excluding the value of stock options and unvessstricted stock assumed by us), and 1,759,002skdour common stock. Of the aggregate cash deraion, $1.0
million was deposited in escrow to satisfy cerfatential working capital adjustments, and of tteek consideration, 50.3030% of the shares was depldato escrow to
secure indemnification obligations under the meeggeement. In addition, under the terms of thegereagreement, stock options, both vested and tet/esnd unvested
restricted stock of DVS were converted into optiomd eestricted stock, respectively, denominatecharas of our common stock pursuant to an exchatgespecified in
the merger agreement.

The cash consideration payable to the former swidiehs of DVS was financed in part with the net praseieom our underwritten public offering of 2.75%rfor
Convertible Notes due 2034, as described in ourddtiReport on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on Febyur2014.

Business of DVS

DVS Sciences Inc. was founded in 2004 as a Canadigoration, referred to as DVS Canada. In 2010stbekholders of DVS Canada exchanged their shares in
DVS Canada for shares in a new parent company incatgubin Delaware, and DVS Canada became a wholly-osutesidiary of DVS, the new Delaware parent
corporation.

DVS develops, manufactures, markets, and sells {patameter single-cell protein analysis systems. B¥8ncipal product is the CyTOF2 mass spectromethich
analyzes cells labeled with heavy metal isotopesguasiomic mass cytometry technology for applicationbiological research. In addition, DVS offeragents and reagent
kits, as well as data analysis tools for use witlCg$ OF2 instrument. For the year ended Decembe?@®112 and the nine months ended September 30, POAS,
recognized revenue of $11.9 million and $18.5 wiljirespectively, and net (loss) income of ($2.Bion) and $1.5 million, respectively.

DVS'’s products target the research flow cytometryket Existing flow cytometry technologies are hidneughput with single-cell analysis capabilitiekwever, a
key limitation of traditional flow cytometry techlogjies is the use of fluorescent dyes to labebalies for detection. These fluorescent labels leawvission spectra that
typically overlap, making it challenging to optireizeagents to analyze many protein markers at dimeemaximum number of proteins target for traditibflow cytometry
is approximately 18 with significant reagent optiatian involved.

Similar to flow cytometry, mass cytometry is bapenarily on antibodies for detection of proteikowever, rather than utilizing fluorescent labels, D8/S
technological approach utilizes heavy metal isotapels, which enables the ability to expand thealbber of parameters analyzed per individual cetiice the number of
conventional flow cytometry technologies.
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DVS'’s customers include leading academic and rebdaboratories. In North America and Europe, DVSssaiid markets its products through a direct salee f
other than in Germany, Switzerland, and Austria, wtierelies on a manufacturer’'s representativéddia, it has focused its sales efforts to date stributor relationships
in Japan, Taiwan, Singapore, and Hong Kong. As of Deeeih 2013, DVS had 84 full time employees. DVS itais its commercial headquarters in Sunnyvale,
California, where it also manufactures reagentsaddition, DVS manufactures instruments and condestsarch and development at a facility outside fitaroOntario.
DVS also maintains a European sales office outsaftelbn, England.

DVS and DVS Canada have sought patent protectioreit/tlited States and internationally for certain agpef their technology through licensed intellettoroperty
and owned intellectual property. For aspects of D\¢Brielogy for which patent protection may not be k¢, DVS and DVS Canada rely on protection throtigte
secrets, know-how or continuing technological inrtmra A significant portion of DVS’s and DVS Canadalwned patent portfolio is in the form of provisiomgiplication
filings that would need to be converted to non-simnal U.S. patent applications or internationakpaapplications. We cannot be sure that pateititbevgranted with
respect to any of DVS’s or DVS Canada’s owned or liceémending patent applications or with respect to@atent applications filed by DVS, DVS Canada, or their
licensors in the future, nor can we be sure thataiDVS’s or DVS Canada’s existing owned or licenpatents or any patents that may be granted to DVS, Caftada or
to their licensors in the future will protect sueichnology.

DVS and DVS Canada license intellectual property siiftm third parties that are material to theiribesses and operating results. In particular, D820VS
Canada entered into a license agreement with MD$Sdn®/DS, through MDS'’s Sciex division, pursuamtthich DVS Canada licensed from MDS patents thaecthe
core technology on which the CyTOF2 mass spectrometetbased. We understand that MDS subsequentfjnadsthe licensed patents and the license agregamahthat
the patents and license agreement are now heleétynEImer Health Sciences, Inc., or PerkinElmdre PerkinElmer license agreement grants DVS Canadadusive,
royalty bearing, worldwide license under the licehpatents in the field of inductively coupled plastrased flow cytometry, including the related analp$ elemental
tagged materials, and a non-exclusive licensedagents outside the field of ICP-based flow cytomeétmong other provisions, the license agreemeligates DVS
Canada to grant to PerkinElmer a non-exclusivegligyfree license for research and developmenhjoimprovements or developments relating to thgesilmatter of the
licensed patents that are developed by DVS Canadaldition, DVS Canada controls the prosecutionmaathtenance of the licensed patents within the fifdi
PerkinElmer controls the prosecution and mainteaariche licensed patents for reagents outsidéelt subject in each case to consultation anddansideration of
comments from the other party. PerkinElmer retaim®rcement rights with respect to the licensedmatd he license agreement obligates DVS Canadake waious
royalty payments to PerkinElmer, with a currentimimm annual royalty of 250,000 Canadian dollarsleds earlier terminated in accordance with the §eesgreement, tt
license expires upon the expiration or invalidaiwdthe last licensed patent, which we currently ekp@ occur no sooner than December 2025. PerkiaEimay terminate
the license agreement for an uncured material bread DVS Canada becomes insolvent, makes an assiginfor the benefit of creditors, or has a patiio bankruptcy
filed against it. Any loss, termination, or advensedification of intellectual property rights licessby DVS Canada from PerkinElmer or other thirdiparcould have a
material adverse effect on our business, operaéisglts, and financial condition. For additiondbimation, see the section entitled "Risk factorsskB Related to Our
Recent Acquisition of DVS" in this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

We operate in a rapidly changing environment tn@bilves numerous uncertainties and risks. The fatigwisks and uncertainties may have a material adderse
effect on our business, financial condition, orules of operations. You should consider these rsids uncertainties carefully, together with alltbé other information
included or incorporated by reference in this Fat@K. If any of the risks or uncertainties we fagere to occur, the trading price of our securiteesild decline, and you
may lose all or part of your investment.

On February 13, 2014, we completed the acquisitidd\é® Sciences, Inc., or DVS (which changed its narRutdigm Sciences Inc. immediately subsequent to the
acquisition), which develops, manufactures, marlaid,sells multi-parameter single-cell protein arsdysystems. The risk factors set forth under “Rigéited to
Fluidigm’s Business and Strategy” relate principally to dursiness of manufacturing, marketing, and sellingafiicidic systems for single-cell genomics, applied
genotyping, and sample preparation for targetecgegencing. For the separate risks relating to theibess of DVS, please refer to the section of tliglséactors captione
“Risks Related to Our Recent Acquisition of DVS.”

Risks Related to Fluidigm'’s Business and Strategy

Emerging market opportunities may not develop as qigkly as we expect, limiting our ability to successilly market and sell our products, or our product
development and strategic plans relating to such nmkets may change and our entry into these emergingiarkets may be delayed, if it occurs at all.

The application of our technologies to single-gelhomics, digital polymerase chain reaction, oitaig°CR, and sample preparation for next-genemdiibA
sequencing are emerging market opportunities. Weugethese opportunities will take several yeardévelop or mature and we cannot be certain teaetimarket
opportunities will develop as we expect. For exampke launched our €Single-Cell Auto Prep System in June 2012, whichiappur technology to, among other things,
improve single-cell analytic workflow for single-tglenomics. The future growth of the single-cell @aics market and the success of our new system depemany
factors beyond our control, including recognitioacceptance by the scientific community, andgtioevth, prevalence, and costs of competing methbdemetic analysit
If the market for single-cell genomics, digital PGIRd sample preparation for next-generation DNA segmg do not develop as we expect, our businesshmaylversely
affected. Additionally, our success in these enmgygnarkets may depend to a large extent on outyatslsuccessfully market and sell products usingtechnologies. If w
are not able to successfully market and sell oodycts, or to achieve the revenue or margins weatxper operating results may be harmed and we ratyecover our
product development and marketing expenditureadtition, our product development and strategioplaay change, which could delay or impede ouyento emerging
markets.

Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter-to-quarter due to a number of factors, whichmay lead to volatility in our stock price.

Our quarterly revenue and results of operations kavied in the past and may continue to vary sigaiftly from quarter-to-quarter. For example, iri@02011, and
2012, we experienced higher sales in the fourthtqu#ran in the first quarter of the next fiscahyen addition, revenue from sales of our instraotaeelative to sales of our
consumables may fluctuate or deviate significafrdyn expectations. The variability in our quartemysults of operations, including revenue from saleour instruments
relative to our consumables, may lead to volatititpur stock price as research analysts and iax@séspond to these quarterly fluctuations. Thieséuations are due to
numerous factors that are difficult to forecast]uding: fluctuations in demand for our productsacges in customer budget cycles and capital spgnsieasonal variations
in customer operations; tendencies among someroessato defer purchase decisions to the end afubeter; the large unit value of our systems; clkang our pricing and
sales policies or the pricing and sales policiesufcompetitors; our ability to design, manufaetand deliver products to our customers in a tiraely cost-effective
manner; quality control or yield problems in ourmagacturing operations; our ability to timely obta@idequate quantities of the components used iproducts; new
product introductions and enhancements by us andammpetitors; unanticipated increases in cosexpenses; our complex, variable and, at timesttgrgples cycle;
global economic conditions; and fluctuations irefgn currency exchange rates. Additionally, we hzargain customers who have historically placeddagiers in multiple
quarters during a calendar year. A significant otidn in orders from one or more of these custornetsd adversely affect our revenue and operagsglts, and if these
customers defer or cancel purchases or otherwisethétir purchasing patterns, our quarter-to-qudirtancial results could be significantly impacted

The foregoing factors, as well as other factorsjdmaterially and adversely affect our quarterid annual results of operations. In addition, aifigant amount of
our operating expenses are relatively fixed dueutomanufacturing, research and development, ded aad general administrative efforts. Any failto@djust spending
quickly enough to compensate for a revenue shbdfaild magnify the adverse impact of such reveshatfall on our results of operations. We expkat bur sales will
continue to fluctuate on a quarterly basis and dhatfinancial results for some periods may be welwse projected by securities analysts, whicHcesignificantly decreas
the price of our common stock.
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We have incurred losses since inception, and we magntinue to incur substantial losses for the foreable future.

We have a limited operating history and have inedisignificant losses in each fiscal year sinceimeeption, including net losses of $16.5 milli&1,9.0 million, and
$22.5 million during the years 2013, 2012, and 20&4pectively. As of December 31, 2013, we hadcanraulated deficit of $257.3 million. These loskase resulted
principally from costs incurred in our research degelopment programs, and from our manufacturosjscand selling, general, and administrative experiWe may
continue to incur substantial operating and netdesand negative cash flow from operations. We éxpatour selling, general, and administrativeenges will continue to
increase due to the additional operational andrteppcosts associated with being a public compé&g.anticipate that our business will generate djperdosses until we
successfully implement our commercial developmaategy and generate significant additional revelousipport our level of operating expenses. Bexafithe numerous
risks and uncertainties associated with our comrakzetion efforts and future product development,ameunable to predict when we will become profgalbihd we may
never become profitable. Even if we do achieve tabfiity, we may not be able to sustain or increaseprofitability.

If our research and product development efforts daot result in commercially viable products within articipated timelines, if at all, our business and rsults of
operations will be adversely affected.

Our business is dependent on the improvement oéxisting products, our development of new produztserve existing markets, and our development of ne
products to create new markets and applicatiortsathee previously not practical with existing systei& intend to devote significant personnel andririal resources to
research and development activities designed taramvthe capabilities of our microfluidic systemshinology. We have developed design rules forrtiementation of
our technology that are frequently revised to mffeew insights we have gained about the technologgddition, we have discovered that biologicatlvemical reactions
sometimes behave differently when implemented orspstems rather than in a standard laboratoryremwient. Furthermore, many such reactions takeeplathin the
confines of single cells, which have also demomestranexpected behavior when grown and manipulatétin microfluidic environments. As a result, resgmand
development efforts may be required to transfetagereactions and cell handling techniques tosystems. In the past, product development profeats been significant
delayed when we encountered unanticipated difficultiemplementing a process on our systems. Wehmag similar delays in the future, and we may rtainn any
benefits from our research and development acsiithny delay or failure by us to develop new proglectenhance existing products would have a sutistadverse effe
on our business and results of operations.

If one or more of our manufacturing facilities becane unavailable or inoperable, we will be unable toantinue manufacturing our instruments, IFCs, and/orassays
and, as a result, our business will be harmed untive are able to secure a new facility.

We manufacture all of our instruments and IFCscfaimmercial sale at our facility in Singapore and assays for commercial sale at our headquarte3suth San
Francisco, California. No other manufacturing fdiei are currently available to us, particularlgiliies of the size and scope required by our 8page operations. Our
facilities and the equipment we use to manufaaburenstruments, IFCs, and assays would be costigptace and could require substantial lead tinrepair or replace.
Our facilities may be harmed or rendered inoperbpleatural or mamrade disasters, which may render it difficult or @sgible for us to manufacture our products for s
period of time. If any of our facilities become wadable to us, we cannot provide assurances thatilvbe able to secure a new manufacturing faciityacceptable terms,
if at all. The inability to manufacture our prodsictombined with our limited inventory of manufaettiisupplies, may result in the loss of custometsom our reputation,
and we may be unable to reestablish relationshigstivitse customers in the future. Although we posissssance for damage to our property and the plism of our
business, this insurance may not be sufficienbteecall of our potential losses and may not cargito be available to us on acceptable terms, alt.at

The current leases for our manufacturing faciliySingapore will terminate on September 30, 2014camcturrent lease for office and laboratory spetosur
headquarters in South San Francisco expires in 2080. On October 14, 2013, Fluidigm Singapore R, br Fluidigm Singapore, our wholywned subsidiary, accep
an offer of tenancy relating to the lease of a neamufacturing facility in Singapore, which expi@sJune 1, 2022. We expect to consolidate our nagtwring operations
the new space in the third quarter of 2014. Sucloeerwill involve significant expense in connectiorttwihe establishment of new clean rooms, the moveareh
installation of key manufacturing equipment, andldication of the new facility, and we cannot assyoe that such a move would not delay or otherwibeeesely affect
our manufacturing activities. If our manufacturicepabilities are impaired by our move, we may reoéble to manufacture and ship our products imalyi manner, which
would adversely impact our business.

We may experience development or manufacturing prdems or delays that could limit the growth of our rezenue or increase our losses.

We may encounter unforeseen situations in the naatwing and assembly of our products that wouldltés delays or shortfalls in our production. Feample, we
expect to consolidate our manufacturing operatinrassnew facility in the third quarter of 2014. Sucmove will involve significant expense, and we adrassure you that
such a move would not delay or
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otherwise adversely affect our manufacturing atiéisi In addition, our production processes andrably methods may have to change to accommodatsigmijicant
future expansion of our manufacturing capacity, Whitay increase our manufacturing costs, delay mtomtuof our products, reduce our product margim adversely
impact our business. If our manufacturing actigiteee adversely impacted by our move, or if weotnerwise unable to keep up with demand for oudpets by
successfully manufacturing, assembling, testing,smpping our products in a timely manner, ouerae could be impaired, market acceptance for mduets could be
adversely affected and our customers might ingpeichase our competitors’ products.

All of our IFCs for commercial sale are manufactuatdur facility in Singapore. Production of thastbmeric block that is at the core of our IFCa complex proce:
requiring advanced clean rooms, sophisticated egenp, and strict adherence to procedures. Any cangdion of the clean room, equipment malfunctionfadlure to
strictly follow procedures can significantly redumer yield in one or more batches. We have in thet eaperienced variations in yields due to suctofac A drop in yield
can increase our cost to manufacture our IFCsiandre severe cases, require us to halt the manuéaaf our IFCs until the problem is resolved.rtifying and resolving
the cause of a drop in yield can require substadtirie and resources.

In addition, developing an IFC for a new applicatinay require developing a specific production pssder that type of IFC. While all of our IFCs gm@duced using
the same basic processes, significant variatiorysheaequired to ensure adequate yield of anyqaati type of IFC. Developing such a process cawvelng time consumini
and any unexpected difficulty in doing so can detayintroduction of a product.

We are dependent on single source suppliers for senof the components and materials used in our prodts, and the loss of any of these suppliers coulétm our
business.

We rely on single source suppliers for certain congmts and materials used in our products. Addilipreeveral of our instruments are assembledefahilities of
contract manufacturers in Singapore. We do not hawg term contracts with our suppliers of these ponents and materials or our assembly service geosi The loss of
the single source suppliers of any of the followwmgnponents and/or materials would require signifitime and effort to locate and qualify an alteivesource of supply:

. The IFCs used in our microfluidic systems atw@ifaated using a specialized polymer, and otheciafeed materials, that are available from a ledit
number of sources. In the past, we have encountgrality issues that have reduced our manufactujielg or required the use of additional manufactg
processes.

. Specialized pneumatic and electronic comporfentsur C, Single-Cell Auto Prep System are available from a limiteesnber of source

. The raw materials for our DELTAgene and SNPtymags and Access Array Targgpecific primers are available from a limited numbgsource:

Our reliance on single source suppliers and asseselplijice providers also subjects us to other isikscould harm our business, including the follogvi

. we may be subject to increased component or asserobly
. we may not be able to obtain adequate supply ofcgsnin a timely manner or on commercially reastenggrms
. our suppliers or service providers may makersrm manufacturing or assembly of componentsabatd negatively affect the efficacy of our produiot

cause delays in shipment of our products; and

. our suppliers or service providers may encouca@acity constraints or financial hardships urtegldo our demand for components or services, which
could inhibit their ability to fulfill our ordersrad meet our requirements.

We have in the past experienced quality controlarply problems with some of our suppliers, sucimasufacturing errors, and may again experienckl@nas in
the future. We may not be able to quickly estabdidtitional or replacement suppliers, particuléolyour single source components, or assembly aegioviders. Any
interruption or delay in the supply of componentsnaterials or assembly of our instruments, oripability to obtain components, materials, or adsigrservices from
alternate sources at acceptable prices in a timalyner, could impair our ability to meet the demahdur customers and cause them to cancel ordewitch to
competitive products.

If our products fail to achieve and sustain suffiegnt market acceptance, our revenue will be adversebffected.
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Our success depends, in part, on our ability to ldgvend market products that are recognized anelpged as reliable, enabling and cost-effective.tMbsur
potential customers already use expensive ressgstams in their laboratories and may be reludtargplace those systems. Market acceptance afystems will depend
on many factors, including our ability to convirpetential customers that our systems are an atteaalternative to existing technologies. Comparegome competing
technologies, our microfluidic technology is relaly new, and most potential customers have limkealvledge of, or experience with, our products. Piecadopting our
microfluidic systems, some potential customers mesd to devote time and effort to testing and adilidy our systems. Any failure of our systems to tnileese customer
benchmarks could result in customers choosingtiarréheir existing systems or to purchase sysietmsr than ours.

In addition, it is important that our systems becpéved as accurate and reliable by the scierdiiit medical research community as a whole. Histiyjasignificant
part of our sales and marketing efforts has beestdid at convincing industry leaders of the adages of our systems and encouraging such leadptbtish or present tt
results of their evaluation of our system. If we anable to continue to induce leading researdbarse our systems, or if such researchers ardeut@mbchieve and publish
or present significant experimental results usingsystems, acceptance and adoption of our systélirtse slowed and our ability to increase our ravemvould be
adversely affected.

Our future success is dependent upon our ability texpand our customer base and introduce new applitians.

Our customer base is primarily composed of academstitutions, clinical laboratories that use owtieology to develop tests, and pharmaceuticalgbfotology and
agricultural biotechnology, or Ag-Bio, companieattperform analyses for research and commercigigses. Our success will depend, in part, upon dlityaio increase
our market share among these customers, attraitioadd customers outside of these markets, andketarew applications to existing and new customsmedevelop suc
applications. Attracting new customers and introdgeiew applications requires substantial time aqpegese. For example, it may be difficult to identépgage and mark
to customers who are unfamiliar with the currerglaations of our systems. Any failure to expand existing customer base or launch new applicatiemsld adversely
affect our ability to increase our revenue.

The life science research and Ag-Bio markets are Hity competitive and subject to rapid technologicathange, and we may not be able to successfully coate.

The markets for our products are characterizedapidly changing technology, evolving industry stamt$, changes in customer needs, emerging conopetitew
product introductions, and strong price competitide compete with both established and developniagedife science research companies that designyfacture, and
market instruments and consumables for gene expreasalysis, single-cell targeted gene expresasimlysis, genotyping, PCR, digital PCR, other nudeid detection,
and additional applications using well establisteiblatory techniques, as well as newer technolagiels as bead encoded arrays, microfluidics, nahotgogy, high-
throughput DNA sequencing, microdroplets and phdtogitaphic arrays. Most of our current competit@gehsignificantly greater name recognition, grefitemcial and
human resources, broader product lines and prqrwitages, larger sales forces, larger existingliestbases, larger intellectual property portfeliand greater experience
and scale in research and development, manufagtwaimd marketing than we do. For example, companiels as Affymetrix, Inc., Agilent Technologies, InBio-Rad
Laboratories, Inc., lllumina, Inc., Life TechnolegiCorporation (now part of Thermo Fisher Scienfifi6csC Limited, Luminex Corporation, NanoString Tecdfogies, Inc.,
PerkinElmer, Inc. (through its acquisition of Calif.ife Sciences, Inc.), RainDance Technologies, Roche Applied Science (a division of Roche Diagjnes
Corporation), Sequenom, Inc., Thermo Fisher Sdieritic., and WaferGen Bio-systems, Inc. have prdsititat compete in certain segments of the mankehich we sell
our products.

Competitors may be able to respond more quicklyeffettively than we can to new or changing oppottesj technologies, standards, or customer regeinésnIn
light of these advantages, even if our technolagyére effective than the product or service afifgsiof our competitors, current or potential custsymight accept
competitive products and services in lieu of pusitig our technology. We anticipate that we will famereased competition in the future as existing jganies and
competitors develop new or improved products amgeascompanies enter the market with new technolotiieeeased competition is likely to result in prigipressures,
which could reduce our profit margins and increasesales and marketing expenses. In addition, m&rgensolidations, or other strategic transacthets/een two or moi
of our competitors, or between our competitor anel of our key customers, could change the competitindscape and weaken our competitive positiorgradly affecting
our business.

Our business depends on research and developmengesyling levels of academic, clinical, and governmedaitresearch institutions, and pharmaceutical,
biotechnology, and Ag-Bio companies, a reduction iwhich could limit our ability to sell our products and adversely affect our business.

We expect that our revenue in the foreseeabledutilt be derived primarily from sales of our midgflic systems and integrated fluidic circuits,|BEs, to academi
institutions, clinical laboratories that use owtteology to develop tests, and pharmaceuticalebiotology, and Adio companies worldwide. Our success will depend |
their demand for and use of
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our products. Accordingly, the spending policiesh&fse customers could have a significant effe¢cherdemand for our technology. These policies neapdsed on a wide
variety of factors, including concerns regarding tederal government budget sequestration, théadility of resources to make purchases, the spgngliiorities among
various types of equipment, policies regarding spenduring recessionary periods, and changeseipditical climate. In addition, academic, govesntal, and other
research institutions that fund research and dewedmt activities may be subject to stringent bualyetonstraints that could result in spending rédos, reduced
allocations, or budget cutbacks, which could jeojzarthe ability of these customers to purchasepooducts. Our operating results may fluctuate suitistéy due to
reductions and delays in research and developmgenéitures by these customers. For example, rieehscin capital and operating expenditures by tlrestomers may
result in lower than expected sales of our miciditusystems and IFCs. These reductions and detaysresult from factors that are not within our cohtsuch as:

. changes in economic conditio

. natural disaster

. changes in government programs that provide funttimgsearch institutions and compar

. changes in the regulatory environment affeclifegscience and Adgio companies engaged in research and commerdtiaitias;
. differences in budget cycles across various gedgeamnd industrie

. marketdriven pressures on companies to consolidate apesaand reduce cos

. mergers and acquisitions in the life science AgdBio industries; an

. other factors affecting research and developmesridipg

Any decrease in our customebgidgets or expenditures, or in the size, scopfequency of capital or operating expenditures)a@ouaterially and adversely affect (
operations or financial condition.

We may not be able to develop new products or enheaa the capabilities of our existing microfluidic sgtems to keep pace with rapidly changing technologgnd
customer requirements, which could have a materisddverse effect on our business, revenue, financiendition, and operating results.

Our success depends on our ability to develop nedusts and applications for our technology in erg@nd new markets, while improving the performaamoe cost-
effectiveness of our systems. New technologies nigales, or products could emerge that might ofégtes combinations of price and performance tharcacrent or future
product lines and systems. Existing markets forppaducts, including single-cell genomics, genereggion analysis, genotyping, and digital PCR, dbagepotential
markets for our products such as high-throughput Biduencing and molecular diagnostics applicatiarescharacterized by rapid technological changeramalation. It
is critical to our success for us to anticipatengs in technology and customer requirements asddeessfully introduce new, enhanced, and comyetgchnology to
meet our customers’ and prospective customers’snerd timely and costffective basis. Developing and implementing neshi®logies will require us to incur substan
development costs and we may not have adequatercesavailable to be able to successfully introdwme applications of, or enhancements to, our systé¥vie cannot
guarantee that we will be able to maintain technicllgdvantages over emerging technologies inuhed. While we typically plan improvements to @ystems, we may
not be able to successfully implement these imprmrgs. If we fail to keep pace with emerging techgis, demand for our systems will not grow and ehegline, and ot
business, revenue, financial condition, and opagatsults could suffer materially. In additionwié introduce enhanced systems but fail to managgugt transitions
effectively, customers may delay or forgo purchafesur systems and our operating results may beradly affected by product obsolescence and excesstory. Even i
we successfully implement some or all of these gdrimprovements, we cannot guarantee that our duarehpotential customers will find our enhancedeys to be an
attractive alternative to existing technologies]uding our current products.

Our products could become subject to regulation amedical devices by the U.S. Food and Drug Administrath, or FDA, or other regulatory agencies in the futee.

Our products are currently labeled, promoted and tsoacademic institutions, life sciences laboiemrand pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and Agdgimpanies for
research purposes only, and not as diagnosticdestedical devices. As products labeled and irgdrfdr research use only, they are subject onlyrtibed regulation as
medical devices by the FDA under 21 Code of FedReglulations Section 809.10(c) with respect to tladieling. Research use only products are not ctlyreuabject to
regulation as medical devices by comparable agemtiether countries. However, the FDA could disagvite our conclusion that our products are for resleaise only. In
addition, if we change the labeling or promotioroaf products in the future to include indications fiuman diagnostic applications or medical uses;eohave knowledge
that our customers are using our products foradindiagnostic or therapeutic purposes, our pradoctelated applications could
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be subject to additional regulation as in vitrogtiastic devices, such as under the FDA's pre- asthparket regulations for medical devices. For eplemf we wish to
label, promote or advertise our products for useeirforming clinical diagnostics, we would first de® obtain FDA pre-market clearance or approval éddmg on any
product’s specific intended use and any such medlifibeling claims), unless otherwise exempt fromamnce or approval requirements. Obtaining FDA atea or
approval can be expensive and uncertain, and dgnikes several months to years to obtain, ang require detailed and comprehensive scientific @dimical data.
Notwithstanding the expense, these efforts may neseit in FDA clearance or approval. Even if we werebtain regulatory approval or clearance, it maybe for the
uses we believe are important or commercially ditrac

Further, the FDA may expand its regulatory oversaftdur products or the products of our customehsch could impose restrictions on our ability torket and sell
our products. For example, our customers may &dease our research use only labeled productsein ¢kvn laboratory developed tests, or LDTs, forickhdiagnostic use.
The FDA has historically exercised enforcement @itsan in not enforcing the medical device regulagi@gainst laboratory offering LDTs. However, the FebAld assert
jurisdiction over some or all LDTs, which may impacitr custome!’ uses of our products. A significant change inwreey that the FDA regulates our products or any LDTs
that our customers develop may require us to changbusiness model in order to maintain complianitke these laws. The FDA held a meeting in July 2@L®ing which
it indicated that it intends to reconsider its pglof enforcement discretion and to begin draftingew oversight framework for LDTs. Recent commegtEbA
Commissioner Margaret Hamburg in June 2013 inditesethe FDA is working on a new risk-based framewortegulate LDTs. We cannot predict the ultimateirig or
form of any FDA guidance or regulation on LTDs.

Additionally, on November 25, 2013, the FDA issuedaFi@uidance “Distribution of In Vitro Diagnostic Protta Labeled for Research Use Only.” The guidance
emphasizes that the FDA will review the totality of tircumstances when it comes to evaluating wheitpgipment and testing components are properly éabes RUO.
The final guidance states that merely includingleeling statement that the product is for resepurposes only will not necessarily render the degicampt from the
FDA's clearance, approval, or other requirementsefcircumstances surrounding the distributiorhefpiroduct indicate that the manufacturer knowpritgluct is, or
intends for its product to be, offered for clinichéhgnostic uses. These circumstances may incluitteemor verbal marketing claims or links to amislregarding a product’s
performance in clinical applications and a manufesats provision of technical support for cliniagplications. If the FDA imposes significant changgethe regulation of
LDTs, or modifies its approach to our products leldbr research use only, it could reduce our regenr increase our costs and adversely affect wsinbss, prospects,
results of operations or financial condition. Irdain, if the FDA determined that our products lalkfor research use only were intended for usgimical investigation or
diagnosis, those products could be considered amsled or adulterated under the Federal Food, DneyCasmetic Act.

We may be required to proactively achieve compkanith certain FDA regulations and to conform ounmifacturing operations to the FDA's good manufaotyr
practice regulations for medical devices, knowrhasQuality System Regulation, or QSR, as part ofcoutracts with customers or as part of our collabons with third
parties. In addition, we may voluntarily seek tofmwm our manufacturing operations to QSR requiregmeéfor clinical diagnostic products that are raged as medical
devices, the FDA enforces the QSR through pre-apprimspections and periodic unannounced inspectbnsgistered manufacturing facilities. If we ardjgaet to QSR
requirements, the failure to comply with those iegaents or take satisfactory corrective actioresponse to an adverse QSR inspection could reseitforcement action
including a public warning letter or an untitledtéet a delay in approving or clearing, or a refusapprove or clear, our products, a shutdown afiufiacturing operations,
product recall, civil or criminal penalties or ottsanctions, which could in turn cause our salesbaisihess to suffer.

If we are unable to recruit and retain key executies, scientists and technical support personnel, weay be unable to achieve our goals.

Our performance is substantially dependent on thieqmmeance of our senior management, particularlyu§j. Worthington, our president and chief exeautifficer.
Additionally, to expand our research and producettgyment efforts, we need key scientists skilledrigas such as molecular and cellular biology yadeaelopment, and
manufacturing. We also need highly trained techriopport personnel with the necessary scientifakeound and ability to understand our systemstathnical level to
effectively support potential new customers andetkganding needs of current customers. Competitothfse people is intense. Because of the congpldxechnical
nature of our systems and the dynamic market irchvivie compete, any failure to attract and retasofticient number of qualified employees could miatéy harm our
ability to develop and commercialize our technology

The loss of the services of any member of our sananagement or our scientific or technical supptatf might significantly delay or prevent the éiapment of our
products or achievement of other business objextiyediverting management’s attention to transititatters and identification of suitable replacersgifitany, and could
have a material
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adverse effect on our business. In addition, osearch and product development efforts could beyeell or curtailed if we are unable to attract, teaid retain highly skille
employees, particularly, senior scientists and reegyis. We do not maintain fixed term employmentreats or significant key man life insurance witly af our employees.

If we are unable to integrate future acquisitions sccessfully, our operating results and prospects atdl be harmed.

In addition to our recent acquisition of DVS, we nmagke additional acquisitions to improve our prddferings or expand into new markets. Our futurguasition
strategy will depend on our ability to identify,gagiate, complete, and integrate acquisitions dméicessary, to obtain satisfactory debt or edfiityncing to fund those
acquisitions. Mergers and acquisitions are inh&reigky, and any transaction we complete may nasuxessful. Our acquisition of DVS was our first asigjon of
another company. Any merger or acquisition we magusiwould involve numerous risks, including butlivaited to the following:

. difficulties in integrating and managing the openas, technologies, and products of the companieaogaire

. diversion of our managemestattention from normal daily operation of our Imesis

. our inability to maintain the key business relasibips and the reputations of the businesses weras

. our inability to retain key personnel of the acgqdicompan)

. uncertainty of entry into markets in which we haweitéd or no prior experience and in which competitoave stronger market positic
. our dependence on unfamiliar affiliates and custsméthe companies we acqu

. insufficient revenue to offset our increased expsrassociated with acquisitio

. our responsibility for the liabilities of the bussses we acquire, including those which we may natipate; an

. our inability to maintain internal standards, cofdr procedures, and polici

We may be unable to secure the equity or debt fighdecessary to finance future acquisitions ongefrat are acceptable to us. If we finance acqoistby issuing
equity or convertible debt securities, our existitgckholders will likely experience dilution, aifidve finance future acquisitions with debt fundimgg will incur interest
expense and may have to comply with financial comenand secure that debt obligation with our assets.

Adverse conditions in the global economy and disrupn of financial markets may significantly harm our revenue, profitability, and results of operations.

The global credit and financial markets have ireregears experienced volatility and disruptions|uding diminished liquidity and credit availabjli increased
concerns about inflation and deflation, and the dyade of U.S. debt and exposure risks on otherrs@redebts, decreased consumer confidence, lowaoedc growth,
volatile energy costs, increased unemployment rated uncertainty about economic stability. Voitiand disruption of financial markets could limitir customers’ ability
to obtain adequate financing or credit to purcteast pay for our products in a timely manner or &intain operations, which could result in a decréasales volume that
could harm our results of operations. General carscabout the fundamental soundness of domestimérdational economies may also cause our cus®otoaeduce the
purchases. Changes in governmental banking, mgnetad fiscal policies to address liquidity andrease credit availability may not be effective.rifigant government
investment and allocation of resources to assésettonomic recovery of sectors which do not inclagiecustomers may reduce the resources availabfgofernment gran
and related funding for life science, Ag-Bio, anihiclal research and development. Continuation ahér deterioration of these financial and macroecoic conditions
could significantly harm our sales, profitabilitydiresults of operations.

We generate a substantial portion of our revenue ternationally and are subject to various risks relding to such international activities, which could aversely
affect our sales and operating performance. In adtion, any disruption or delay in the shipping or of-loading of our products, whether domestically or
internationally, may have an adverse effect on ouiinancial condition and results of operations.

During the years 2013, 2012, and 2011, approxima@¥, 47%, and 47%, respectively, of our produeeneie was generated from sales to customers locatsidle
of the United States. We believe that a signifigartentage of our future revenue will come fromrimi¢ional sources as we expand our overseas apesatnd develop
opportunities in other international areas. Engggminternational business inherently involvesuaber of difficulties and risks, including:

. required compliance with existing and changing fgmeiegulatory requirements and la
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. required compliance with anti-bribery laws, sashthe U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and U.Kbdy Act, data privacy requirements, labor laws and
anti-competition regulations;

. export or import restriction

. laws and business practices favoring local coms

. longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcagyeements and collecting receivables througlaiceioreign legal systen

. unstable economic, political, and regulatory cands:

. potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs,otnstcharges, bureaucratic requirements, and atide barrier:

. difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefgn operations; ai

. difficulties protecting or procuring intellectualqperty rights

If one or more of these risks occurs, it could rexjus to dedicate significant resources to remady,if we are unsuccessful in finding a solutiam, financial results
will suffer.

In addition, a majority of our product sales arereotly denominated in U.S. dollars and fluctuationthe value of the U.S. dollar relative to foreigurrencies could
decrease demand for our products and adverselycinopa financial performance. For example, if tizdue of the U.S. dollar increases relative to fgmedurrencies, our
products could become more costly to the internaticonsumer and therefore less competitive irrmattional markets, or if the value of the U.S. dotlacreases relative to
the Singapore dollar, it would become more costlyiS. dollars for us to manufacture our productSiimgapore.

We rely on shipping providers to deliver product®trr customers globally. Labor, tariff or Worldafile Organization-related disputes, piracy, physiaaiage to
shipping facilities or equipment caused by sevegather or terrorist incidents, congestion at siiggacilities, inadequate equipment to load, daut affload our products,
energy-related tie-ups, or other factors couldutisor delay shipping or off-loading of our produdomestically and internationally. Such disrupgion delays may have an
adverse effect on our financial condition and ressof operations.

If we are unable to manage our anticipated growth féectively, our business could be harmed.

The rapid growth of our business has placed a sigmif strain on our managerial, operational, andrftial resources and systems. To execute ouiatgéd growth
successfully, we must continue to attract and rejaalified personnel and manage and train thenc@ffdy. We must also upgrade our internal busimeesesses and
capabilities to create the scalability that a grauisiness demands.

We believe our facilities located in Singapore &uwdith San Francisco, California, are sufficienntet our short-term manufacturing needs. The ctuleases for our
facilities in Singapore will terminate on SeptemB@r 2014 and our current lease for office and latmoy space at our headquarters in South San Branekpires in April
2020. On October 14, 2013, Fluidigm Singapore aeckph offer of tenancy relating to the lease ofw manufacturing facility in Singapore, which expin June 1, 202
We expect to consolidate our manufacturing opematio the new space in the third quarter of 2014hSumove will involve significant expense in coati@n with the
establishment of new clean rooms, the movementrestallation of key manufacturing equipment, andldication of our new facility, and we cannot assyou that such a
move would not delay or otherwise adversely affectroanufacturing activities. If our ability to utik the new facility for manufacturing operationslédayed, we may not
be able to meet demand for our microfluidic systentsch could adversely impact our business. Wenoaprovide assurances that we will be able to sexlease on a
different manufacturing facility on acceptable terand on a timely basis, if at all, to meet ouufatmanufacturing needs.

Further, our anticipated growth will place additibstain on our suppliers and manufacturing faeit resulting in an increased need for us to allyefonitor quality
assurance. Any failure by us to manage our grovfdtedely could have an adverse effect on our gbit achieve our development and commercializagjoals.

Our products could have unknown defects or errorswhich may give rise to claims against us, adversehffect market adoption of our systems, and adversglaffect
our business, financial condition, and results oferations.

Our microfluidic systems utilize novel and compleghnology applied on a nanoliter scale and suctesysmay develop or contain undetected defecterorse We
cannot assure you that material performance prahldefects, or errors will not arise, and as we as®ehe density and integration of our microfluslistems, these risks
may increase. We generally provide warranties thatmcrofluidic systems will meet performance expdions and will be free from defects.
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We also provide warranties relating to other pafisup microfluidic systems. The costs incurred @mrecting any defects or errors may be substaatidlcould adversely
affect our operating margins.

In manufacturing our products, including our systeffCs, and assays, we depend upon third partieedsupply of various components, many of whtuire a
significant degree of technical expertise to preduc addition, we purchase certain products froindtharty suppliers for resale. If our suppliers fa produce components
to specification or provide defective products sofor resale and our quality control tests and gdoces fail to detect such errors or defects, weifor our suppliers use
defective materials or workmanship in the manufaatuprocess, the reliability and performance of praducts will be compromised.

If our products contain defects, we may experience:

. a failure to achieve market acceptance or exparddionr product sale

. loss of customer orders and delay in order fulight

. damage to our brand reputati

. increased cost of our warranty program due to prorkpair or replaceme

. product recalls or replacemel

. inability to attract new custome

. diversion of resources from our manufacturing aegkarch and development departments into our setiejgartment; ai

. legal claims against us, including product liagiitaims, which could be costly and time consumimgéfend and result in substantial dame

In addition, certain of our products are marketadulse with products sold by third parties. For eglemour Access Array System is marketed as comipatiith all
major next-generation DNA sequencing instrumentsuth thirdparty products are not produced to specificatioa,produced in accordance with modified specificetjm
are defective, they may not be compatible withpmaducts. In such case, the reliability and perfamoe of our products may be compromised.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd negatively affect our business, financialdiban, and results of operations.

To use our products, and our BioMark System in paricular, customers typically need to purchase spediaed reagents. Any interruption in the availability of these
reagents for use in our products could limit our alility to market our products.

Our products, and our BioMark System in particutanst be used in conjunction with one or more reagéesigned to produce or facilitate the particblatogical or
chemical reaction desired by the user. Many ofalreagents are highly specialized and availableeaiser only from a single supplier or a limiteanber of suppliers.
Although we sell reagents for use with certain of products, our customers may purchase these resagjeatctly from third-party suppliers, and we haeecontrol over the
supply of those materials. In addition, our produate designed to work with these reagents as tieeguarently formulated. We have no control over fibrmulation of
reagents sold by third-party suppliers, and théoperance of our products might be adversely affédtéhe formulation of these reagents is chandfeshe or more of these
reagents were to become unavailable or were refatenll our ability to market and sell our produasld be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, the use of a reagent for a particplaicess may be covered by one or more patentingetatthe reagent itself, the use of the reagenttfe particular
process, the performance of that process, or thipegnt required to perform the process. Typicakyagent suppliers, who are either the patent h®loietheir authorized
licensees, sell the reagents along with a licens®wenant not to sue with respect to such pat&hislicense accompanying the sale of a reagemnt pfieports to restrict the
purposes for which the reagent may be used. Ifenpablder or authorized licensee were to assemsigas or our customers that the license or caviergdating to a
reagent precluded its use with our systems, olityatn sell and market our products could be matigrand adversely affected. For example, our BéokISystem involves
real-time quantitative PCR, or gPCR. Leading suguplof reagents for real-time qPCR reactions ireluife Technologies Corporation (now part of Therfisher
Scientific) and Roche Applied Science, who are orealicompetitors, and their licensees. These ne@-§PCR reagents are typically sold pursuanindéd licenses or
covenants not to sue with respect to patents hettldse companies. We do not have any contractpalysagreements for these real-time qPCR reagantsye cannot
assure you that these reagents will continue taviadable to our customers for use with our systemghat these patent holders will not seek to exfoheir patents against
us, our customers, or suppliers.
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We have limited experience in marketing, selling,rad distributing our products, and if we are unableto expand our direct sales and marketing force or idtribution
capabilities to adequately address our customers’aeds, our business may be adversely affected.

We have limited experience in marketing, sellingg distributing our products. Our BioMark and EPkt8yns for genomic analysis were introduced for cencral
sale in 2006 and 2008, respectively. Our Access ABgatem for sample preparation was introduced forroercial sale in 2009, our BioMark HD System for gaic
analysis was introduced for commercial sale in 20d began producing and selling assays for useowithFCs in May 2011, and we launched ourSIngle-Cell Auto
Prep System for single cell sample preparatiorsifogle-cell analysis in June 2012. We may not be bmarket, sell, and distribute our producteetfely enough to
support our planned growth. We sell our productsarily through our own sales force and throughritistors in certain territories. Our future sales @wépend in large pe
on our ability to develop and substantially expand direct sales force and to increase the scoperofarketing efforts. Our products are technicedignplex and used for
highly specialized applications. As a result, weddiit is necessary to develop a direct sales finvateincludes people with specific scientific baadunds and expertise,
and a marketing group with technical sophisticatidampetition for such employees is intense. We natybe able to attract and retain personnel obbeta build an
efficient and effective sales and marketing forekich could negatively impact sales of our prodaetd reduce our revenue and profitability.

In addition, we may continue to enlist one or maies representatives and distributors to assistsaiths, distribution, and customer support globadlin certain
regions of the world. If we do seek to enter intorsarangements, we may not be successful in aticadgsirable sales representatives and distribuiorse may not be
able to enter into such arrangements on favorabtest If our sales and marketing efforts, or thafseny third-party sales representatives and 8istors, are not successful,
our technologies and products may not gain maret@ance, which would materially and adverselyaotpur business operations.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracyand timing of our financial reporting may be impaired, which
could adversely affect our business and our stockrige.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other ththgswe maintain effective internal control overdncial reporting and disclosure controls and pfooes. In
particular, we must perform system and process atialuand testing of our internal control over fio&l reporting to allow management to report onefiectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting, asjuired by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.t€stng may reveal deficiencies in our internaltoirover financial
reporting that are deemed to be material weakne@sgszompliance with Section 404 requires that veaiirsubstantial accounting expense and expendisigmii
management time on complianadated issues. We currently do not have an intendit group, and we continue to evaluate our rfieeddditional accounting and financ
staff with appropriate public company experience &thnical accounting knowledge. Moreover, if wendbcomply with the requirements of Section 404if @re or our
independent registered public accounting firm idgmteficiencies in our internal control over fingal reporting that are deemed to be material wesdew the market price
of our stock could decline and we could be sub@sanctions or investigations by the NASDAQ Global MgraeNASDAQ, the SEC or other regulatory authoritigkjch
would require additional financial and managemesbueces.

Risks associated with a company-wide implementation @ enterprise resource planning, or ERP, system magdversely affect our business and results of
operations or the effectiveness of internal contrabver financial reporting.

We have been implementing a company-wide ERP sysidrandle the business and financial processeswatir operations and corporate functions. ERP
implementations are complex and tim@asuming projects that involve substantial expemels on system software and implementation a@gvifiat can continue for seve
years. ERP implementations also require transfoomaif business and financial processes in ordezap the benefits of the ERP system. Our busimassesults of
operations may be adversely affected if we expeei@perating problems and/or cost overruns durieg2RP implementation process, or if the ERP sysiedihe
associated process changes do not give rise teethefits that we expect. Additionally, if we do nifeetively implement the ERP system as planned thre system does
not operate as intended, it could adversely affexeffectiveness of our internal controls oveafioial reporting.

Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may rexd to raise additional funds in the future, which nay cause dilution to stockholders or may be upon tms that
are not favorable to us.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equitgleill be sufficient to meet our anticipated casfuirements for at least the next 18 months. Howyewe may
need to raise substantial additional capital fatotes purposes, including:

. expanding the commercialization of our prodt

. funding our operation
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. furthering our research and development;

. acquiring other businesses or assets and licetesitgologies

Our future funding requirements will depend on maamtdrs, including:

. market acceptance of our produ

. the cost of our research and development actiy

. the cost of filing and prosecuting patent applimasi

. the cost of defending, in litigation or otherwisay claims that we infringe thingiarty patents or violate other intellectual propeights

. the cost and timing of regulatory clearances oramds, if any

. the cost and timing of establishing additional saiearketing, and distribution capabiliti

. the cost and timing of establishing additional techl support capabilitie

. the effect of competing technological and markefeitgpments; ar

. the extent to which we acquire or invest in businegseducts, and technologies, although we currédralfe no commitments or agreements relating tc

of these types of transactions.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtditit@nal funds on acceptable terms, or at allvéfraise additional funds by issuing equity se@sjtour
stockholders may experience dilution. Debt finangihgvailable, may involve covenants restricting operations or our ability to incur additionabdeAny debt or
additional equity financing that we raise may camtarms that are not favorable to us or our stoltdrs. If we raise additional funds through collaimnm and licensing
arrangements with third parties, it may be necessarglinquish some rights to our technologiesrmroducts, or grant licenses on terms that atéavorable to us. If we
are unable to raise adequate funds, we may haiguiddte some or all of our assets, delay developrmecommercialization of our products, or licetsehird parties the
rights to commercialize products or technologiex the would otherwise seek to commercialize. We rlap have to reduce marketing, customer suppodttar resources
devoted to our products, or cease operations. Atlyese factors could harm our operating results.

Our ability to use net operating losses to offsetifure taxable income may be subject to certain lintations.

In general, under Section 382 of the Internal ReeeBode, a corporation that undergoes an “ownerdtapge” is subject to limitations on its ability utilize its pre-
change net operating losses, or NOLs, to offsetdutaxable income. If we undergo one or more ownprshanges, our ability to utilize NOLs could be lieai by
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. Futuamges in our stock ownership, some of which are @eisi our control, could result in an ownership deaonder
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code.

Risks Related to Our Recent Acquisition of DVS

Actual results relating to DVS may differ from any gudance issued by us concerning future revenue an@venue growth of DVS or the anticipated impact of the
acquisition on the operating results of the combimcompany, and these differences could be material.

We cannot provide assurances with respect to thesfuevenues or revenue growth rates we may readizeresult of our acquisition of DVS. DVS's revenhage
increased substantially in recent years, and weotlexpect revenue growth rates from sales of DV&slpcts to continue to grow after the merger atstirae rates DVS
has experienced in recent periods. Moreover, althdts revenues have grown on an annual basis @ntgears, DVS has experienced substantial quargudder
variations in levels of demand and revenue growtlitéanstruments and consumables, and we expatttiese variances may continue in the future. Aaltht risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual resultsfterdnaterially from currently anticipated resuitslude, but are not limited to, risks relatingotar ability to successfully
integrate DVS; our ability to commercialize DVS prothy market acceptance of DVS products; our ahitityuccessfully launch new products and applicatiomVS's
target markets; competition; our sales, marketimdj@istribution capabilities; our planned salesrkating, and research and development activitedyction in research a
development spending or changes in budget prisritiecustomers; interruptions or delays in the Buppcomponents or materials for, or manufacturfigbVS'’s products
which in certain cases are purchased through sdlsiagle source suppliers; seasonal variationsigtomer operations; unanticipated increases irs @arsgtxpenses; risks
associated with international operations; and theratisks identified in this prospectus and theuthoents incorporated by reference in this prospe@us actual financial
condition and results of operations following the DatSjuisition may not be consistent with, or evidenin, the guidance we provide. Other unknown or adjatable
factors also could harm our results. Consequeatlyal results or developments anticipated
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by us may not be realized or, even if substanti@lized, may not have the expected consequeagces ¢ffects on, us. Any failure to meet such goiacould have a
material adverse effect on the trading price oun@ of our stock.

Any failure to successfully integrate DVS's businessna operations or fully realize potential synergiesrom the acquisition in the expected time frame woldl
adversely affect our business, operating resultsnd financial condition.

We do not have a history of acquiring other comesnand the success of the DVS acquisition will dépenpart, on our ability to successfully integr&Vs'’s
business and operations and fully realize the ipatied benefits and potential synergies from coinbiour business with DVS'’s business. To realizedfsgicipated
benefits and potential synergies, we must succégsfoinbine these businesses. If we are unablehieae these objectives following the acquisitiorg #mticipated benefi
and potential synergies from the acquisition mayh®orealized fully or at all, or may take longerré¢alize than expected. Any failure to timely realihese anticipated
benefits would have a material adverse effect arbaginess, operating results, and financial céoit

We completed our acquisition of DVS in February 2@thd have only begun the integration process. Imection with the integration process, we could expe th
loss of key employees, loss of key customers, dsesein revenues and increases in operating esstgll as the disruption of our ongoing businesaeg or all of which
could limit our ability to achieve the anticipatieenefits and potential synergies from the acqoisiéind have a material adverse effect on our bssjmgerating results, and
financial condition.

DVS licenses core intellectual property rights coveng its products under agreements with several thirgparties. Termination of or disputes relating to ary of these
license agreements would have a material adverse extf on our business, operating results, and finaradi condition and could result in our inability to sll DVS's flow
cytometry products and otherwise to realize the berigs associated with the acquisition.

The intellectual property rights covering DVS’s puats depend in substantial part on license agreesmeéth third parties, in particular MDS, Inc., or MDand also
with other third parties such as Nodality, Inc., odallity. We understand that the licensed intelleigwaperty rights of MDS as well as MDS's rights astaligations under
the license agreement between DVS Sciences Inc., @mi®norporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of DBVS Canada, which changed its name to Fluidigm Can
Inc. immediately subsequent to the acquisitiortparent company), and MDS were subsequently assignand are now held by PerkinElmer Health Sesnhc., or
PerkinElmer. Under the PerkinElmer license agreeni2vi§ Canada received an exclusive, royalty bearmgldwide license to certain patents that are now ainye
PerkinElmer in the field of ICP-based flow cytonyetncluding the analysis of elemental tagged nialem connection therewith, and a non-exclusiverse for reagents
outside the field of ICP-based flow cytometry. DVS wadso party to an interim license agreement, nowredpunder which Nodality granted DVS a worldwide, nhon
exclusive, research use only, royalty bearing beeto certain cytometric reagents, instruments,adinelr products. DVS and Nodality are currently igeteations with
respect to a license agreement that would haveragrding when the last licensed patent expireadtition, DVS is party to additional in-license agreents with parties
such as Stanford University that relate to signifidatellectual property rights, and DVS’s businass product development plans anticipate and wilktantially depend
on future in-license agreements with additionaldtiparties, some of which are currently in the edidgussion phase.

In-licensed intellectual property rights that anadamental to the business being operated presergnous risks relating to ownership and enforceroéimttellectual
property rights. For example, under the PerkinEllivense, DVS is not granted any right, and we ddaoke any right to bring enforcement actions witgpeet to the
patents licensed from PerkinElmer, which could mallgrimpair our ability to preclude competitorscaather third parties from activities that we comsitb infringe on our
exclusively licensed rights. In other cases suchids Nodality, all or a portion of the license riglgranted may be limited for research use only iarie event we attempt
to expand into diagnostic applications, we woulddmuired to negotiate additional rights, which nmay be available to us on commercially reasonaitmsg, if at all.

In addition, DVS'’s licensors, including licensorsi¥S Canada, may generally terminate the applicit#ase agreement for uncured material breach#<DS
becomes insolvent, makes an assignment for thdibehereditors, or has a petition in bankruptéed against it. In the case of Nodality, the exigtlicense recently has
expired and our acquisition of DVS acquisition coattVersely affect DVS'ability to negotiate a definitive license on therently anticipated terms. Termination of matk
license agreements for any reason, including asultrof failure to obtain a required consent igrsment or as a result of an inability to negetamnew or extended license
where required, would result in a material loss ghit$ by us and DVS and would be expected to haveterialeadverse effect on our business, operatiaglt® and
financial condition. In particular, any such teratiion could prevent us from manufacturing andsgIDVS’s products unless we can negotiate new licerses or develop
or acquire alternative intellectual property rigtitat cover or enable similar functionality. While do not believe that any existing materiali@ense agreements require
consent of the licensor in order for us to relytloese licenses, the question is not free from dauitt one or more of DVS'’s or DVS Canada’s licensaduding
PerkinElmer, could contend that the failure to abtheir consent constituted a breach or defautienrthe applicable license agreement or requiredgetiation of a new
license. In the case of a dispute over these @raéims of the applicable
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license agreements with any of DVS's or DVS Canade&nbors, we cannot provide assurances that we evdblte to negotiate a new or amended license omeoaially
reasonable terms, if at all. Any dispute betweemasame of DVS's or DVS Canada’s existing licensonsoeoning the terms or conditions of the applicdickense
agreement, including with respect to its continugpliaation following the acquisition, could reswtnong other risks, in substantial managementadistn at a time when
our management would need to focus on the integrati Fluidigm and DVS; increased expenses assacvwith litigation or efforts to resolve disputespstantial custome
uncertainty concerning the direction of the combinempanies’ business; potential infringement cta@mgainst us and/or our customers, which could dteckfforts by a
licensor to enjoin sales of DVS or DVS Canada’s potsiuicustomer requests for indemnification by Riyndt and, in the event of an adverse determinatianjnability to
operate the business of DVS as currently operated a@l. Any of these factors would be expectedaweeha material adverse effect on our businessatipgresults, and
financial condition and could result in a subst@ndiecline in our stock price.

We cannot provide assurances that existing provisi@l application filings by DVS will result in issuedpatents or that any issued patents filed by DVS ots licensors
will protect DVS's technology.

DVS has sought patent protection in the United Statel internationally for certain aspects of ithtelogy through licensed intellectual property amthed
intellectual property. A significant portion of DVStsvned patent portfolio is in the form of provisibaaplication filings that would need to be coneerto non-provisional
U.S. patent applications or international patentiagfions. We cannot be sure that patents will lzatgd with respect to any of DVS’s owned or licensedljpgy patent
applications or with respect to any patent applicet filed by DVS or its licensors in the futurerman we be sure that any of DVS'’s existing ownedcenked patents or
any patents that may be granted to DVS or its licesisothe future will protect such technology. Fepects of DVS'’s technology for which patent protecticay not be
available, it has relied on protection through éradcrets, know-how, or continuing technologicabiration.

DVS is subject to certain obligations and restrictias relating to technologies developed in cooperatiovith Canadian government agencies.

Some of DVS’s Canadian research and developmentdgetlin part through government grants and by gowent agencies. The intellectual property developed
through these projects is subject to rights anttictisns in favor of government agencies and Céaregigenerally. In most cases the government agetains the right to
use intellectual property developed through thégatdor non-commercial purposes and to publishréselts of research conducted in connection vhighproject. This may
increase the risk of public disclosure of informatrelating to DVS's intellectual property, includiconfidential information, and may reduce its cefitive advantage in
commercializing intellectual property developedtigh these projects. In certain projects DVS hasadseed to use commercially reasonable effort®tomercialize
intellectual property in Canada, or more specifica the province of Ontario, for the economic biénef Canada and the province of Ontario. Thestrigtions will limit its
choice of business and manufacturing locationsnless partners and corporate structure and magrtain circumstances, restrict its ability to @&slei maximum
profitability and cost efficiency from the intelke@l property generated by these projects. In ns&ance, a dispute with the applicable governmerddd entity may require
mediation, which could lead to unanticipated delaysur commercialization efforts to that projgdne of DVS’s Canadian government funded projectdsis subject to
certain limited “march-in” rights in favor of thedgernment of the Province of Ontario, under which DV&/be required to grant a license to its intellatproperty,
including background intellectual property develdpeaitside the scope of the project, to a respamsipplicant on reasonable terms in circumstancesathe government
determines that such a license is necessary im toddleviate emergency or extraordinary healtsafety needs or for public use. In addition, DVS thpuevide reasonable
assistance to the government in obtaining simit@nises from third parties required in connectidth the use of its intellectual property. Instangewhich the government
of the Province of Ontario has exercised similarfechan” rights are rare; however, the exercise ahstights could materially adversely affect DVS'simess, operations
and financial condition.

We have made certain assumptions relating to the DV&cquisition which may prove to be materially inaccuate.

We have made certain assumptions relating to the &d8isition, which assumptions may be inaccura@uding as the result of the failure to realize éxpected
benefits of the DVS acquisition, failure to realeegected revenue growth rates, higher than expegtedting, transaction and integration costs, asagajeneral econom
and business conditions that adversely affect ¢inebined company following the DVS acquisition. Thasseumptions relate to numerous matters, including:

. projections of DVSS revenue growth rates and future rever
. our expected capital structure after the DVS actjois
. the amount of goodwill and intangibles that willuktsrom the DVS acquisitiol
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. certain other purchase accounting adjustmentsateatxpect will be recorded in our financial statetaém connection with the DVS acquisitit
. acquisition costs, including restructuring charged transaction cos

. our ability to maintain, develop and deepen retatfops with customers of DVS; ¢

. other financial and strategic risks of the DVS acgjois.

We and DVS may have difficulty attracting, motivating and retaining executives and other key employe@slight of the acquisition.

Uncertainty about the effect of the acquisition om and DVS'’s employees may have an adverse effeas @n DVS and, consequently, the combined business
resulting from the acquisition. This uncertaintyyniapair our and DVS'’s ability to attract, retaindamotivate key personnel in the months after thegerefor the combined
entity. Employee retention may be particularly &vaging as our and DVS’s employees may experiencertainty about their future roles with the combihediness.
Additionally, as a result of the acquisition, keypayees became entitled to receive a portion oftiuisition consideration, the payment of whichldquovide sufficient
financial incentive for certain officers and empdeg to no longer pursue employment with the combinisthess. In particular, we have identified sevieeglemployees,
including key scientific and technical employeeblpvihave been important to the development of DV®&slycts and technologies, and we have implementgdogment
compensation arrangements in connection with theisitign to ensure these individuals’ continued &yment with us. We cannot provide assurances kigeset
arrangements will sufficiently incentivize these leyployees to remain with Fluidigm or DVS after guoguisition. If key employees depart because ofisselating to the
uncertainty and difficulty of integration, finantiacentives or a desire not to become employedseo€ombined business, we may incur significantsciosidentifying,
hiring and retaining replacements for departing leges, which could substantially reduce or delayatility to realize the anticipated benefits of tcquisition.

Our and DVS'’s business relationships, including custoer relationships, may be subject to disruption duego uncertainty associated with the acquisition.

Parties with which we or DVS do business may experiencertainty associated with the acquisition, idaig with respect to current or future businesstietahips
with us, DVS, or the combined business. These busimationships may be subject to disruption astocners and others may attempt to negotiate changedsting
business relationships or consider entering ingirtass relationships with parties other than us, DW$e combined business, including our competitorthose of DVS.
These disruptions could have a material adversetedin the businesses, operating results, anddi@arondition of the combined business.

DVS or its employees may be subject to damages retsug from claims that it or its employees wrongfullyused or disclosed alleged trade secrets of former
employers of DVS employees or other institutions ahird parties with whom DVS employees may have beepreviously affiliated.

Many of DVS’s employees, including its founders, wereviously employed at universities or other lifesice companies, including current or potentiahgetitors
of DVS or Fluidigm. Although no litigation against D\iScurrently pending, DVS has in the past receiveticas from third parties alleging potential distices of
confidential information. As a result, we could beosubject to claims that DVS employees inadvertantlytherwise used or disclosed trade secrets er ptioprietary
information of their former employers or other thparties or institutions with whom DVS employees haye been previously affiliated. Litigation mayreressary to
defend against these claims. If we fail in defegdinch claims, in addition to paying monetary da@sagve may lose intellectual property rights of D¥Soss of key work
product of DVS personnel could hamper or preventadility to commercialize certain potential prodsjatrhich could severely harm DVS's business. Eveveifire
successful in defending against these claimsaliog could result in substantial costs and besaatition to management.

We will incur significant acquisition-related integration costs in connection with the acquisition.

We have developed a plan to integrate the opemttb®DVS with our business. In connection with thainpiwe anticipate that we will incur certain non-reicgy
charges in connection with this integration; howewer ,cannot identify the timing, nature and amourdlb$uch charges as of the date of this reporthEen we incurred
significant transaction costs relating to negatigand completing the acquisition. These integnatiosts and transaction expenses will be chargad agpense in the peri
incurred. The significant transaction costs andigition-related integration costs could materiaffect our results of operations in the perioaviiich such charges are
recorded. Although we believe that the eliminadmiuplicative costs, as well as the realizationtbier efficiencies related to the integration @& Husiness, will offset
incremental transaction and acquisition-relatedscoser time, this net benefit may not be achiewettie near term, or at all.
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The stated value of long-lived and intangible asseimay become impaired and result in an impairmentlearge.

As of September 30, 2013, after giving pro formaeifto the DVS acquisition, we would have had apprasgty $235 million of intangible assets and gootwil a
pro forma combined basis, all of which relateshi acquisition of DVS. In addition, if in the futune acquire additional complementary businessésabmnologies, a
substantial portion of the value of such assets beayecorded as intangible assets or goodwill. cBreying amounts of intangible assets and goodwélladfected whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate teatdtrying amount of any asset may not be recoler8boch events or changes might include a sigmifidecline in marke
share, a significant decline in revenues, a sigaifi increase in losses or decrease in profit&] @m@nges in technology, failure to achieve theelfies of capacity increases
and utilization, significant litigation arising oaf an acquisition or other matters. Adverse eventshanges in circumstances may affect the estimatdiscounted future
operating cash flows expected to be derived froanigible assets and goodwill. If at any time we deiee that an impairment has occurred, we will be ireguto reflect
the impaired value as a charge, resulting in acialuin earnings in the quarter such impairmemdésntified and a corresponding reduction in ourasset value. The
potential recognition of impairment in the carryivajue, if any, could have a material and adveffeeon our financial condition and results of og@®ns.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

Our ability to protect our intellectual property an d proprietary technology through patents and othemrmeans is uncertain.

Our commercial success depends in part on ouryatiliprotect our intellectual property and pro@igttechnologies. We rely on patent protection, netappropriate
and available, as well as a combination of copyrightle secret, and trademark laws, and nondis@psanfidentiality, and other contractual restdns to protect our
proprietary technology. However, these legal meafwschbnly limited protection and may not adequaiglgtect our rights or permit us to gain or keep emmpetitive
advantage. We apply for patents covering our pridaied technologies and uses thereof, as we deempajape. However, we may fail to apply for patemsimportant
products and technologies in a timely fashion allaiOur pending U.S. and foreign patent applicatioray not issue as patents or may not issue imatfmat will be
sufficient to protect our proprietary technologylagain or keep our competitive advantage. Any gatese have obtained or do obtain may be subje@-#xamination,
reissue, opposition, or other administrative prodeg or may be challenged in litigation, and subhllenges could result in a determination thaipéwent is invalid or
unenforceable. In addition, competitors may be #&blgesign alternative methods or devices thatdawdiingement of our patents. Both the patent impfibn process and
the process of managing patent disputes can bectimeuming and expensive.

Furthermore, the laws of some foreign countries matyprotect our intellectual property rights to #ane extent as do the laws of the United Statesyamy
companies have encountered significant problempsdtecting and defending such rights in foreignsgictions. Proceedings to enforce our patent sighforeign
jurisdictions could result in substantial cost aiert our efforts and attention from other aspe€tsur business. Changes in either the patent tarsinterpretations ¢
patent laws in the United States or other countriag diminish the value of our intellectual progelVe cannot predict the breadth of claims that imallowed or enforce
in our patents or in third-party patents. For exeEmp

. We might not have been the first to make the ineastcovered by each of our pending patent appdica

. We might not have been the first to file patentl@agions for these inventior

. The patents of others may have an adverse effeatiobusiness; ai

. Others may independently develop similar or altévegiroducts and technologies or duplicate anyuwfpsoducts and technologi

To the extent our intellectual property, includifggnsed intellectual property, offers inadequatstextion, or is found to be invalid or unenforcealour competitive
position and our business could be adversely aftect

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforceur patents and proprietary rights, to determine he scope, coverage and validity of others’ propriery rights,
or to defend against third party claims of intelletual property infringement, any of which could be tme-intensive and costly and may adversely impact obusiness
or stock price.

Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce @iept and proprietary rights, determine the scopegrage, and validity of others’ proprietary righand/or defend
against third party claims of intellectual propertfringement against us as well as against ouplgng, distributors, customers, and other entitiéh whom we do busines
Litigation could result in substantial legal feeslaould adversely affect the scope of our patesteption. The outcome of any litigation or otheongeeding is inherently
uncertain and might not be favorable to us, and wglhihmot be able to obtain licenses to technoldgy tve require. Even if such licenses are obtaindiséy may not be
available at a reasonable cost. We could theréfiorg substantial costs related to royalty paymémtéicenses obtained from third parties, whichldmegatively affect our
gross
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margins or financial position. Further, we could@mtter delays in product introductions, or intetioms in product sales, as we develop alternatigeéhods or products.

As we move into new markets and applications for eadpcts, incumbent participants in such markets assert their patents and other proprietary riggtsnst us
as a means of impeding our entry into such maxke#s a means to extract substantial license aradtygpayments from us. Our commercial success neggmd in part on
our non-infringement of the patents or proprietagits of third parties. Numerous significant ineelual property issues have been litigated, andiely continue to be
litigated, between existing and new participantsunexisting and targeted markets. For example, safroerr products provide for the testing and arialg$ genetic
material, and patent rights relating to geneticarials remain a developing area of patent law. AneteS. Supreme Court decision held, among othag#hithat claims to
isolated genomic DNA occurring in nature are not pigdigible, while claims relating to synthetic DNAambe patent eligible. We expect the ruling willulesn additional
litigation in our industry. In addition, third p&s may assert that we are employing their propsi¢echnology without authorization. For example,June 4, 2008 we
received a letter from Applied Biosystems, Inowtelly-owned subsidiary of Life Technologies Corpitma (now part of Thermo Fisher Scientific and colieely referred
to as Life), asserting that our BioMark Systemdene expression analysis infringes upon U.S. Paten6,814,934, or thé34 patent, and its foreign counterparts in Eu
and Canada. In June 2011, we resolved this dispuéatering into license agreements with Life whigimong other matters, granted us a non-exclusieasie to the ‘934
patent and its foreign counterparts.

Our customers have been sued for various claimgtefféctual property infringement in the past, arelexpect that our customers will be involved in &ddal
litigation in the future. In particular, our custers may become subject to lawsuits claiming that tise of our products infringes third-party pateghts, and we could
become subject to claims that we contributed timduced our customer’s infringement. In additionr agreements with some of our suppliers, distritstcustomers, and
other entities with whom we do business may requsréo defend or indemnify these parties to thergxteey become involved in infringement claims agaus, including
the claims described above. We could also volugtagree to defend or indemnify third parties iatances where we are not obligated to do so if werdete it would be
important to our business relationships. If we amuired or agree to defend or indemnify any oféhtésrd parties in connection with any infringemelatms, we could
incur significant costs and expenses that coul@hly affect our business, operating resultsinantial condition.

We depend on certain technologies that are licensed us. We do not control these technologies and ytoss of our rights to them could prevent us fronselling our
products, which would have an adverse effect on olbusiness.

We rely on licenses in order to be able to useouarproprietary technologies that are materialtobwusiness, including our core IFC and multi-layeft lithography
technologies. In some cases, we do not contrgbttbgecution, maintenance, or filing of the pateatwhich we hold licenses, or the enforcement oféhEtents against
third parties.

Our rights to use the technology we license are stitjethe negotiation and continuation of thoseries. Certain of our licenses contain provisibasdllow the
licensor to terminate the license upon specifiaditioms. Our rights under the licenses are sulifeour continued compliance with the terms of therise, including the
payment of royalties due under the license. Becafifee complexity of our products and the pateveshave licensed, determining the scope of thedieemd related
royalty obligation can be difficult and can leaddisputes between us and the licensor. An unfavoraBladution of such a dispute could lead to aneiase in the royalties
payable pursuant to the license. If a licensoreveli we were not paying the royalties due undelitbase or were otherwise not in compliance with #rens of the license,
the licensor might attempt to revoke the licenksuth an attempt were successful and the licernsensnated, we might be barred from marketing, poialy, and selling
some or all of our products, which would have areasw effect on our business. For example, pursoahe terms of a license agreement entered into vifé in June
2011, we were obligated to make a $1.0 million payrteehife upon satisfaction of certain conditio@n October 16, 2013, Life provided notice that tihed$million
payment was due and payable under the licenseragreeWe believe that at least one of the conditimiithe milestone payment remains unmet; howevepaieLife the
amount due while reserving our rights with respeatutch matter to, among other reasons, avoid whaldWwaye been, in our view, an improper terminatbour license tc
certain Life patent filings under the agreement,clidould have subject our relevant product linesskes associated with patent infringement litigatio

We are subject to certain manufacturing restrictiors related to licensed technologies that were devekxgpwith the financial assistance of U.S. governmeritgrants.

We are subject to certain U.S. government regulatiiecause we have licensed technologies that westopped with U.S. government grants. In accordarite
these regulations, these licenses provide thatustecmbodying the technologies are subject to dammanufacturing requirements. If this domestanofacturing
requirement is not met, the government agencyftimated the relevant grant is entitled to exercpergied rights, referred to as “march-in rightafiich if exercised
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would allow the government agency to require thengors or us to grant a non-exclusive, partialtiesive, or exclusive license in any field of usetthird party
designated by such agency. All of our microfluidistems revenue is dependent upon the availabflipuplFCs, which incorporate technology developethwd.S.
government grants. All of our instruments, includingrofluidic systems, and IFCs for commercial sade manufactured at our facility in Singapore. Téderal regulation
allow the funding government agency to grant, atréquest of the licensors of such technology, &evaif the domestic manufacturing requirement. \&es\may be
requested prior to any government notification. Nege assisted the licensors of these technologibsting analysis of the domestic manufacturing megmeént, and, in
December 2008, the sole licensor subject to theinement applied for a waiver of the domestic mantufileg requirement with respect to the relevant piatécensed to us
by this licensor. In July 2009, the funding goveemhagency granted the requested waiver of the siiemaanufacturing requirement for a three-yeaigogecommencing in
July 2009. In June 2012, the licensor requestazhéirmed waiver of the domestic manufacturing rezmient with respect to the relevant patents, bugtivernment agency
has not yet taken any action in response to tijsest. If the government agency does not grantettpeested waiver or the government fails to graditimhal waivers of
such requirement that may be sought in the futhen the U.S. government could exercise its mamafights with respect to the relevant patents Beghto us. In addition,
the license agreement under which the relevant {satea licensed to us contains provisions thagakbdi us to comply with this domestic manufacturieguirement. We are
not currently manufacturing instruments and IFC&hmUnited States that incorporate the relevaenied technology. If our lack of compliance witis fhrovision
constituted a material breach of the license agesé¢nthe license of the relevant patents coulcehmihated or we could be compelled to relocate camufacturing of
microfluidic systems and IFCs to the United Stateavoid or cure a material breach of the licenseegent. Any of the exercise of march-in rights,térenination of our
license of the relevant patents or the relocatfosuo manufacturing of microfluidic systems and B0 the United States could materially adversefgcabur business,
operations and financial condition.

We may be subject to damages resulting from claimfat we or our employees have wrongfully used or dismsed alleged trade secrets of our employees’ forme
employers.

Many of our employees were previously employed atersities or other life science or Ag-Bio companimcluding our competitors or potential compestto
Although no claims against us are currently pendivegymay be subject to claims that these employee® dave inadvertently or otherwise used or disclasmle secrets
other proprietary information of their former emyéos. Litigation may be necessary to defend agdeste claims. If we fail in defending such claimsaddition to paying
monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellegiugderty rights. A loss of key research personnekwooduct could hamper or prevent our ability terenercialize
certain potential products, which could severelythaur business. Even if we are successful in defignagainst these claims, litigation could resukubstantial costs and
be a distraction to management.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price may fluctuate significantly, particularly if holders of substantial amounts of our stek attempt to sell, and holders may have difficultyselling their
shares based on current trading volumes of our stéc In addition, numerous other factors could resultin substantial volatility in the trading price of our stock.

Our stock is currently traded on NASDAQ, but we can aewo assurance that we will be able to maintaiaciive trading market on NASDAQ or any other
exchange in the future. The trading volume of daclstends to be low relative to our total outstagdihares, and we have several stockholders, imgudfiliated
stockholders, who hold substantial blocks of ouclstéds of December 31, 2013, we had 25,810,890 shareommon stock outstanding, and stockholdergihglat least
5% of our stock, individually or with affiliated pgans or entities, collectively beneficially ownedcontrolled approximately 55% of such shares. Safdarge numbers of
shares by any of our large stockholders could admffect our trading price, particularly givearaelatively small historic trading volumes. Ibskholders holding shares
of our common stock sell, indicate an intentiorséd, or if it is perceived that they will sell, sibntial amounts of their common stock in the publarket, the trading price
of our common stock could decline. Moreover, ifrthis no active trading market or if the volumerafling is limited, holders of our common stock nhaye difficulty
selling their shares.

In addition, the trading price of our common stot&y be highly volatile and could be subject to wiidetuations in response to various factors, sometoch are
beyond our control. These factors include:

. actual or anticipated quarterly variation in owsuks of operations or the results of our compe;

. announcements or communications by us or oupetitors relating to, among other things, new conwiaéproducts, technological advances, significant
contracts, commercial relationships, capital commaiits, acquisitions or sales of businesses, andsmerceptions in or speculation by the market
regarding such announcements or communications;

. issuance of new or changed securities analygpsirts or recommendations for our st
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. developments or disputes concerning our intellégit@perty or other proprietary righ

. commencement of, or our involvement in, litigat

. market conditions in the life science, Bip, and clinical research sectc

. failure to complete significant sal

. manufacturing disruptions that could occur if we evanable to successfully expand our productioruincarrent or an alternative facili
. any future sales of our common stock or other sgesiiin connection with raising additional capitellotherwise

. any major change to the composition of our boardifctors or management; ¢

. general economic conditions and slow or negatieevgr of our market

The stock market in general, and market priceshfersecurities of technolodyased companies like ours in particular, have fliame to time experienced volatility t
often has been unrelated to the operating perfocmahthe underlying companies. These broad marketindustry fluctuations may adversely affectrtrarket price of our
common stock regardless of our operating performalmcseveral recent situations where the markeemf a stock has been volatile, holders of thatlshave instituted
securities class action litigation against the canypthat issued the stock. If any of our stockhdeere to bring a lawsuit against us, the defendedésposition of the
lawsuit could be costly and divert the time anértibn of our management and harm our operatingtses

If securities or industry analysts publish unfavorale research about our business or cease to coverrdusiness, our stock price and/or trading volumesould
decline.

The trading market for our common stock may redypart, on the research and reports that equigarek analysts publish about us and our businessid\ot have
any control of the analysts or the content andiopmincluded in their reports. The price of owrcétcould decline if one or more equity researcilysts downgrade our
stock or issue other unfavorable commentary orarebe If one or more equity research analysts ceemeerage of our company or fails to publish repon us regularly,
demand for our stock could decrease, which in totidccause our stock price or trading volume tdidec

Our directors, executive officers, and large stockblders have substantial control over and could lintiyour ability to influence the outcome of key trarsactions,
including changes of control.

As of December 31, 2013, our current executive afficdirectors, stockholders holding at least 5%uwfoutstanding stock, and their respective aféiBacollectively
beneficially owned or controlled approximately 56%ih®e outstanding shares of our common stock. Adiagiy, these executive officers, directors, lasggckholders, and
their respective affiliates, acting as a group, ltave substantial influence over the outcome gba@te actions requiring stockholder approval,udirg the election of
directors, any merger, consolidation or sale obaBubstantially all of our assets, or any otligmificant corporate transactions. These stockhsldgay also delay or preve
a change of control of us, even if such a changmofrol would benefit our other stockholders. Thymiicant concentration of stock ownership may adety affect the
trading price of our common stock due to investpesception that conflicts of interest may existdse.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents atl under Delaware law could make an acquisition of ysvhich may be beneficial to our stockholders, more
difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholcers to replace or remove our current management antimit the market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws may have the effect of delaying or preventirghange of control or changes in our manageretding
provisions that:

. authorize our board of directors to issue, withfouther action by the stockholders, up to 10,000,80ares of undesignated preferred s

. require that any action to be taken by our stodkis be effected at a duly called annual or spewgating and not by written conse

. specify that special meetings of our stockhalde=m be called only by our board of directors,di@rman of the board, the chief executive officethe
president;

. establish an advance notice procedure for stockhaldprovals to be brought before an annual meefingr stockholders, including proposed nominat

of persons for election to our board of directors;
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. establish that our board of directors is dividet ithree classes, Class |, Class Il, and Classvith each class serving staggered three year t
. provide that our directors may be removed onlycBuse

. provide that vacancies on our board of directorg brefilled only by a majority of directors thenaiffice, even though less than a quor

. specify that no stockholder is permitted to cunmilaites at any election of directors;

. require a super-majority of votes to amend @erdéthe abovenentioned provision

These provisions may frustrate or prevent any giteroy our stockholders to replace or remove oteot management by making it more difficult foocdtholders to
replace members of our board of directors, which is
responsible for appointing the members of our mansmt. In addition, because we are incorporated lavizee, we are governed by the provisions of Se@@of the
Delaware General Corporation Law, which limits the &piif stockholders owning in excess of 15% of oustanding voting stock to merge or combine with us.
We have never paid dividends on our capital stockand we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends ithe foreseeable future.

We have paid no cash dividends on any of our ctagEeapital stock to date, have contractual retitris against paying cash dividends, and currentgnd to retain
our future earnings to fund the development anevtitf our business. As a result, capital appreaiaifoany, of our common stock will be stockholdessle source of gai
for the foreseeable future.

Risks Related to Our Outstanding 2.75% Senior Conveible Notes due 2034
Our outstanding 2.75% senior convertible notes du@034 are effectively subordinated to our secured téand any liabilities of our subsidiaries.

Our outstanding 2.75% senior convertible notes @82 2which we refer to as our “notes” rank:

. senior in right of payment to any of our indebtesinthat is expressly subordinated in right of paynte the note

. equal in right of payment to all of our liabilitiéisat are not so subordinat

. effectively junior in right of payment to any of iosecured indebtedness to the extent of the vdlthee@ssets securing such indebtednes:
. structurally junior to all indebtedness and otlibilities (including trade payables) of our sulisiks

In February 2014, we completed our offering of natéh an aggregate outstanding principal amount28fl$3 million. In the event of our bankruptcy, lidation,
reorganization or other winding up, our assetssbatire debt ranking senior in right of paymerthtonotes will be available to pay obligations o hotes only after the
secured debt has been repaid in full from thesetsisand the assets of our subsidiaries will bdahla to pay obligations on the notes only afteckaims senior to the note
have been repaid in full. There may not be suffic&ssets remaining to pay amounts due on any of @ile notes then outstanding. The indenture gumg the notes does
not prohibit us from incurring additional seniohti®r secured debt, nor does it prohibit our subsigs from incurring additional liabilities.

The notes are our obligations only and some of owperations are conducted through, and a portion obur consolidated assets are held by, our subsidias.

The notes are our obligations exclusively and ategnaranteed by any of our operating subsidiafgsortion of our consolidated assets is held bysubsidiaries.
Accordingly, our ability to service our debt, inclad the notes, depends in part on the results efadjpns of our subsidiaries and upon the abilityuzh subsidiaries to
provide us with cash, whether in the form of dividgridans or otherwise, to pay amounts due on oligaitons, including the notes. Our subsidiariessmgarate and
distinct legal entities and have no obligation, taayent or otherwise, to make payments on the raités make any funds available for that purposeaddition, dividends,
loans or other distributions to us from such subsigs may be subject to contractual and otherictisins and are subject to other business anddasgiderations.

Recent and future regulatory actions and other evestmay adversely affect the trading price and liquidy of the notes.

We expect that many investors in, and potentiatipasers of, the notes will employ, or seek to empogonvertible arbitrage strategy with respechéortotes.
Investors would typically implement such a stratbgyselling short the common stock underlying thees@nd dynamically adjusting their short positidrile continuing to
hold the notes. Investors may also implement thpe bf strategy by entering into swaps on our comstook in lieu of or in addition to short sellinget
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common stock. As a result, any specific rules reqdeequity swaps or short selling of securitie®threr governmental action that interferes with thiéitg of market
participants to effect short sales or equity swajtls respect to our common stock could adverselgcaffhe ability of investors in, or potential puaskers of, the notes to
conduct the convertible arbitrage strategy thabeleeve they will employ, or seek to employ, witlspect to the notes. This could, in turn, adveraéfgct the trading price
and liquidity of the notes.

The SEC and other regulatory and self-regulatotiiarities have implemented various rules and taltain actions, and may in the future adopt aolditi rules and
take other actions, that may impact those engagisgort selling activity involving equity secugs (including our common stock). Such rules anebastinclude Rule 201
of SEC Regulation SHO, the adoption by the Finarloidlistry Regulatory Authority, Inc. and the natibsecurities exchanges of a “Limit Up-Limit Down"qgram, the
imposition of market-wide circuit breakers that hediding of securities for certain periods followisigecific market declines, and the implementatibceotain regulatory
reforms required by the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Refand Consumer Protection Act of 2010. Althoughdhiection and magnitude of the effect that RegoiaEHO,
FINRA, securities exchange rule changes and implestientof the Dodd-Frank Act may have on the tragirige and the liquidity of the notes will dependawariety of
factors, many of which cannot be determined at #te df the prospectus, past regulatory actiondh(asaertain emergency orders issued by the SRG08 prohibiting
short sales of stock of certain financial servicesmpanies) have had a significant impact on thaingaprices and liquidity of convertible debt instrents. Any governmen
or regulatory action that restricts the abilityimfestors in, or potential purchasers of, the ntiexffect short sales of our common stock, borrowammmon stock or enter
into swaps on our common stock or increases the cdstnplementing an arbitrage strategy could askigraffect the trading price and the liquiditytbé notes.

Volatility in the market price and trading volume of our common stock could adversely impact the tradig price of the notes.

The stock market in recent years has experiencgifisant price and volume fluctuations that hatfte been unrelated to the operating performana®woifpanies.
The market price of our common stock could fluatusignificantly for many reasons, including in resge to the risks described in this section, elsesvimethis prospectus
and the documents we have incorporated by refertegiegn, or for reasons unrelated to our operatisunsh as reports by industry analysts, investorgmions or negative
announcements by our customers, competitors odisgppegarding their own performance, as well asistiy conditions and general financial, economid palitical
instability. A decrease in the market price of oammon stock would likely adversely impact the ingdporice of the notes. The market price of our oan stock could also
be affected by possible sales of our common stgdk\estors who view the notes as a more attractigans of equity participation in us and by hedgingrbitrage trading
activity that we expect to develop involving our gaonm stock. This trading activity could, in turnfeaft the trading price of the notes.

We may still incur substantially more debt or takeother actions which would intensify the risks discus=d above.

We currently have a financing arrangement pursteawntich we may incur up to $10 million of revolvasrbowings and our subsidiaries may be able to incur
substantial additional debt, subject to the resbms contained in such arrangement or our futets chstruments, some of which may be secured Wébtare not restricted
under the terms of the indenture governing thesstem incurring additional debt, securing existorguture debt, recapitalizing our debt or takangumber of other actiol
that are not limited by the terms of the indeniyweerning the notes that could have the effecimifrdshing our ability to make payments on the sotden due. Any failui
by us or any of our significant subsidiaries to maky payment at maturity of indebtedness for eetbmoney in excess of $15 million or the accelematif any such
indebtedness in excess of $15 million would, sulije¢he terms of the indenture governing the natesstitute a default under the indenture. If #ygayment of the related
indebtedness were to be accelerated after any apfgiootice or grace periods, we may not havedeffi funds to repay the notes when required.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds nessary to repurchase the notes upon specified datesupon a fundamental change, and our future debt my
contain limitations on our ability to repurchase the notes.

Holders of the notes have the right to require ugpairchase all or a portion of their notes onaiertiates or upon the occurrence of a fundamehtaige at a
repurchase price equal to 100% of the principalamhof the notes to be repurchased, plus accrueédiapaid interest, if any. We may not have enouglil@ble cash or be
able to obtain financing at the time we are requicenhake repurchases of notes surrendered therefor.

In addition, our ability to repurchase the notey e limited by law, regulatory authority or agreersegoverning our future indebtedness. Our faitareepurchase
notes at a time when the repurchase is requiretiédintienture would constitute a default under tiermture. A default under the indenture or the fumelatal change itself
could also lead to a default under agreements goxgour future indebtedness. If the repaymenhefrelated indebtedness were to be acceleratedaafteapplicable notic
or grace periods, we may not have sufficient fulndepay the indebtedness and repurchase the whesrequired.

38




Table of Contents

Future sales of our common stock in the public mar&t could cause our stock price to decline and advegly impact the trading price of the notes.

In the future, we may sell additional shares of@mmon stock to raise capital. The market priceusfcommon stock could decline as a result of safleslarge
number of shares of our common stock in the mageaatjcularly sales by our directors, executiveagffs, employees, and significant stockholders,taegerception that
these sales could occur may also depress the nmi&etof our common stock and the trading pricéhefnotes. As of December 31, 2013, we had 25,80G;Bares of
common stock outstanding.

Substantial sales of our common stock may makererdifficult for us to sell equity or equity-linkesecurities in the future at a time and at a ptheg we deem
appropriate. These sales also could cause our ptagkand the trading price of the notes to fall anake it more difficult for holders of the notasthe shares of our
common stock received upon conversion of the notes.

Holders of notes are not entitled to any rights withrespect to our common stock, but they are subje¢o all changes made with respect to them to the esqit our
conversion obligation includes shares of our commostock.

Holders of notes are not entitled to any rights wétspect to our common stock (including, withoutitation, voting rights and rights to receive anyidéends or other
distributions on our common stock) prior to the wension date with respect to any notes they suaefat conversion, but they are subject to all demnaffecting our
common stock. For example, if an amendment is megdo our certificate of incorporation or bylawguiring stockholder approval and the record datelétermining the
stockholders of record entitled to vote on the adn@ent occurs prior to the conversion date with ressfmeany notes surrendered for conversion, therhtider surrendering
such notes will not be entitled to vote on the ameet, although such holder will nevertheless bgestilo any changes affecting our common stock.

We have made only limited covenants in the indenter governing the notes, and these limited covenantsy not protect your investment.

The indenture governing the notes does not:

. require us to maintain any financial ratios pedfic levels of net worth, revenues, income, déshis or liquidity and, accordingly, does not preitholders
of the notes in the event that we experience agwranges in our financial condition or resultspérations;

. limit our subsidiariesability to guarantee or incur indebtedness that doahk structurally senior to the no

. limit our ability to incur additional indebtednegscluding secured indebtedne

. restrict our subsidiaries’ ability to issue setieis that would be senior to our equity interésteur subsidiaries and therefore would be strutifusgnior to
the notes;

. restrict our ability to repurchase our securi

. restrict our ability to pledge our assets or thofseur subsidiaries; |

. restrict our ability to make investments or payidiands or make other payments in respect of oumnommstock or our other indebtedn:

Furthermore, the indenture governing the notesatosonly limited protections in the event of amge of control. We could engage in many typesadfgactions,
such as acquisitions, refinancings or certain réaligations, that could substantially affect oapital structure and the value of the notes ancdcoommon stock but may not
constitute a “fundamental change” that permits édo require us to repurchase their notes orakéawhole fundamental change” that permits holdeconvert their
notes at an increased conversion rate. For thasems, the limited covenants in the indenture gomgrthe notes may not protect your investmenhértotes.

The increase in the conversion rate for notes consted in connection with a make-whole fundamental chage or provisional redemption may not adequately
compensate you for any lost value of your notes asresult of such transaction or redemption.

If a make-whole fundamental change occurs priorefor&rary 6, 2021 or upon our issuance of a notigg@fisional redemption, under certain circumstanoe will
increase the conversion rate by a number of additishares of our common stock for notes conventednnection such events. The increase in theersion rate for note
converted in connection with such events may notjaately compensate you for any lost value of yaies as a result of such transaction or redempitioaddition, if the
price of our common stock in the transaction isatgethan $180.00 per share or less than $39.9¢haee

39




Table of Contents

(in each case, subject to adjustment), no additsimares will be added to the conversion rate. ldheee, in no event will the conversion rate per $0,p€incipal amount of
notes as a result of this adjustment exceed 25.8R&f®s of common stock, subject to adjustment.

Our obligation to increase the conversion rate fites converted in connection with such events cbaldonsidered a penalty, in which case the enfbilityethereof
would be subject to general principles of reasomadse and equitable remedies.

The conversion rate of the notes may not be adjustdor all dilutive events.

The conversion rate of the notes is subject tostdjant for certain events, including, but not Iexito, the issuance of certain stock dividendsworcommon stock,
the issuance of certain rights or warrants, subidings combinations, distributions of capital stoickiebtedness, or assets, cash dividends andrcessaier tender or
exchange offers. However, the conversion rate willoadjusted for other events, such as a thirtspander or exchange offer or an issuance of comstack for cash,
that may adversely affect the trading price ofrib&es or our common stock. An event that advers#écts the value of the notes may occur, andghant may not result in
an adjustment to the conversion rate.

Some significant restructuring transactions may notonstitute a fundamental change, in which case we wdunot be obligated to offer to repurchase the note

Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, a hofdetes has the right to require us to repurelthe notes. However, the fundamental change pomasiill not
afford protection to holders of notes in the evanther transactions that could adversely affieetrtotes. For example, transactions such as le@ragapitalizations,
refinancings, restructurings, or acquisitions ati&éd by us may not constitute a fundamental cheeqéring us to repurchase the notes. In the eveany such transaction,
the holders would not have the right to requireauspurchase the notes, even though each of tresmattions could increase the amount of our iredi#tgtss, or otherwise
adversely affect our capital structure or any drestings, thereby adversely affecting the holadnsotes.

In addition, absent the occurrence of a fundametahge or a makehole fundamental change as described under chamgfes composition of our board of direct
will not provide holders with the right to require tasrepurchase the notes or to an increase inaheetsion rate upon conversion.

We cannot assure you that an active trading markewill develop for the notes.

There has historically been no trading marketierriotes, and we do not intend to apply to listihies on any securities exchange or to arranggutation on any
automated dealer quotation system. In additionlitjuédity of the trading market in the notes ahéd tarket price quoted for the notes may be adiyeaffected by changes
in the overall market for this type of security @mdchanges in our financial performance or progpecin the prospects for companies in our ingugémerally. As a result,
we cannot assure you that an active trading marllelevelop for the notes. If an active trading ketrdoes not develop or is not maintained, the etgskice and liquidity
of the notes may be adversely affected. In thag gas may not be able to sell your notes at aqaati time or you may not be able to sell your satea favorable price.

Any adverse rating of the notes may cause their tradg price to fall.

We do not intend to seek a rating on the notes. Wewéf a rating service were to rate the notesifisdch rating service were to lower its rating ba hotes below tt
rating initially assigned to the notes or othervasaounces its intention to put the notes on credith, the trading price of the notes could decline.

Holders of notes may be subject to tax if we make dail to make certain adjustments to the conversiomate of the notes even though you do not receive a
corresponding cash distribution.

The conversion rate of the notes is subject tostdjant in certain circumstances, including the paynof cash dividends. If the conversion rate jsstéd as a result
of a distribution that is taxable to our commorcktmlders, such as a cash dividend, you may be el@¢orhave received a dividend subject to U.S. ddecome tax
without the receipt of any cash. In addition, aufiadlto adjust (or to adjust adequately) the conoenste after an event that increases your prapuate interest in us could
be treated as a deemed taxable dividend to yaumridke-whole fundamental change occurs prior tolge6, 2021 or we provide notice of a provisioralemption, under
some circumstances, we will increase the conversitnfor notes converted in connection with the eagkole fundamental change or provisional redemptsareh increas
may also be treated as a distribution subject to fédral income tax as a dividend. For a kb8- holder, any deemed dividend would be subgett.&. federal withholdir
tax at a 30% rate, or such lower rate as may béfigukby an applicable treaty, which may be setagfainst subsequent payments on the notes.
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Any conversions of the notes will dilute the ownersp interest of our existing stockholders, includingholders who had previously converted their notes.

Any conversion of some or all of the notes will tddiuhe ownership interests of our existing stockéiddAny sales in the public market of our commaelsissuable
upon such conversion could adversely affect prangaiharket prices of our common stock. In additidme existence of the notes may encourage shdirigsbly market
participants because the conversion of the notelsl depress the price of our common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease approximately 48,000 square feet of offivek laboratory space at our headquarters in Ssanh-rancisco, California under a lease that exirépril 2020.
The leases for approximately 28,000 square fertasfufacturing and office space at our currentitgdih Singapore will terminate on September 30,204dditionally, we
have entered into a lease for a new manufactuaaijtiy in Singapore, which expires on June 1, 26281 we expect to consolidate our manufacturingadjoas in the new
space in the third quarter of 2014. As of Decenigr2013, we also leased office space in JapanaChind France, with various expiration dates thrddgich 2016. We
believe that our existing office, laboratory andnmfacturing space, together with additional spamkfacilities under our new Singapore lease andratise available on
commercially reasonable terms, will be sufficientrteet our needs through 2016. In addition, we belteat our properties are in good condition andadexjuate and
suitable for their purposes.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On November 6, 2012, we filed a complaint against I$ameg Technologies, Inc., or NanoString, in the BdiStates District Court in the Northern District of
California (Civil Action No. 12-5712), alleging clasrof false advertising, unfair competition, andawful trade practice in violation of the Lanham Antlacorresponding
sections of the California Business & ProfessiondéC Our complaint sought to enjoin NanoString framtimuing to make or disseminate any of the fate misleading
claims, misrepresenting and/or exaggerating thispaance of its product in comparison with our Biafd System, to require NanoString to retract, removeorrect the
false and misleading advertising claims, and tovec damages and other relief for harm caused by WanoString. On January 4, 2013, NanoString areivisre
complaint, denying the allegations against it. Onil&#, 2013, we amended our complaint to add newsfand information in support of our existing clairon May 9,
2013, NanosString filed an amended answer, denyinfuttiger allegations against it. The parties engagenritten discovery and document production, anjdry trial was
set to begin on March 24, 2014. In addition, wedfielawsuit on April 5, 2013 in Singapore againshd&iring in the High Court of the Republic of Sipgee (Case No. S
282/2013), alleging malicious falsehood in advergsand trademark infringement and sought reliefilsir to the relief sought in our complaint filaathe United States. On
September 30, 2013, we and NanoString agreed te Hegtlawsuits. The terms of the settlement reqaroString to, among other things, remove all exfees — from its
marketing materials, website, and promotional aii¢isi— to a single-cell comparison study compaRhgdigm and NanoString single-cell products, as asltecall and
destroy all materials related to and/or based ersthdy. The case brought in the United StatesiBti€ourt in the Northern District of California wdsmissed on October
22, 2013, and the case brought in Singapore wasmtisued on October 29, 2013.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOL DER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market for Our Common Stock; Dividends

Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Globalkgtamnder the symbol “FLDMbdn February 10, 2011. The following table setshfdinie range of high ar
low closing sales prices of our common stock forgaeods indicated:

Year ended December 31, 2013 High Low
First Quarter $19.38 $14.27
Second Quarter $19.04 $16.00
Third Quarter $23.26 $16.59
Fourth Quarter $39.37 $21.55
Year ended December 31, 2012 High Low
First Quarter $16.5: $12.6(
Second Quarter $15.7¢ $12.7(
Third Quarter $17.1¢ $12.8(
Fourth Quarter $17.1( $13.6¢

We had approximately 130 stockholders of recordfd&ebruary 28, 2014; however, because many of oistanding shares are held in accounts with brakedsothe
institutions, we believe we have more beneficial ownéfe have never declared or paid dividends orconmmon stock and do not expect to pay dividendsusrcommon
stock for the foreseeable future. Instead, we godteithat all of our earnings in the foreseealtieréuwill be used for the operation and growth of business.
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Stock Performance Graph

The following performance graph shall not be deefiseticiting material” or to be “filed” with the Secities and Exchange Commission for purposes ofi@e&8 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendetiedexchange Act, or otherwise subject to the ligbsd under that Section, and shall not be deeméx incorporated kt
reference into any filing of Fluidigm Corporationder the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

The following graph shows a comparison from Febrddry2011 (the date our common stock commenceéhtramh the NASDAQ Global Market) through
December 31, 2013 of cumulative total return for cammon stock, the NASDAQ Composite Total Return Index, the ICB Medical Equipment Index. Such retuares
based on historical results and are not intendsdiggest future performance. Data for the NASDAQ Coitgpd®tal Return Index, and the ICB Medical Equiprhassume
reinvestment of dividends.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN#*
Among Fluidigm Corporation, NASDAQ
Composite Total Return Index and ICB Medical Device Index
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Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Use of Proceeds

On February 9, 2011, our registration statementamFS-1 (File No. 333-170965) was declared effedtivehe initial public offering of our common stqabr IPO.
Through December 31, 2013, the net proceeds frantiRid have been applied as follows: $5.0 milliontfee repayment of promissory notes issued in Jar2@ty, $5.0
million for the repayment of our bank line of credi44.3 million for research and development espsn$10.2 million for general corporate purposekuding selling,
general and administrative expenses, and litigat@tiement expense, and $7.5 million for capixplemditures. On June 30, 2011, we paid $3.0 milliboonnection with
the settlement of certain patent litigation wittieLTechnologies Corporation (now part of ThermdEisScientific), or Life. In July 2011, we paid Liéa additional $2.0
million in connection with our exercise of an optiender the terms of our agreements with Life tdtlion preclude certain patent litigation between plaeties over a period
of two to four years. Other than the aggregate paywfe$5.0 million to Life, there has been no matkchange in the planned use of proceeds fromRQrftom that
described in the final prospectus filed with the SE@suant to Rule 424(b) on February 10, 2011.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data should bedriaconjunction with the consolidated financiatetaents and related notes thereto appearing elsewhdhis
Form 10-K. We have derived the consolidated statémieoperations data for the years ended DeceBthe2013 , 2012 , and 2011 and consolidated balsimeet data as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012 from audited consolidatadcial statements included elsewhere in thisiF00-K. The consolidated statement of operationa ftatthe
fiscal years ended December 31, 2010 and Decemb@08® and the consolidated balance sheet datelxecember 31, 2011 , December 31, 2010, and Deae®ibe
2009 were derived from audited consolidated findratetements that are not included in this FornK10-

Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Total revenue $ 71,18: $ 52,33 % 42,868 $ 33,56( $ 25,41:

Loss from operations (18,657 (18,077 (18,56¢€) (14,577 (18,037
Net loss attributed to common stockholders (16,52¢) (29,029 (32,370 (16,909 (29,129
Net loss per share attributed to common stockhs]desic and diluted (0.65) (0.8¢) (2.81) (8.99 (11.09)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash, cash equivalents, and short and long-terestments $ 86,28t $ 83,677 $ 54,967 $ 572: % 14,60:

Working capital 89,35« 91,50( 51,87 3,70¢ 22,11:

Total assets 116,91! 113,73: 79,32¢ 24,80: 32,15:¢

Total long-term debt — — 10,13¢ 14,70( 14,46:

Convertible preferred stock — — — 184,55( 183,84!
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 96,41« 100,65 56,897 (189,16 (173,619

a4




Table of Contents

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND  RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should beltegether with our consolidated financial statetseand the notes to those statements included eésevirthis
Form 1(-K. This discussion contains forward-looking statataéased on our current expectations, assumptesisnates and projections about Fluidigm and ouustdy.
These forward-looking statements involve risks amzkrtainties. Our actual results could differ maadisi from those indicated in these forward-lookirtgtements as a
result of certain factors, as more fully describedRisk factors” in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, ihis Item 7, and elsewhere in this FormKOExcept as may be required
law, we undertake no obligation to update publafy forward-looking statements for any reason, éizaew information becomes available or other evewtur in the
future.

On February 13, 2014, we completed the acquisitiodb\é® Sciences, Inc., or DVS, which develops, manuésctmnarkets, and sells multi-parameter single-cell
protein analysis systems. The information set forthe following discussion and analysis relatemgipally to our business of manufacturing, markgtiand sellinc
microfluidic systems for single-cell genomics, agptienotyping, and sample preparation for targetesbrpiencing. For information relating to the acqudsitof DVS and
DVS's business, please refer to the sections ehtiasines—Recent Developments—Acquisition of DVS Sciencesahtt"—Business of DVS.”

Overview

We develop, manufacture, and market microfluidistegns to academic institutions, clinical laborasyiand pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and agurlit
biotechnology (Ag-Bio) companies in growth markstsch as single-cell genomics, applied genotypind,sample preparation for targeted resequencingpfprietary
microfluidic systems consist of instruments andstonables, including integrated fluidic circuits@$), assays, and reagents. We actively marketicznofluidic systems,
including 18 different commercial IFCs, and thramflies of assay chemistries. Our systems are degigmsignificantly simplify experimental workflowpdrease
throughput, and reduce costs, while providing ercgltiata quality. In addition, our proprietary tealogy enables genetic analysis that in many ingsmas previously
impractical. As of December 31, 2013, we sold appnatély 920 systems to customers in 35 countriesdmade.

We have launched several product lines, includimgBioMark System for gene expression analysispggring, and digital polymerase chain reactiondigital PCR,
in 2006; our EP1 System for single nucleotide palyphism, or SNP, genotyping, and digital PCR in 2@8 Access Array System for target enrichment id2@ur
BioMark HD System for high-throughput gene expressipalysis, single-cell targeted gene expressiolysisaSNP genotyping, and digital PCR in 2011; endC,
Single-Cell Auto Prep System for single cell sampigparation in June 2012. In addition, in May 204& launched assay products, including our DELT Agassays for
gene expression; our SNPtype assays for SNP gengtygnd our Access Array Target-Specific primers &ogéted next-generation DNA sequencing. Our systéifieu
one or more IFCs designed for particular applicetiand include specialized instrumentation andvso#t, as well as assays and other reagents forrcapplications.

We distribute our microfluidic systems through direct sales force and support organizations lacaté&lorth America, Europe, and Asia-Pacific, anatiyh
distributors or sales agents in several Europeatin lAmerican, Middle Eastern, and Aftacific countries. Our manufacturing operationspaimarily located in Singapor
Our facility in Singapore manufactures our instrutseseveral of which are assembled at facilitieswfcontract manufacturers in Singapore, with ngséind calibration of
the assembled products performed at our Singapeiiéty. All of our IFCs for commercial sale and seti-Cs for our research and development purposehbricated at
our Singapore facility. Our South San Franciscadlifgdabricates IFCs for our research and developnpeirposes, and manufactures our assays and p®dtieer reagents
for commercial sale.

Our total revenue grew from $42.9 million in 2011$@1.2 million in 2013. We have incurred significaet losses since our inception in 1999 and, &egkember 31,
2013, our accumulated deficit was $257.3 million.

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgments ad Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and the rlat¢es included elsewhere in this Form 10-K aregmegpin accordance with accounting principles geiyera
accepted in the United States. The preparationesiticonsolidated financial statements requires mske estimates and assumptions that affect freetesl amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue, costs, and expenstsedated disclosures. We base our estimatessporisial experience and on various other assumptitett we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Changes inrmtotg estimates may occur from period to perioccakdingly, actual results could differ significanfrom the estimate
made by our management. We evaluateestimates and assumptions on an ongoing basisieTextent that there are material differences betwleese estimates and ac
results, our future financial statement presentafionancial condition, results of operations, @agh flows will be affected.
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We believe that the following critical accountinglipies involve a greater degree of judgment andmlexity than our other accounting policies. Acdogly, these ar
the policies we believe are the most critical tdenstanding and evaluating our consolidated firer@indition and results of operations. Our accogngiolicies are more
fully described in Note 2 of the notes to our aeditonsolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie and collaboration arrangements, and goverrgnants. Our product revenue consists of salesstfiments
and related services, and consumables, includi@g,|Bssays, and other reagents.

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred or sesvi@ve been rendered, the price to the custorfieredsor
determinable, and collectability is reasonably esduRevenue from the sales of our products theahat part of multiple element arrangements aregeized when no
significant obligation remains undelivered and edfion is reasonably assured, which is generally vdedimery has occurred. Delivery occurs when ther transfer of title
and risk of loss passes to the customer. Paymea#$ved in advance of revenue recognition are ifiedss deferred revenue in the consolidated lcalaheet.

The evaluation of these revenue recognition categguires significant management judgment. Fdante, we use judgment to assess collectabilitycbasdactors
such as the customertreditworthiness and past collection historgpplicable. If we determine that collection is resisonably assured, revenue recognition is defermgl
receipt of payment. We also use judgment to asshsther a price is fixed or determinable by, amotiger things, reviewing contractual terms and coo related to
payment.

Certain of our sales contracts involve the deliv@rynultiple products or services within contracty&linding arrangements. Significant judgment imstimes
required to determine the appropriate accountingdich arrangements, including whether the delivesadpecified in a multiple element arrangementikhbe treated as
separate units of accounting for revenue recognijtiorposes and, if so, how the related sales phoeld be allocated among the elements, when tgnéo®revenue for
each element, and the period over which revenueldt@ recognized.

For sales contracts that include multiple delivegabwe allocate the contract consideration atrtbeption of the contract to each unit of accountiased upon their
relative selling prices. We may use our best eséroéselling price for individual deliverables wheendor specific objective evidence or thpdrty evidence is unavailab
A delivered item is considered to be a separateairitcounting when it has value to the customea stand-alone basis.

Our products, other than for service contractsdatiwered within a short time frame, generally witloine to three months, of the contract date. Serantracts are
entered into for terms of one to three years, falhg the expiration of the warranty period.

Our products are sold without the right of returccAials are provided for estimated warranty expeaséhe time the associated revenue is recogri¥eduse
judgment to estimate these accruals and, if we teeegperience an increase in warranty claims oosts of servicing our products under warranty weeaigr than oL
estimates, our cost of product revenue could beraely affected in future periods.

We have entered into license and collaborationeagests with third parties that generally providevith up-front and periodic milestone payments. Resxefrom
license agreements is recognized when receivethntgiayments are generally recognized over the tdrthe underlying agreement and milestone paysnemet generally
recognized based upon the achievement of the milestas defined in the agreement.

We receive grants from various governmental estiibe research and related activities. Grants puglwith payments for certain types of researchdawvelopment
activities performed over a contractually definedipd. Grant revenue is recognized in the perioéhduvhich the related costs are incurred, provithed the conditions
under which the grants were provided have been ntetv@ have only perfunctory obligations outstandfagounts received in advance of revenue recognérerclassifier
as deferred revenue in the consolidated balanagsheosts associated with grants are includedsgareh and development expenses in the consoligtttents of
operations.

Changes in judgments and estimates regarding apiplicof these revenue recognition guidelines dbsagechanges in facts and circumstances couldtriesa change
in the timing or amount of revenue recognized inifel periods.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee services receaiverchange for an award of equity instruments, dlioly stock options and restricted stock units, basethe grant
date fair value of the award. The fair value of ops on the grant date is
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estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricinglalpwhich requires the use of certain subjectssiemptions, including expected term, volatilitgkriree interest rate
and the fair value of our common stock. These aptioms generally require significant judgment.

Our board of directors sets the terms, conditiond,rastrictions related to the grant of stock amiand restricted stock units, including the nundieshares
underlying the grants and the vesting criteria.\¥éspect to performance-based stock options, diépgion the extent to which the vesting criteria \ret, our board of
directors determines the number of shares thaturestr the grants.

The resulting costs of our equity awards, net dfrested forfeitures, are recognized over the pediadng which an employee is required to provide iserin
exchange for the award, usually a time-based vepénigd. We amortize the fair value of stock-basemhpensation on a straigle basis over the requisite service peric
For performance-based stock options, we recogmhiz-$ased compensation over the requisite sepaceds using the accelerated attribution method.

Our common stock has a limited trading history beeaaur common stock was not publicly traded untilioiial public offering, or IPO, in February 2011
Accordingly, the expected volatility of our commdnck is derived from the historical volatilities séveral unrelated public companies within thedifnce industry.
When selecting our industry peer companies, we densiur stage of development, size, and finaneiariage. These historical volatilities are weigttasged on certain
gualitative factors and combined to produce a singlatility factor. The riskree interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasulsg yieeffect at the time of grant for zero cou
U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximatelyattm each grant’s expected life. We estimate #peeted lives of employee options using the “sifigdl’ method as
the midpoint of the expected time-to-vest and thetractual term.

The calculated fair value of our stock options doehange significantly if we determine that anotimethod is more reasonable, or if another methoddtzulating
these input assumptions is prescribed by authimétguidance. Higher volatility and longer expedigds result in an increase in stock-based comp@Emseaxpense
determined at the date of grant. Stock-based cosapien expense affects our cost of product rever@search and development expense, and sellingrajeand
administrative expense.

We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsbfsdur actual forfeitures and we will continue ¥@aleate the appropriateness of the forfeiture bated on actual
forfeiture experience, analysis of employee turmdahavior, and other factors. Quarterly changakerestimated forfeiture rate can have a signifiedfect on reported
stock-based compensation expense, as the cumudditact of adjusting the rate is recognized inpikeiod the forfeiture estimate is changed. If ased forfeiture rate is
higher than the previously estimated forfeiture ran adjustment is made that will result in a deseo the stock-based compensation expense reedgnithe
consolidated financial statements. If a revisefefarre rate is lower than the previously estimdteteiture rate, an adjustment is made that wilute an increase to the
stock-based compensation expense recognized ootisolidated financial statements. The effect difture adjustments was insignificant during 202812 , and 2011 .
We will continue to use judgment in evaluating thpexted term, volatility, and forfeiture rate reldto our stock-based compensation.

Also required to compute the fair value calculatidmptions is the fair value of the underlying coomstock. We grant stock options at exercise pmo¢dess than
the fair value of our common stock at the daterahg Prior to our IPO, our board of directors ohtai contemporaneous valuations from an unrelaiediparty valuation
firm to determine the estimated fair value of conmnstock based on an analysis of relevant metnicd) as the price of the most recent convertibléepred stock sales to
outside investors, the rights, preferences, andigges of the convertible preferred stock, ourrafieg and financial performance, the hiring of keyrsonnel, the
introduction of new products, the lack of market@pibf the common stock, and additional factoratialg to our business. There is inherent uncegtamthese estimates
and if we or the valuation firm had made differessgiamptions, the amount of our stdzksed compensation expense, net loss, and ngtdoskare amounts could have t
significantly different. Following the completiori our IPO in February 2011, the fair value of op@ranted is based on the closing price of oumeomstock on the date
of grant as quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market.

Historically, certain of our stock options were gehto officers with vesting acceleration featurasdal upon the achievement of certain performanigstones. The
timing of the attainment of these milestones aéfddhe timing of expense recognition since we reiz@grompensation expense only for the portion @flsbptions that are
expected to vest.

We recorded stock-based compensation of $6.4 mjld.1 million, and $2.8 million during 2013, Z01and 2011 , respectively. As of December 313204&e had
$15.7 million of unrecognized stock-based compénsatosts, which are expected to be recognized avewerage period of 2.6 years.
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Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method to accouninflome taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabiléresrecognized for the future tax consequencabutible to
differences between the financial statement carrgimgunts of existing assets and liabilities andr fiespective tax basis. Deferred tax assets abdities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to texabbme in the years in which those temporary diffees are expected to be recovered or settledifiSént management
judgment is required in determining our provisionihcome taxes, our deferred tax assets anditiabjland any valuation allowance recorded againsteferred ta
assets. Our provision for income taxes generallgisté of tax expense/benefit related to currenibgezarnings/losses. As part of the process ofgieg our consolidated
financial statements, we continuously monitor threwrnstances impacting the expected realizatiorunfleferred tax assets for each jurisdiction. Wesater all available
evidence, including historical operating resulte#th jurisdiction, expectations and risks assediatith estimates of future taxable income, ancotrgprudent and feasik
tax planning strategies in assessing the needvahetion allowance. To the extent a deferredaset cannot be recognized, a valuation allowarestablished to reduce
our deferred tax assets to the amount that is filaly than not to be realized. We have recordédllavaluation allowance on our deferred tax assefs to uncertainties
related to our ability to utilize our deferred tassets in the foreseeable future. These deferxaabtets primarily consist of net operating lossyfarwards and research and
development tax credits. We intend to maintain Haisiation allowance until sufficient evidence esit support its reduction. We make estimates atigments about our
future taxable income that are based on assumptiatsire consistent with our plans and estim&keuld the actual amounts differ from our estimates amount of our
valuation allowance could be materially impactedad@ies in these estimates may result in significemeases or decreases to our tax provision iniag@ which such
estimates are changed, which in turn would affettnomme or loss.

We recognize the financial statement effects @fxgpbsition when it is more likely than not, basedite technical merits, that the position will bstsined upon
examination. Any interest and penalties relatednizettain tax positions will be reflected in incora® provision.

We have not provided for U.S. federal and staterime taxes on any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ uridiged earnings as of December 31, 2013 becaugde s
earnings are intended to be indefinitely reinvestiubn distribution of those earnings in the forhtividends or otherwise, we may be subject to UeBefal and state
income taxes, the determination of which is not ficatas it is dependent on the amount of U.S. ¢azés or other tax attributes available at the tfrthe repatriation.
Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiariemanted to approximately $0.4 million at DecemberZ113.

Effective January 1, 2010, we obtained approvaPioneer Tax Status in Singapore. We do not expécstatus to have a material impact on our busineperating
results, or financial condition. We cannot preditiether Pioneer Tax Status will have a material thpa our business, operating results, or finaremadition in future
periods because the availability of the tax inaggiwill depend entirely on the long-term develophwdrour business.

Inventory Valuation

We record adjustments to inventory for potentiatkgess, obsolete, slow-moving, or impaired goodsder to state inventory at its net realizableigallThe business
environment in which we operate is subject to rapiahges in technology and customer demand. We myguariew inventory for excess and obsolete proslactd
components, taking into account product life cyael development plans, product expiration and tyuisues, historical experience, and our curneventory levels. If
actual market conditions are less favorable thaicipated, additional inventory adjustments coutdrbquired.

Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate revenue from sales of our productndie and collaboration agreements, and governmamtsg Our product revenue consists of sales tfumgents and
related services, and consumables, including |B&says, and other reagents. We have entereddatesé and collaboration agreements and have reogdxeernment gran
to conduct research and development activities.
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The following table presents our revenue by sofoceach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Revenue:

Instruments $41,05: $29,15: $25,19(

Consumables 29,14t 22,33t 15,39:
Product revenue 70,19¢ 51,48¢ 40,58:
License and collaboration revenue 327 18¢ 1,71¢€
Grant revenue 65¢& 661 56¢&

Total revenue $71,18: $52,33¢ $42,86!

The following table presents our product revenugéygraphy and as a percentage of total produehtevby geography based on the billing addressrofustomers
for each period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
United States $36,30¢ 52% $27,32! 53% $21,64¢ 53%
Europe 18,47 26% 13,08t 26% 10,49¢ 26%
Japan 6,63¢ 10% 3,84( 7% 3,94 10%
Asia Pacific 6,56¢ 9% 6,321 12% 3,69¢ 9%
Other 2,21 3% 91¢€ 2% 79€ 2%
Total $70,19¢ 100% $51,48t 100% $40,58: 100%

Our license and collaboration and grant revenueimsapily generated in the United States.

Our customers include academic research institytimscal laboratories, and pharmaceutical, bibtestogy and Ag-Bio companies worldwide. Total revefroen
our five largest customers in each of the periaésgnted comprised 18%, 17%, and 16% of revenp@18 , 2012 , and 2011 , respectively.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and Reaber 31, 2012

Total Revenue
Total revenue increased by $18.8 million, or 3684571.2 million for 2013 , compared to $52.3 millifor 2012 primarily due to product revenue.

Product Revenue
Product revenue increased by $18.7 million, or 3&2470.2 million for 2013 , compared to $51.5 raill for 2012 .

Instrument revenue increased by $11.9 million, ¥4 primarily driven by increases in unit sale®of preparatory systems, which include ourSihgle-Cell Auto
Prep System, first sold as a new product in thel thirarter of 2012, and to a lesser extent, inceemsenit sales of our BioMark HD System. Increassdssof our service
offerings and higher average selling prices ofinstrument systems also contributed to the increasestrument revenue. The revenue increase wastdff part by lower
unit sales of our EP1 System.

Consumables revenue increased by $6.8 millionP8&s,3rimarily due to growth in overall IFC unit wwhe, driven mainly by increased sales to produajemomics
customers. Annualized IFC pulirough for our analytical systems was within outdrisal range of $40,000 to $50,000 per systemadwVe our historical range of $10,C
to $15,000 per system for preparatory systems. Gioingard, we expect IFC pull-through for our prepiara systems to range from $15,000 to $25,000 y&tesn per year.
Increases in assays and reagents sales also coedrito the increase in consumables revenue.

We expect total unit sales of both instruments@mbumables to increase over time as we continueftarts to grow our customer base, expand our gaubtc
market coverage, and launch new products. Howeverxpecethe average selling prices of our producftutiuate over time based on market conditionsdpct mix, and

currency fluctuations.

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue consists of a grant from the Califotnstitute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM). Grestenue was $0.7 million in each of 2013 and 2012. @RM
grant was awarded in 2011 in the amount of $1.9onillo be earned over a thrgear period. The CIRM grant revenue is recognizethe related research and developr
services are performed and
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costs associated with the grants are recognizeesasnch and development expense during the pagodred. We expect total grant revenue for 201dettess than 2013
our grant from CIRM expires in April 2014.

Cost of Product Revenue
The following table presents our cost of produgeraie and product margin for each period presgimetiousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Cost of product revenue $ 20,20¢ % 15,32t
Product margin 71% 70%

Cost of product revenue includes manufacturingscimsturred in the production process, including porment materials, labor and overhead, installapackaging,
and delivery costs. In addition, cost of produeeraue includes royalty costs for licensed techrniel@cluded in our products, warranty, serviceyfgions for slowmoving
and obsolete inventory, and stock-based compemnsexipense. Costs related to license and grant wevare included in research and development expense

Cost of product revenue increased by $4.9 mill@r32%, to $20.2 million for 2013 from $15.3 millidor 2012 primarily due to increased product rexerCost of
product revenue as a percentage of related rewgas®9% and 30% for 2013 and 2012, respectivelys ifimprovement was driven by higher average uniinggeprices for
instruments and IFCs; a favorable change in theuneents sales mix primarily due to increased safesur higher margin €Single-Cell Auto Prep System, first sold as a
new product in the third quarter of 2012; and higk& capacity utilization and improved productidelgs. This was offset in part primarily by highevéntory reserves
and write-offs and higher service costs.

Operating Expenses
The following table presents our operating expefsesach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Research and development $ 19,95 $ 16,60:
Selling, general and administrative 48,41 38,47¢
Litigation settlement 1,267 —
Total operating expenses $ 69,63: $ 55,08(

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists prins&plgrsonnel and independent contractor costsotye and material expenses and other allocatslitifs, and
information technology expenses. We have made antist investments in research and developmenéesioc inception. Our research and development sffave focused
primarily on enhancing our technologies and suppgrievelopment and commercialization of new aridterg products and services.

Research and development expense was $20.0 nfiflic013 , an increase of $3.4 million, or 20%, gamed to $16.6 million for 2012 . The increasedsearch and
development expense was primarily due to an inereakeadcount and other compensation-related 0d$.2 million, an increase in facility expeng$$0.7 million, and
an increase in outside services of $0.3 millioneSéhincreased costs were in support of our developamel commercialization of new and existing prosiagtd services.

We believe that our continued investment in redearad development is essential to our long-termpsiitive position and these expenses will increadature
periods.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense capisinarily of personnel costs for our sales andketing, business development, finance, legal, uresources and
general management, as well as professional sensaeh as legal and accounting services.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&8.9 million, or 26%, to $48.4 million for 2018ompared to $38.5 million for 2012 . The increass primarily
due to headcount and other compensation-related 06$7.1 million,
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higher sales and marketing activities of $1.1 williand an increase in legal fees of $0.9 millidme increase was primarily driven by expansion ofldwide commercial
capabilities and, to a lesser extent, general dntrastrative expense to support our growth.

We expect selling, general and administrative egpéa increase in future periods as we continuedw gur sales, technical support, marketing, andimidtrative
headcount, support increased product sales, braadetustomer base, and incur additional costsippart our expanding global footprint and the olteyewth in our
business.

Litigation Settlement

From time to time, we may be subject to variousllpgaceedings and claims arising in the ordinanyrse of business. We assess contingencies to detethe
degree of probability and range of possible lospfigential accrual in our financial statements.estimated loss contingency is accrued in the firsdustatements if it is
probable that a liability has been incurred andatm®unt of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

Pursuant to the terms of a patent cross licensseaggnt with Applied Biosystems, LLC (a subsidiantiéé Technologies Corporation, or Life, and nowtpet
Thermo Fisher Scientific), we were obligated to mal&L.0 million payment to Life upon satisfactionceftain conditions. We do not believe that theditions triggering
the payment obligation have been met; however, doli@c 16, 2013, Life provided notice that the $hilion payment was due and payable under the leagseement.
We accrued a loss contingency of $1.0 million aSefitember 30, 2013 and on January 30, 2014, wid_ffaithe amount due while reserving our rightshwitspect to the
matter. Among other reasons, we made the paymeoid what would have been, in our view, an imprdpemination of our license to certain Life patélihgs under the
agreement, which could have subjected our relevaatyet lines to risks associated with patent infeimgnt litigation.

I nterest Expense and Other Income and Expense, Net

We have incurred interest expense and amortizaficiebt discount related to our long-term debt. fdiiewing table presents these items for each pepi@sented (in
thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
Interest expense $ 14 $ (62€)
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata 1,777 —
Other income (expense), net 501 (189)

Interest expense decreased $614,000, or 98%, t0C1for 2013 , compared to $628,000 for 2012Seéptember 2012, we paid the remaining balance dder wur
long-term debt. Accordingly, we did not incur anyeirest expense on long-term debt during 2013 .

In February 2013, lllumina, Inc. acquired Verinateath, Inc. (Verinata) for $350 million in cash amulto an additional $100 million in milestone payrsethrough
2015. In March 2013, we received cash proceed8.df ®illion in exchange for our ownership interesVerinata, resulting in a gain of $1.8 millionthie milestone
payments become payable in the future, we couleiveap to $3.2 million in additional proceeds. T1e8 million gain we recognized did not include amyounts that may
be received upon the achievement of future mileton

Other income, net increased $0.7 million to $0.Fiamilfor 2013 , compared to other expense, nea? $nillion for 2012 primarily because of the $@élion gain
resulting from settlement of litigation filed by against NanoString Technologies, Inc., partialfigetf by net foreign exchange losses resulting pilynfrom unfavorable
change in the Japanese Yen exchange rate relatitie tJ.S. dollar.

On February 4, 2014, we closed an underwritten palffering of $201.3 million aggregate principal amb of our 2.75% Senior Convertible Notes due 208atgs).
The Notes will accrue interest at a rate of 2.75%ypar, payable semi-annually in arrears on Feriiand August 1 of each year, commencing Augus0142The Notes
will mature on February 1, 2034, unless earlier eoted, redeemed, or repurchased in accordanceheitterms of the Notes. As a result of the Notesgxpect interest
expense to be higher in future periods.
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and @eaber 31, 2011
Total Revenue
Total revenue increased by $9.4 million, or 22%$5%@.3 million for 2012, compared to $42.9 millifmr 2011.

Product Revenue

Product revenue increased by $10.9 million, or 2@451.5 million for 2012, compared to $40.6 mitlifor 2011, reflecting increased revenue fromssafe
instruments and consumables. Consumables reveorgaged by $6.9 million, or 45%, primarily duenoreased sales of genotyping and gene expressiis) #ad to a
lesser extent, Access Array IFCs and assays. IS gabwth was driven by increases in the instaleskof our instrument systems, analytical chip-fhuthugh, and to a
lesser extent, by higher IFC average selling pritesrument revenue increased by $4.0 millionl.&¥, primarily due to the launch of ounSingle-Cell Auto Prep System
during the third quarter of 2012, and increasedssaf our service offerings and aftermarket insents. This was partially offset by decreased walésof the Access Array
System and, to a much lesser extent, decreasedal@st of our analytical systems.

License and Collaboration Revenue

License and collaboration revenue decreased byrillibn to $0.2 million for 2012, compared to $In¥illion for 2011 due to the termination of the ledloration
agreement with Novartis Vaccines & Diagnostics, (INovartis V&D) on May 1, 2012. The collaboration agment with Novartis V&D was entered into in May 2@4.0
develop a new product and received an up-front payrof $0.7 million. Additionally, the collaboratimgreement provided for payments to us upon theeeement of
multiple defined milestones related to the desigth development of product prototypes.

In March 2011, we entered into an amendment tedfiaboration agreement and received an additi®@a million. Under the amendment, certain milessonere
modified and payment terms related to this agre¢mesociated with satisfaction of the milestonesewevised.

During 2011, we recognized $1.0 million of milestaaeenue related to this agreement. All our perforoeaobligations under this agreement were satisfied
December 31, 2011 and there were no other agreemihtgotential future milestones.

Grant Revenue

Grant revenue consists of incentive grants from guwent entities, including the Singapore Economigddepment (EDB) and CIRM. Grant revenue increasetl $0.
million to $0.7 million for 2012, compared to $0rllion for 2011. The increase relates to our CllgMnt as the grant from the EDB was completed in REy1. Under oL
incentive grant agreements with EDB, we receivedritice grant payments equal to a portion of qualifiyexpenses we incurred in Singapore. We incurresl ifdlion of
qualifying expenses in 2011.

Our agreements with EDB provided that grants extetaled were subject to certain grant conditions@nedided EDB with the right to demand repayment of a
portion of past grants in the event that we didmegt our obligations under the applicable agre¢sn&ased on correspondence with EDB, we believe we satisfied our
obligations applicable to our EDB grant revenue tigftoDecember 31, 2012.

Our first CIRM grant was awarded in 2009 in the am@ir$0.8 million and was earned over a two-yeaiquerOur second CIRM grant was awarded in 2011 in the
amount of $1.9 million to be earned over a threaryperiod. The CIRM grant revenue is recognizethaselated research and development services#i@med and costs
associated with the grants are recognized as résaaccdevelopment expense during the period indurre

Cost of Product Revenue

The following table presents our cost of produgeraie and product margin for each period presgimatiousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Cost of product revenue $ 15,328 $ 13,19:
Product margin 70% 67%

Cost of product revenue includes manufacturingsciosturred in the production process, including porent materials, assembly labor and overheadlliatsbn,
packaging, and delivery costs. In addition, cogtrofduct revenue includes royalty costs for licehnsehnologies included in our products, warrargyyise, provisions for
slow-moving and obsolete inventory,
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and stock-based compensation expense. Costs réddiednse, collaboration and grant revenue akidted in research and development expense.

Cost of product revenue increased $2.1 milliorl &Y, to $15.3 million for 2012 from $13.2 millionrf2011 due to increased product sales in 2012 @gsoduct
revenue as a percentage of related revenue dedrea38% for 2012, compared to 33% for 2011. Tiiprovement was primarily due to a higher product afikigher
margin consumables relative to instruments systémgr consumables manufacturing costs resultiamfhigher production volumes and yield improvemgeatshift to
higher margin instruments within the instrumentisgss product line; and lower product material cémt&nalytical systems and the Access Array Systmse
improvements were offset in part by higher freighd aistribution costs.

Operating Expenses

The following table presents our operating expefsesach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Research and development $ 16,60: $ 13,93¢
Selling, general and administrative 38,47¢ 31,30¢
Litigation settlement — 3,00(
Total operating expenses $ 55,08( $ 48,24(

Research and Development

Research and development expense consists priroplgrsonnel costs, independent contractor cpstsptype and material expenses and other allodatgiities anc
information technology expenses. We have made antist investments in research and developmenesinc inception. Our research and development sffate focused
primarily on enhancing our technologies and suppgrievelopment and commercialization of new andtisg products and services.

Research and development expense increased $Adhnok 19%, to $16.6 million for 2012, compared#13.9 million for 2011. The increase in reseanct
development expense was primarily due to an inerssasompensation costs and related expensesginglstock-based compensation, of $1.3 million,dapplies and
equipment costs of $1.1 million, and outside sexwiof $0.1 million. These increased costs werepsrt of our development and commercialization@f and existing
products and services.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expense capisinarily of personnel costs for our sales andketing, business development, finance, legal, hureaources and
general management, as well as professional sepndoeh as legal and accounting services.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&3.2 million, or 23%, to $38.5 million for 201@mpared to $31.3 million for 2011. The increass pEMarily
due to an increase in compensation costs and dedaeenses, including stock-based compensatidsy.@fmillion, an increase in sales and marketiryities of $1.5
million, an increase in accounting and outside isessof $0.6 million, and an increase in faciligpenses of $0.3 million. The increase was primatilyen by expansion of
worldwide commercial capabilities to support ourwgtto and compliance costs.

Litigation Settlement

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation emetred into a series of patent license agreemesidting in a net $3.0 million payment by us téeLiThe payment
was recognized as litigation settlement expenseliirconsolidated statement of operations becausantioeint paid by us was principally attributabledsalving Life’s
litigation claims against us with respect to a sfieeixpiring U.S. patent and its foreign counterpart

Under the terms of the agreements, each party leadpition, exercisable for thirty days from the daftéhe agreements, to limit or preclude certaitepglitigation
between the parties over a period of two to fourgethese rights were subject to certain excep@mmksrequired an additional payment by the pargrasing the option at
existing as of June 30, 2011 against our custofoeisvo years and against us, with respect to oureatiproducts and equivalent future products, dor fyears. The
additional payment was recorded in other assetssaneing amortized to selling, general and admiatfiste expense over four years on a straight-lemssbeginning in July
2011. The additional payment is being amortizeselting, general and administrative expense becapsecludes Life from initiating
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litigation under its relevant patents for any afldgrior and future infringement by us for four geeand because such preclusion relates to ouvadguat future products.
Life elected not to exercise its option.

Litigation settlement expense was $3.0 million fOL2 as a result of the agreements entered intolwfighon June 30, 2011. We had no similar agreermef012.

I nterest Expense and Other Income and Expense, Net

We have incurred interest expense from our barkdincredit, long-term debt, convertible promissooges, and the amortization of debt discountgedlto our long-
term debt and promissory notes. Until the completibaur IPO, we also recognized income or expenserasult of changes in the fair value of outstagdvarrants to
purchase shares of our convertible preferred sfbiek.following table presents these items for easfod presented (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2012 2011
Interest expense $ (628) $ (3,109
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjinleferred stock warrants, net — (1,489
Gain from extinguishment of convertible preferréac& warrants — 765
Other (expense) income, net (189) 81
Deemed dividend related to the change in conversitnof Series E convertible preferred stock — (9,900

Interest expense decreased $2.5 million, or 80%016 million for 2012, compared to $3.1 milliorr 2011. The decrease is primarily due to $1.2 arillof non-cash
interest expense in connection with a $5.0 millioterand warrant agreement entered into in Janry.2Ve repaid all principal and interest outstagdinder the note in
February 2011 upon the closing of our IPO. Thers m@similar transaction or recognition of expeins2012. The decrease also resulted from a redugtithe principal
amount of our long-term debt beginning in March 20i&hen we began making principal and interest paysrtetaling $0.6 million per month. As required undar loan
agreement, we made an additional principal payme$2@& million in March 2012. In June 2012, we edetto make another principal payment of $1.9 nmllising
proceeds from our line of credit. In August and t8eyber 2012, we elected to pay the remaining $2lllombalance due under the loan agreement.

Prior to our IPO, the fair value of the convertipteferred stock warrant liability increased resygjtin a loss of $1.5 million in 2011. We did not baany outstanding
convertible preferred stock warrants during 2012lbsonvertible preferred stock warrants were eitt@verted into warrants to purchase common starc&xpired
unexercised, or were exercised for shares of ounzamstock upon the closing of our IPO in February122@Jpon the closing of our IPO, liabilities relatedhe expired
warrants were reversed, resulting in a gain of §tllBon during 2011. Liabilities related to the wants that were converted into warrants to purchasermmn stock and
warrants that were exercised in connection with oQr Were reclassified to additional paid-in-capital.

Deemed Dividend

In January 2011, we amended and restated ouricettifof incorporation to decrease the conversiamef our Series E convertible preferred stockfi$24.22 to
$18.63 per share. As a result, we recognized a dedivieénd of $9.9 million, reflecting the fair vawf the additional shares of common stock to beed as a result of t
change in conversion price of the Series E corhlerpireferred stock. The deemed dividend incretisedet loss attributed to common stockholderféncalculation of
basic and diluted net loss per share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity
As of December 31, 2013, our principal sourcesaqfidlity consisted of $35.3 million of cash and cashivalents and $51.0 million of short-term andgiderm
investments. As of December 31, 2013, our workingtabotaled $89.4 million.

In December 2012, we amended our bank line of ctediktend the term for an additional two years amdide us with the ability to borrow up to $10.0 naifi, of
which $6.0 million is available on a non-formula isasubject to certain covenants and other regtrist and $4.0 million is available based on el@giteceivables. At
December 31, 2013 , there was no outstanding batantee bank line of credit.
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The following table presents our cash flow summaryefach period presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Cash flow summary
Net cash used in operating activities $ 159) $ 17,479 $ (17,547
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (27,565 14,00: (45,110
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,80¢€ 48,52: 70,36
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent (23,389 45,09¢ 7,83(

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

We derive cash flows from operations primarily froesh collected from the sale of our products, beemgreements, and grants from certain governméties. Our
cash flows from operating activities are also digantly influenced by our use of cash for opergtaxpenses to support the growth of our businesshaVe historically
experienced negative cash flows from operating ietivas we have expanded our business and builhfrastructure domestically and internationallgdahis may
continue in the future.

Net cash used in operating activities was $1.6 miJl&L7.5 million, and $17.5 million in 2013 , 201&nd 2011 , respectively. Cash used for workingtabpurposes
during 2013 decreased by $11.0 million, driven ity by increased cash collections from our custmsvand increase in accounts payable. Our netddgssted for non-
cash and non-operating items and deferred revelwiag 2013 decreased by $4.9 million, compare2t? .

Net cash used in operating activities during 201 anily consisted of our net loss of $19.0 milliand changes in our operating assets and liabilitiése amount of
$4.8 million, offset by non-cash expense itemshagstock-based compensation, of $4.1 million,demteciation and amortization of our property agdipment and
license agreement rights of $2.2 million.

Net cash used in operating activities during 20Ithanily consisted of our net loss of $22.5 milliand changes in our operating assets and liabilitiése amount of
$1.3 million, offset by non-cash expense itemshsag stock-based compensation, of $2.8 milliors fosm changes in the fair value of convertiblef@med stock warrants
of $1.5 million, depreciation and amortization air @roperty and equipment and license agreemeisrigf $1.4 million, write offs of debt discounts%if.2 million upon
repayment of notes, amortization of debt discoantsissuance cost of $0.2 million, and a gain festtmguishment of convertible preferred stock wasarf $0.8 million.

Net Cash (used in) provided by | nvesting Activities

Our primary investing activities consist of purchrgssles, and maturities of our short-term and-kengn investments and to a much lesser extenttatapipenditures
for manufacturing, laboratory, computer equipment software to support our expanding infrastrucaué work force. We expect to incur higher costschpital
expenditures in 2014 related to leasehold improvesnat our new Singapore manufacturing facilityadidition, we expect to continue to incur capitalengitures to expat
our manufacturing capability, including improvereirt manufacturing productivity; demonstration sr@hd loaner equipment to support our sales awniteezfforts; lab
equipment for research and development; and compgtépment and software to support our growth.

Net cash used in investing activities was $27.6 amiliind $45.1 million in 2013 and 20l@espectively, and net cash provided by investictiyities was $14.0 millio
in 2012 .

We used $27.6 million of cash in investing actestiduring 2013 primarily for purchases of investtaaf $59.4 million, purchase of intangible as$eim Helicos
Biosciences Corporation and related transactiotsadsb1.2 million, and purchases of capital equéptrof $3.4 million to support growth in our comniat@and
manufacturing operations, partially offset by pred® from sales and maturities of investments of488llion and proceeds from the sale of our inkesit in Verinata of
$3.1 million.

We generated $14.0 million of cash in investingvétées during 2012rimarily from proceeds from sales and maturitiemeestments of $51.8 million, partially offs
by purchases of investments of $35.4 million andtpases of capital equipment of $2.4 million topsup growth in our commercial and manufacturing agiens.

We used $45.1 million of cash in investing actestiduring 2011 primarily for purchases of investteari $71.4 million, purchases of capital equipmer$1.7 million
to support our commercial and manufacturing openatiand purchase of license agreement rights unoesettlement with Life of $2.0 million, partialbffset by proceeds
from sales and maturities of investments of $30l0an.
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Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
We generated $5.8 million of cash from financingwtes during 2013 from proceeds received in aection with the exercise of options for our commtatk.

We generated $48.5 million of cash from financiogwties during 2012 primarily from proceeds ofpapximately $56.0 million, net of underwriting conssions and
issuance costs, from our underwritten public offgii our common stock completed in August 2012, giodeeds of $2.7 million from the exercise of opsido purchase
our common stock, partially offset by repaymenpuoificipal on our long-term debt of $10.2 million.

We generated $70.4 million of cash from financiogwties during 2011 primarily from proceeds of 3@ million from our initial public offering, netfainderwriting
commissions and issuance costs, and proceeds li@exercise of stock options of $1.3 million, i offset by principal payments on our long-tetdebt of $4.7 million
and repayment of our bank line of credit balanc31 million.

Capital Resources

At December 31, 2013 , December 31, 2012 , and Deae®dh@011 , our working capital was $89.4 milli&91.5 million, and $51.9 million, respectivelycinding
cash and cash equivalents of $35.3 million, $58lBom, and $13.6 million, respectively, and shtetm and longerm investments of $51.0 million, $25.0 milliomda$41.
million, respectively. We have a bank line of ctelat is collateralized by our assets, excludirtgliectual property, and provides us the abilitgltaw up to $10.0 million,
of which $6.0 million is available on a non-formiiasis, subject to certain covenants and otheiigésirs. The balance of $4.0 million is availabksbd on eligible
receivables. At December 31, 2013, we had no bangwutstanding under the bank line of credit. bgr2012, we paid the remaining balance due on mg-term debt.
Principal payments on our long-term debt totaled.$illion in 2012. During 2013 , 2012 , and 2QXur capital expenditures were $3.4 million, $2iliom, and $1.7
million, respectively. We are estimating capitapemditures to be higher in 2014 primarily for |dasd improvements at our new Singapore manufagjuemility.

On February 4, 2014, we closed an underwritten pulfezing of approximately $201.3 million aggregaténcipal amount of our 2.75% Senior Convertible@éodue
2034 (Notes). We received cash proceeds of approeiyn®194 million, net of underwriting discounts asduance costs. The Notes were offered and sofliaot to a
registration statement on Form S-3ASR declared @ffeby the SEC on January 29, 2014.

On February 13, 2014, we completed our acquisitidb\6& Sciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation (DVS) faraximately $193.8 million and assumed all
outstanding DVS stock options and unvested restristeck, pursuant to a merger agreement dated Jmnafry 28, 2014. The merger consideration payaltfe former
stockholders of DVS, excluding the value of stockap and unvested restricted stock assumed byounsjsted of approximately $117.2 million in cask 4,759,007
shares of Fluidigm common stock with a fair valuapproximately $76.8 million, including cash of sillion deposited in escrow to satisfy certain poital working capite
adjustments. In addition, 50.3030% of the sharéis avfair value of $38.6 million were deposited ie8zrow to secure indemnification obligations urtdermerger
agreement. The cash consideration paid to the fostnekholders of DVS was financed in part with thepreceeds from the pubic offering of our Notes.

We believe our existing cash, cash equivalentsjrmrastments will be sufficient to meet our workicepital and capital expenditure needs for at l#seshext 18
months. However, we may experience lower than expeeatsit generated from operating activities or grehtn expected capital expenditures, cost of neeenm operating
expenses, and we may need to raise additional tap#apand the commercialization of our produetgand and fund our operations, further our rebeanc development
activities, or acquire or invest in a business. foture funding requirements will depend on manydesitincluding market acceptance of our produbtscost of our
research and development activities, the costinffand prosecuting patent applications, the assbciated with litigation or disputes relatingritellectual property rights,
or otherwise, the cost and timing of regulatonacéces or approvals, if any, the cost and timingstablishing additional sales, marketing andritiistion capabilities, the
cost and timing of establishing additional techhsgport capabilities, and the effect of competichnological and market developments. In theréytwe may acquire
businesses or technologies from third parties vemdnay decide to raise additional capital throughtar equity financing to the extent we believis th necessary to
successfully complete these acquisitions. We ctlyréave no material commitments or agreementdingldo any such acquisitions.

If we require additional funds in the future, we nmept be able to obtain such funds on acceptahtesteor at all. If we raise additional funds by isguequity
securities, our stockholders may experience ditutidebt financing, if available, may involve covatsrestricting our operations or our ability taun additional debt. Any
debt or additional equity financing that we raiseyroantain terms that are not favorable to us orstockholders. If we raise additional funds throeghaboration and
licensing arrangements with third parties, it maynbeessary to relinquish some rights to our teagies or our products, or grant licenses on tehasdre not favorable to
us. If we are unable to raise adequate funds, wehaeg to liquidate some
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or all of our assets, or delay, reduce the scope efiminate some or all of our development praggalf we do not have, or are not able to obtaifficsent funds, we may
have to delay development or commercializationwfgroducts or license to third parties the rightsommercialize products or technologies that wald/otherwise seek
to commercialize. We also may have to reduce migxetustomer support, research and developmewther resources devoted to our products or cqas@atons.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Since our inception, we have not had any off-balateet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(#)eoSecurities and Exchange Commission’s Regul&i.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
The following summarizes our contractual obligati@s of December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1
Total Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years Thereafter
Operating lease obligations $ 14,70¢ $ 2077 % 6,41t $ 424; % 1,97¢
Purchase obligations 8,65( 8,51: 137 — —
Total $ 2335¢ $ 10,59( $ 6,55 $ 424; % 1,974

Our operating lease obligations relate to a leasedocurrent headquarters and leases for manufagtand office space for our foreign subsidiarigtchase
obligations consist of contractual and legally liigdcommitments to purchase goods.

On April 9, 2013, we entered into an amendment (the#dment) to the lease agreement dated Septemb@td(as amended, the Lease) relating to the tefase
office and laboratory space at our headquarteegéacat 7000 Shoreline Court, South San Franc@alifornia. The Amendment provides for an expansibtine premises
covered under the Lease to include space thatisrtly being subleased by us from a third partpalgh March 31, 2014; an extension of the ternhefltease to April 30,
2020 with an option to renew for an additional Srgegayment of base rent with rent escalation; angneant of certain operating expenses during the tdrthe Lease. Tt
Amendment also provides for an allowance of appraxéty $0.7 million for tenant improvements, whiahftie extent not used by March 31, 2015, will beduseoffset
base rent obligations, and an additional allowarf@proximately $0.5 million for tenant improvemsgnivhich, if used, will be repaid in equal monthyments with
interest at a rate of 9% per annum over the reimaterm of the Lease.

On October 14, 2013, Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd: vewlly-owned subsidiary, accepted an offer of terya(Lease) from HSBC Institutional Trust Services
(Singapore) Limited, as trustee of Ascendas Rewt&s$nvestment Trust (Landlord), relating to thade of a facility located at Block 5008, Ang Mo Kieenue 5,
TECHplace Il, Singapore 569874. Pursuant to thedarhthe Lease, Fluidigm Singapore took possessitine facility commencing on March 3, 2014 foream of 99
months and the Lease and rental obligations theezumill commence on June 3, 2014. The Lease ab»aqges Fluidigm Singapore with an option to renew ltease for an
additional 60 months at the then prevailing market, and on similar terms as the existing Lease geright of first refusal on certain additionphse in the building
beginning June 2, 2014 until June 1, 2015.

Fluidigm Singapore is currently party to leasesm@nufacturing and office space in Singapore. Orteefeases expires on September 30, 2014 accaaitgyterms
and the remainder of the leases will expire orrldégtes through August 26, 2016 (the Other LeaSas)february 27, 2014, Fluidigm Singapore notifisdandlord that it
was exercising its right pursuant to the terms ef@ther Leases to terminate the Other Leases effiégtive as of September 30, 2014. Fluidigm Singapntends to
relocate its Singapore facilities to its new mantifing and office space located at Block 5008, Ang Kdo Avenue 5 TECHplace I, Singapore in the thitdagter of 2014.

We have entered into several license and pateaeawgnts. Under these agreements, we pay annuakiceiatenance fees, nonrefundable license issdeasegand
royalties as a percentage of net sales for theosaablicense of products using the licensed telclyy. Future payments related to these licenseemgents have not been
included in the contractual obligations table abasehe period of time over which the future licepagments will be required to be made, and the atafisuch payments,
are indeterminable. We do not expect the licengenpats to be material in any particular year.

57




Table of Contents

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magadwt our financial position due to adverse chamydéisancial market prices and rates. Our markét eisposure is
primarily a result of fluctuations in foreign cun®y exchange rates and interest rates. We do mohassue financial instruments for trading puses.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

As we expand internationally our results of operatiand cash flows will become increasingly subjedtuctuations due to changes in foreign currenahange rate
Our revenue is generally denominated in the locaktey of the contracting party. Historically, ttni@jority of our revenue has been denominated in tbfars. Our
expenses are generally denominated in the cureintighich our operations are located, which isarily in the United States, with a portion of expesincurred in
Singapore where our manufacturing facility is lechtOur results of operations and cash flows aesefbre, subject to fluctuations due to changéerieign currency
exchange rates. Fluctuations in currency exchaaigs could harm our business in the future. Thecetif a 10% adverse change in exchange rategeigriccurrency
denominated cash, receivables and payables as efiiber 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 would not heme imaterial. To date, we have not entered intd@neygn
currency hedging contracts although we may do sbarfuture.

I nterest Rate Sensitivity

We had cash and cash equivalents of $35.3 millideaember 31, 2013 . These amounts were held plynracash on deposit with banks and money maitetls
which are short-term. We had $51.0 million in inveshts at December 31, 2013 held primarily in U.S egoment agency securities. The contractual matpetjods of
$49.1 million of our investments are within one yfflam December 31, 2013 . The contractual matutyqus of our remaining investments are less tlhgimte&en months
from December 31, 2013. Cash and cash equivaledtgyaestments are held for working capital purpoBee to the short-term nature of these investmergdelieve that
we do not have any material exposure to changéd®ifair value of our investment portfolio as a testichanges in interest rates. Declines in interags, however, will
reduce future investment income. If overall intérases had decreased by 10% during the periodepted, our interest income would not have beeeniadly affected.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We do not have material exposure to market risk vagpect to investments. We do not use derivainantial instruments for speculative or tradinggmses. We me
adopt specific hedging strategies in the future.

58




Table of Contents

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourffinm

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferredksand Stockholder€Equity (Deficit)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

59

Page
60




Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Fin

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FluidiGorporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Fluidigm Corporation as of DecembeB813 and 2012, and the related consolidated seattsnof
operations, comprehensive loss, convertible predestock and stockholders’ equity (deficit), andfciows for each of the three years in the perivded December 31,
2013. Our audits also included the financial statgrsehedule listed in the Index at Item 15(2). Eh#isancial statements and schedule are the rejldpof the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to egpran opinion on these financial statements ametlsée based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the staisdof the Public Company Accounting OversightiBdé@nited States). Those standards require thatiaregnc
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoetathether the financial statements are free déried misstatement. An audit includes examiningadest basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtifinancial statements. An audit also includesssiag the accounting principles used and sigmifieatimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall figdustatement presentation. We believe that oditeprovide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referea@tove present fairly, in all material respedts, donsolidated financial position of Fluidigm Coration at
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidatettses its operations and its cash flows for eatthe three years in the period ended Decembe2(@®l3, in conformit
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principlesoAln our opinion, the related financial statensaiitedule, when considered in relation to the Hamocial statements
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all mateeapects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdzrthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Ba@idited States), Fluidigm Corporation’s internahtrol
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20E3€ul on criteria established in Internal Contréégmated Framework issued by the Committee of Sporgso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 Freonle) and our report dated March 12, 2014 expreasadhqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
March 12, 2014
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Fin

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of FluidiGorporation

We have audited Fluidigm Corporation’s internalttohover financial reporting as of December 31120based on criteria established in Internal @drtintegrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Gzgéians of the Treadway Commission (1992 Framew(ihe COSO criteria). Fluidigm Corporation’s managein
is responsible for maintaining effective internahtrol over financial reporting, and for its assesat of the effectiveness of internal control ofieancial reporting included
in the accompanying Management's Report on Inte@ueitrol Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilit to express an opinion on the company’s intecoatrol over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statelof the Public Company Accounting Oversight Babhtited States). Those standards require that weaid
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranoetathether effective internal control over finaalaieporting was maintained in all material respe@ur audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugaincial reporting, assessing the risk that asmaltweakness exists, testing and evaluating és@d and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on thessgskrisk, and performing such other proceduregeasonsidered necessary in the circumstances. ievbehat our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogdiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassiregarding the reliability of financial repngiand the
preparation of financial statements for externappses in accordance with generally accepted atiomuprinciples. A company’s internal control overencial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Ippeto the maintenance of records that, in redslerdetail, accurately and fairly reflect the tractsons and dispositions of
the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonaslerance that transactions are recorded as negésgarmit preparation of financial statementadcordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, andréxzipts and expenditures of the company are beade only in accordance with authorizations of mansnt and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detectfaunauthorized acquisition, use, or dispositibthe company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tranéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohoiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness
to future periods are subject to the risk that mistmay become inadequate because of changesditions, or that the degree of compliance withpbécies or procedures
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Fluidigm Corporation maintained ath material respects, effective internal contreér financial reporting as of December 31, 20E3ehl on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdzrthe Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@idited States), the consolidated balance shedtkimfigm
Corporation as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, lemdeated consolidated statements of operati@mprehensive loss, convertible preferred stockstockholders’
equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theethyears in the period ended December 31, 201Rimfigim Corporation and our report dated March2@14 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
March 12, 2014
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,26 $ 58,64¢
Short-term investments 49,08t 21,36:
Accounts receivable (net of allowances of $36 afB$at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively) 10,55: 12,90(
Inventories 8,14¢ 7,16¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,54(C 1,131
Total current assets 104,58« 101,21:
Long-term investments 1,942 3,66¢
Property and equipment, net 6,81¢ 4,97¢
Other non-current assets 3,571 3,881
Total assets $ 116,91f $ 113,73:
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 435 $ 2,55t
Accrued compensation and related benefits 5,48t 2,87
Other accrued liabilities 5,392 4,27¢
Deferred revenue, current portion 2,721 1,88¢
Total current liabilities 17,95: 11,597
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 1,89¢ 1,241
Other non-current liabilities 651 237
Total liabilities 20,50: 13,07t
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000 shar®azed, no shares issued and outstanding atrétdeember 31, 2013 or 20: — —
Common stock: $0.001 par value, 200,000 share®earng at December 31, 2013 and 2012; 25,811 arid 85hares issued a
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respéctiv 26 25
Additional paid-in capital 354,46! 342,22:
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (730 (769)
Accumulated deficit (257,34) (240,82)
Total stockholders’ equity 96,41« 100,65
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 116,91 $ 113,73:

See accompanying notes.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Revenue:

Product revenue $ 70,19¢ % 51,48t $ 40,58:

License and collaboration revenue 327 18t 1,71¢

Grant revenue 65¢€ 661 56€
Total revenue 71,18 52,33« 42,86¢
Costs and expenses:

Cost of product revenue 20,20¢ 15,32 13,19:

Research and development 19,95: 16,60z 13,93¢

Selling, general and administrative 48,41 38,47¢ 31,30¢

Litigation settlement 1,267 — 3,00(
Total costs and expenses 89,83¢ 70,40¢ 61,43
Loss from operations (18,659 (18,077 (18,566
Interest expense (14 (62€) (3,107
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata 1,77 — —
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjineferred stock warrants, net — — (1,489
Gain from extinguishment of convertible preferréac& warrants — — 76E
Other income (expense), net 501 (189 81
Loss before income taxes (16,389 (18,889 (22,309
Provision for income taxes (137) (136) (16€)
Net loss (16,52¢) (29,029 (22,470
Deemed dividend related to the change in conversitnof Series E convertible preferred stock — — (9,900
Net loss attributed to common stockholders $ (16,52¢ $ (19,029 $ (32,370)
Net loss per share attributed to common stockhs|desic and diluted $ 0.65 $ 0.8¢ $ (1.8
Shares used in computing net loss per share agdlio common stockholders, basic and diluted 25,47¢ 22,13¢ 17,84

See accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Net loss

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Unrealized gain on investments, net

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Comprehensive loss

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

(In thousands)

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ (16,520 $ (19,029 $ (22,470
30 (19) 10
9 4 14
39 (15) 24
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOC KHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Balance at December 31, 2010

Issuance of common stock
from initial public offering, ne
of issuance costs of $9,346

Change in conversion rate of
Series E convertible preferre
stock

Conversion of convertible
preferred stock into common
stock at initial public offering
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of warrants
Conversion of warrants from
warrants for preferred stock to
warrants for common stock
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock optior
for cash and for vesting of
stock options that were early
exercised

Stock-based compensation
expense

Net loss

Other comprehensive income

Balance at December 31, 2011

Convertible Accumulated Total
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Stockholders’
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit (Deficit)
10,29¢ $  184,55( 1,931 $ 2 $ 1093 $ (77 $  (199,32) $  (189,16)
— — 6,392 6 76,94( — — 76,94¢
— 9,90( — — (9,900 — — (9,900
(20,29¢) (194,45() 11,48( 12 194,43t — — 194,45(
= = 174 = 1,392 = = 1,392
— — — — 1,53¢ — — 1,53¢
= = 33¢ = 1,28¢ = = 1,28¢
— — — — 2,79¢ — — 2,79¢
— — — — = = (22,470) (22,470)
— — — — — 24 — 24
—  $ = 20,32: % 20 $ 279,42t $ (754 $ (221,79) $ 56,897
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKH OLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Convertible Accumulated
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Total
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31, 2011 — — 20,32: $ 20 $ 27942t $ (754 $ (221,79) $ 56,89’
Issuance of common stock, net
of issuance costs of $3,970 — — 4,20¢ 4 56,00 — — 56,00¢
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of stock optior
for cash — — 58t 1 2,702 — — 2,708
Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — 4,08¢ — — 4,08¢
Net loss — — — — — — (19,029 (19,029
Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (15) — (15)
Balance at December 31, 2012 — — 25,11t $ 25 $ 34222 % (769 $ (240,82) $ 100,65
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKH OLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Accumulated

Convertible »
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional Other Total
Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31, 2012 —  $ — 2511 $ 25 $ 342,22 (769) $ (240,82) $ 100,65
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options for cash — — 69€ 1 5,80¢ — — 5,80¢
Stock-based compensation
expense — — — — 6,43¢ — — 6,43¢
Net loss — — — — — — (16,52¢) (16,52¢)
Other comprehensive income — — — — — 39 — 39
Balance at December 31, 2013 — 3 — 2581 $ 26 $ 354,46! (730) $ (257,34) % 96,41«

See accompanying notes.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Operating activities

Net loss $ (16,52 $ (19,029 % (22,470
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 2,551 2,13¢ 1,41C
Stock-based compensation expense 6,43¢ 4,08¢ 2,79¢
Loss from changes in the fair value of convertjirieferred stock warrants, net — — 1,48
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 29¢ 26 —
Gain from sale of investment in Verinata 1,777) — —
Gain from extinguishment of convertible preferréack warrants — — (765)
Write-off of debt discount upon note repayment — — 1,157
Amortization of debt discount and issuance cost — 52 182

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 2,412 (3,702) (1,229
Inventories (1,539 (1,687 (1,079
Prepaid expenses and other assets (882) 201 47y
Accounts payable 1,802 (1,815 54C
Deferred revenue 1,64(C 44¢ 91€
Other liabilities 3,98¢ 1,79C (29
Net cash used in operating activities (1,597) (17,479 (17,54%)
Investing activities
Purchases of investments (59,436 (35,38% (71,379
Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 33,44( 51,77( 29,96¢
Proceeds from sale of investment in Verinata 3,117 — —
Purchase of intangible assets (1,240 — —
Purchases of property and equipment (3,446 (2,389 (1,676
License agreement rights — — (2,000
Decrease in restricted cash — — (22)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (27,56Y 14,00: (45,110
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net cArssicosts _ 56,00¢ 76,94¢
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 5,80¢ 2,702 1,28¢
Proceeds from note — — 5,00(
Repayment of note — — (5,000
Repayment of long-term debt — (10,190 (4,742
Proceeds from line of credit — 1,87¢ —
Repayment of line of credit — (1,87%) (3,125
Net cash provided by financing activities 5,80¢ 48,52 70,367
Effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations orhcasd cash equivalents (39) 52 11¢
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent $ (23,389 $ 45,09¢ $ 7,83(
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 58,64¢ 13,55¢ 5,72¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 35,26: $ 58,64¢ $ 13,55
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid for interest $ 7 $ 57¢ $ 1,71t
Cash paid for income taxes $ 24z $ 181 $ 42
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to comrstmek upon initial public offering $ — $ — $ 184,55(
Conversion of convertible preferred stock warrdatsommon stock warrants $ — $ — $ 1,53¢
Issuance of convertible preferred stock warrantoimection with note and warrant agreement angHerm debt $ — $ — $ 1,157
Issuance of common stock in connection with netage of convertible preferred stock warrants $ — $ — $ 1,392
Extinguishment of convertible preferred stock watsaupon initial public offering $ — $ — $ 765

See accompanying notes.
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

1. Description of Business

Fluidigm Corporation (we, our, or us) was incorpecsin the State of California in May 1999 to comaiedize microfluidic technology initially developed the
California Institute of Technology. In July 2007, were reincorporated in Delaware. Our headquarter®eated in South San Francisco, California.

We develop, manufacture, and market microfluidistegns to academic institutions, clinical laborasyiand pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and agurlit
biotechnology (Ag-Bio) companies in growth markstsch as single-cell genomics, applied genotypind,sample preparation for targeted resequencingpfprietary
microfluidic systems consist of instruments andstonables, including integrated fluidic circuits@$), and three families of assay chemistries. Thgstems are designed
to simplify experimental workflow, increase througityreduce costs, and provide quality data.

Initial Public Offering

On February 9, 2011, our registration statementamFS4 relating to an initial public offering (IPO) ofiocommon stock was declared effective by the Sgesianc
Exchange Commission (SEC). Upon the closing of B@ on February 15, 2011, we sold 6,392,083 shdresnomon stock and received cash proceeds of appately
$77.0 million , net of underwriting commissions assliance costs. Concurrently, all outstanding shafreonvertible preferred stock converted by theims into
approximately 11,480,000 shares of common stocklamdelated carrying value of approximately $18#iflion , plus $9.9 million of deemed dividend ésHote 2), was
reclassified to common stock and additional paidaipital.

Secondary Offering

On August 21, 2012, we closed an underwritten pulfferiag of 4,209,000 shares of our common stock @eeived cash proceeds of approximately $56.0amill
net of underwriting commissions and issuance cdsts.shares were issued pursuant to a registratitensent on Form S-3 declared effective by the 8B®ay 10, 2012.
Senior Convertible Notes Offering

On February 4, 2014, we closed an underwritten pulffezing of approximately $201.3 million aggregaténcipal amount of our 2.75% Senior Convertiblei@éodue
2034 (Notes). We received cash proceeds of approgiynd194 million , net of underwriting discountsdaissuance costs (subject to adjustment). The Netes offered
and sold pursuant to a registration statement omf3ASR declared effective by the SEC on Janu@yp@14. Also see Note 16.

Acquisition of DVS Sciences, Inc.

On February 13, 2014, we completed our acquisitidb\6& Sciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation (DVS) faraximately $193.8 million and assumed all
outstanding DVS stock options and unvested restristeck, pursuant to a merger agreement dated Jmnafry 28, 2014. The merger consideration payaltfe former
stockholders of DVS, excluding the value of stockam and unvested restricted stock assumed byouasjsted of approximately $117.2 million in caskl 4,759,007
shares of Fluidigm common stock with a fair valuapproximately $76.8 million , including cash of @illion deposited in escrow to satisfy certaitigmial working
capital adjustments. In addition, 50.3030% of thaeres with a fair value of $38.6 million were depediinto escrow to secure indemnification obligasieinder the merger
agreement.

The cash consideration payable to the former stmdes of DVS was financed in part with the net prasgieom the public offering of our Notes. See Ndoge 1

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiesne been prepared in conformity with U.S. generadlyepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP) and inelilne
accounts of our wholly-owned subsidiaries. As of Deoein81, 2013, we had wholly-owned subsidiaries irg&pore, the Netherlands, Japan, France, the Unitegblim,
and China. All subsidiaries, except for Singapose, their local currency as their functional curseriche Singapore subsidiary uses the U.S. dollésdsnctional currency
All intercompany transactions and balances have bbernated in consolidation.

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

In February 2011, we amended and restated our iCatéfof Incorporation to increase the total numdfeshares of stock authorized for issuance frorb29,999 to
210,000,000, consisting of an increase in the rarrobshares of common
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FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

stock authorized for issuance from 18,327,000 @ @&00,000 and a decrease in the number of shapefefired stock authorized for issuance from 18,289 to
10,000,000 .

In January 2011, we amended and restated our iCatgifof Incorporation to decrease the conversi@emf our Series E convertible preferred stockrfi$24.22 to
$18.63 per share. As a result, we recognized a dediviegnd of $9.9 million , reflecting the fair wed of the additional shares of common stock tcsbeed as a result of
the change in conversion price of the Series E ediile preferred stock. The deemed dividend iredahe net loss attributed to common stockholidetfse calculation of
basic and diluted net loss per share.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordamith U.S. GAAP requires management to make estinzatd assumptions that affect the amounts reportin
consolidated financial statements and accompanyites. We base our estimates on historical expeziand on various other assumptions believed tedsonable, which
together form the basis for making judgments alloeicarrying values of assets and liabilities. Attesults could differ materially from these esttes and could have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated firgrstatements.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaries tis# the local currency as their functional curremeytranslated into U.S. dollars at exchange rateffect on the
balance sheet date. The adjustments resulting thherforeign currency translations are recordecteumulated other comprehensive loss, a separatparent of
stockholders’ equity. Income and expense accouatranslated at monthly average exchange ratésgdilre year. Transaction gains and losses havbe®t material.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider all highly liquid financial instrumentith maturities at the time of purchase of threenths or less to be cash equivalents. Cash andecgsbalents may
consist of cash on deposit with banks, money mdtkets, and notes from government-sponsored agencie

Investments

Short and long-term investments are comprised tfaifsom governmergponsored agencies. All investments are recordestiaated fair value. Any unrealized g:
and losses from investments are reported in acatedibther comprehensive loss, a separate compohstaickholders’ equity. We evaluate our investta¢a assess
whether investments with unrealized loss positiorsoéiner than temporarily impaired. An investmertdesidered to be other than temporarily impairatiéfimpairment i:
related to deterioration in credit risk or if itlikely that we will sell the securities before tieeovery of their cost basis. No investment has lassessed as other than
temporarily impaired, and realized gains and losssr® immaterial during the years presented. Tiséafosecurities sold or the amount reclassifiedod@ccumulated other
comprehensive income into earnings is based ospéeific-identification method.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist primarily of casid cash equivalents, investments, accounts rdiejvend accounts payable. Our cash equivalentssiments,
accounts receivable, and accounts payable havershturity or payment periods. Accordingly, theirrging values approximated their fair values at ®aber 31, 201anc
2012 . As a basis for considering fair value, weofoll three-tier value hierarchy, which prioritizae tnputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level |: observable inputs such as quoted pricextive markets;
Level II: inputs other than quoted prices in activarkets that are observable either directly oirgudly; and
Level lll: unobservable inputs in which there iglditor no market data, which requires us to develapown assumptions.

This hierarchy requires us to use observable maldtat, when available, and to minimize the use obsarvable inputs when determining fair value. Gishc
equivalents, which include money market funds,céassified as Level | because they are valued ugirnged market prices. Our investments are geneskafsified as Leve
Il because their value is based on valuations usigngificant inputs derived from or corroborateddiservable market data. Depending on the sectinyincome and
market approaches are used in the model driveratiahs. Inputs of these models include recentlcetexl transaction prices in securities of the issueomparable issuers
and yield curves.
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The following table sets forth our financial ingtrants that were measured at fair value by levelimitie fair value hierarchy (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
Level | Level Il Level lll Total Level | Level Il Level lll Total
Assets
Money market funds (See Note 4) $ 1754 % 0o $ 0 $ 17547 % 17 % 0o $ 0o $ 17
U.S. government and agency securities 0 51,02t 0 51,02t 0 26,57¢ 0 26,57¢
Total assets measured at fair value $ 1754 $ 51,028 $ 0 $ 6857 % 17 $ 2657¢ $ 0 $ 26,59%

The following is a summary of investments and caghivalents at December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. government and agency securities $ 51,01: $ 17 % @4 $ 51,02t

The contractual maturity periods of $49.1 millidnoorr investments are within one year from Decen®1er2013 . The contractual maturity periods of maining
securities are less than eighteen months from Deeefih 2013 .

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at netdewalue. We review our exposure to accounts rebksvend provide allowances specific amounts ifemtlbility is
no longer reasonably assured based on historigairence and specific customer collection issues evéluate such allowances on a regular basis anst dtem as
needed.

Concentrations of Business and Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectaisriedit risk consist of cash, cash equivalentsgestments, and accounts receivable. Our cash, qasiaéents, and
investments may consist of deposits held with bamiksjey market funds, and other highly liquid inveshts that may at times exceed federally insuraddi Cash
equivalents and investments are financial instrum#rat potentially subject us to concentrationssK. Under our investment policy, we invest prirhaim securities issued
by the U.S. government. The goals of our investrpetity, in order of priority, are as follows: pregation of capital, meet liquidity needs, and optienreturns.

We generally do not require collateral to suppeetd sales. To reduce credit risk, we perform itredhluations of our customers. No single custorapresented
more than 10% of total revenue for 2013 , 201220dr1 , and no single customer represented moreltb® of total accounts receivable at December @132 or 2012 .

Our products include components that are curremtgyred from a single source or a limited numbesafrces. We believe that other vendors would be tabl
provide similar components; however, the qualifmabf such vendors may require start-up time.rifeoto mitigate any adverse impacts from a disompdf supply, we
attempt to maintain an adequate supply of crificgited-source components.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (omst-fin, first-out basis) or market. Inventorieslide raw materials, work-iprocess, and finished goods. Finished gc
that are used for research and development aregggeas consumed or depreciated over period oPuseisions for slow-moving, excess, and obsoletentories are
recorded when required to reduce inventory valuéleiv estimated net realizable values based oduystdife cycle, development plans, product exjpratand quality
issues.
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, including leasehold impnosets, are stated at cost less accumulated defweciaccumulated depreciation is calculated usheydtraight-
line method over the estimated useful lives ofaksets, which range from three to five years. Leddémprovements are amortized using the straigig#ethod over the
estimated useful lives of the assets or the remgitérm of the lease, whichever is shorter.

We evaluate our long-lived assets for indicatorpasisible impairment when events or changes inmistances indicate the carrying amount of an asagtrmot be
recoverable. If any indicator of impairment exist®, assess the recoverability of the affected liveglassets by determining whether the carryingesafithe asset can be
recovered through undiscounted future operating @ass. If impairment is indicated, we estimate #sset’s fair value using future discounted casivslassociated with
the use of the asset, and adjust the carrying \@ltiee asset accordingly. We did not recognizeiempairment of long-lived assets for any of theipés presented herein.

Investment, at Cost

At December 31, 2012, we had a minority equity inmesit in Verinata Health, Inc. (Verinata), a privathBld company, that was included in other non-curassets
and accounted for under the cost method of acaogintinder the cost method of accounting, the investrwas carried at cost and adjusted only for dtiean temporary
declines in value. No such declines were identifiad the carrying value of the investment at Decer@be2012 was $1.3 million .

In February 2013, lllumina, Inc. acquired Verinata $350 million in cash and up to an additional Gifillion in milestone payments through 2015. Inrtfa2013,
we received cash proceeds of $3.1 million in exckangour ownership interest in Verinata resuliing gain of $1.8 million . If the milestone payntebecome payable in
the future, we could receive up to $3.2 million ddaional proceeds.

Intangible Assets Acquisition

On June 28, 2013, we acquired certain patents, tpap@tications, and licenses from Helicos BioscienCerporation (Helicos) relating to Helicos’ nexigeation
sequencing technology. The rights acquired by esabject to certain licenses and sublicensesegtdnt Helicos prior to or contemporaneously with acquisition. The
assets were acquired for $1.0 million and we ireditransaction costs of approximately $0.3 millidfne patents, patent applications, and licenses &a alternative future
use and, as a result, the acquired assets anddtemscosts are capitalized as intangible asset@ee included in other non-current assets. Theieed assets are being
amortized to research and development expensetiosieiuseful life of ten years. Amortization experisr the year ended December 31, 2013 was $63,000 .

We evaluate our intangible assets for indicatongsasfible impairment when events or changes in mistances indicate the carrying amount of an asagtot be
recoverable. If any indicator of impairment exist®, assess the recoverability of the affected intdagssets by determining whether the carryingeaif the asset can be
recovered through undiscounted future operating flasss. If impairment is indicated, we estimate #sset's fair value using future discounted casivdlassociated with
the use of the asset, and adjust the carrying \&lthe asset accordingly. We did not recognizeiarpairment on intangible assets for any of thequsrpresented herein.

Reserve for Product Warranties

We generally provide a one -year warranty on ourumsents. We review our exposure to estimated warexpense associated with instrument sales aadlest an
accrual based on historical product failure rate$ actual warranty costs incurred. This expensedsrded as a component of cost of product reventheeiconsolidated
statements of operations. Warranty accrual balaase$0.3 million at December 31, 2013 and 2012 .

Revenue Recognition

We generate revenue from sales of our productmndie and collaboration agreements, and governmamisg Our products consist of instruments and woiables,
including IFCs, assays, and other reagents, retatedr microfluidic systems. Product revenue idelsi services for instrument installation, trainiagg customer support
services.

We recognize revenue when persuasive evidence afrangement exists, delivery has occurred or sesvi@ve been rendered, the price to the custorfiredsor
determinable, and collectability is reasonably es$uWe assess collectability based on factors asthe customer's creditworthiness and past daledbistory, if
applicable. If collection is not reasonably assuredenue recognition is deferred until receippagment. We also assess whether a price is fixeéterminable by,
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among other things, reviewing contractual terms@mtitions related to payment. Delivery occurs wiiente is a transfer of title and risk of loss pas® the customer.

Product Revenue

Certain of our sales contracts involve the deliv@rynultiple products and services within contratiyubinding arrangements. Significant judgmentasnetimes
required to determine the appropriate accountingdich arrangements, including whether the delivesadpecified in a multiple element arrangementikhbe treated as
separate units of accounting for revenue recognjtiorposes and, if so, how the related sales phioeld be allocated among the elements, when tgné&®revenue for
each element, and the period over which revenueldt@ recognized.

For sales contracts that include multiple delivegsbwe allocate the contract consideration atrtbeption of the contract to each unit of accouptiased upon its
relative selling price. We may use our best esenediselling price for
individual deliverables when vendor specific objezevidence or third-party evidence is unavailaBleelivered item is considered to be a sepamaiteafi accounting when
it has value to the customer on a stand-alone .basis

Our products, other than service contracts, areeled within a short time frame, generally withiredo three months, of the contract date. Serviograots are
entered into for terms of one to three year, follgyvihe expiration of the warranty period.

Our products are sold without the right of returecAuals are provided for estimated warranty expeaséhe time the associated revenue is recogmaadunts
received before revenue recognition criteria areane classified as deferred revenue in the cattesteld balance sheets.

License Revenue

License and royalty revenue from license agreeniemerognized when received, which is generalihenquarter following the quarter in which the copesding
sales occur.

Collaboration Revenue

We have entered into collaboration agreements thitt parties that provided us with up-front andipeic milestone payments. Upfront payments are geiyer
recognized over the term of the underlying agreénf®evenue associated with substantive at-risk mites is recognized based upon the achievemeheahilestones as
defined in the agreement.

Grant Revenue

We receive grants from various governmental estiiie research and related activities. Grants peuglwith payments for certain types of researchdavelopment
activities performed over a contractually definedipd. Grant revenue is recognized in the perioéhdurhich the related costs are incurred, provithed the conditions
under which the grants were provided have been nietv@ have only perfunctory obligations outstandfgounts received in advance of revenue recognéferclassifier
as deferred revenue in the consolidated balanegsheosts associated with grants are includedseareh and development expenses in the consolidtteuents of
operations.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs incurred for produgbrsients are included within cost of product reveimune consolidated statements of operations.

Research and Development

We recognize research and development expensies petiod incurred. Research and development egpamssist of personnel costs, independent cootreosts,
prototype and materials expenses, allocated fiasiland information technology expenses, and rtlaterhead expenses.

Advertising Costs
We expense advertising costs as incurred. We iedwdvertising costs of $2.4 million , $1.3 millipand $0.7 million during 2013 , 2012 , and 20tdspectively.
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Income Taxes

We use the asset and liability method to accouninfome taxes, whereby deferred income taxesatetfe impact of temporary differences for itemsognized for
financial reporting purposes over different peritiisn for income tax purposes. Valuation allowararesprovided when the expected realization of defetax assets does
not meet a “more likely than not” criterion.

We recognize the financial statement effects axgpbsition when it is more likely than not, basedlee technical merits, that the position will betained upon
examination. Any interest and penalties relatednizertain tax positions are reflected in incomepeowvision.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock options granted to employeelsdirectors based on the fair value of the aware ré¢ognize stock-based compensation expensetoaighsline
basis over the requisite service periods. For perdoce-based stock options, we recognize stock-tsagensation expense over the requisite servicedesing the
accelerated attribution method.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of netdosl other comprehensive income (loss). Other ceimepisive income (loss) consists of unrealized gainls
losses on our investments and foreign currencystation adjustments. Total comprehensive loss|fgraaiods presented has been disclosed in theotidaged statements
comprehensive loss.

Net Loss per Share Attributed to Common Stockholders

Our basic and diluted net loss per share attribitedmmon stockholders is calculated by dividinglass attributed to common stockholders by the heid-average
number of shares of common stock outstanding priod. Options to purchase our common stockamsidered to be potentially dilutive common shémetshave been
excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss phare attributed to common stockholders, as ¢fiect is anti-dilutive for all periods presented

The following potentially dilutive common sharesr@@xcluded from the computations of diluted neslper share attributed to common stockholderthéoperiods
presented because including them would have beediarive (in thousands):

At December 31,
2013 2012 2011
Options to purchase common stock 3,43% 2,94¢ 2,491

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

In June 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards®aatified Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Iss8€C, “Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Berwfien a
Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lassa Tax Credit Carryforward Exi” which concludes an unrecognized tax benefit shbelgresented as a reduction
of a deferred tax asset when settlement in this eraisravailable under the tax law. This guidanasffisctive for our interim and annual periods begig January 1, 2014.
We do not believe the adoption of this guidancé kéle a material impact on our consolidated fin@ratatements.
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3. License, Development, Collaboration, and Grant Agrements
License Agreements

On June 30, 2011, we settled certain litigation emtgred into a series of patent license agreemeétiitd.ife Technologies Corporation (now part of Therfisher
Scientific) and its subsidiary, Applied BiosysterbsC (collectively, Life). The agreements resulteda net $3.0 million payment by us to Life, whichswecognized as a
litigation settlement expense in our consolidatadesnent of operations because the amount paid yas principally attributable to resolving Lifdiggation claims with
respect to a specific expiring U.S. patent andaitsin counterparts. The agreements also provideafidous royalty payments on future sales of @éenaoducts by each of
the parties. Such royalty payments or receipts Inatédeen and are not expected to be material.to us

Under the terms of the agreements, in July 201Ipaie Life $2.0 million in connection with the exeseiof our option to limit or preclude certain patégation
between us and Life for a period of two to four peahs a result, subject to certain exceptions hifay not initiate litigation under its patentsstixig as of June 30, 2011
against our customers for a period of two years,against us, with respect to its current productsequivalent future products, for a period of fgaars. The additional
payment was included in other assets and is beirggtaed to selling, general and administrativeenge over four years on a straight-line basis méginin July 2011. The
additional payment is being amortized to sellingneral and administrative expense because it glesluife from initiating litigation for a period dbur years under its
relevant patents for any alleged prior and futaférigement by us, and because such preclusioteseta our equivalent future products. We recoght@5 million of
amortization expense during each of 2013 and 2012 .

In May 2011, we entered into an agreement with @alijife Sciences, Inc., which subsequently becamerkinEimer company (Caliper), to license Calipexssting
patent portfolio in certain fields, including nomvasive prenatal diagnostics, and obtained an pbdi@xtend this license to cover additional fielddditional payments are
due if we exercise our option to extend the licets®ler this agreement, we made an up-front paynfe$@.6 million and our obligation to pay royaltiesCaliper
commenced in January 2012. In August 2011, we ehtate an amendment to the agreement with Calipgmaade an additional up-front payment of $0.5
million . Pursuant to the amendment, the ratesdyalties payable to Caliper were substantiallyucedi and the period for which we are obligated toenakalty payments
was shortened, with the last payment due in mid-20d.8ur existing products at the time of amendnaet their future equivalents. If any of our futpreducts are
determined to infringe Caliper’s patents, the sagaeiced royalty rates will apply until the respeetpatents expire. The aggregate $1.1 million ghpents to Caliper are
being amortized to cost of product revenue onaggit-line basis through July 2018, when our rgypliyment obligations are expected to terminatedagpon our current
products. We recognized $0.3 million in cost ofgwret revenue during each of 2013 and 2012 andrfidlibn in 2011 . Our future royalty payments a expected to be
material.

Collaboration Agreement

In May 2010, we entered into a collaboration agreetmvith Novartis Vaccines & Diagnostics, Inc. to depea new product and received an up-front payme#o o
million . Additionally, the collaboration agreemeubvided for payments to us upon the achievememufiple defined milestones related to the desigd development of
product prototypes. The agreement set forth aldetacope of work, tasks, and metrics for each taitess These product prototypes had not been prslyiguoduced by us
and the achievement of these and other future toiles was uncertain at the time we entered intadhaboration agreement. We considered each ailestones to be
substantive and, accordingly, we recognized paynrectived from meeting such milestones as revemben each milestone was achieved.

In March 2011, we entered into an amendment teadfiaboration agreement and received an additi@a million . Under the amendment, certain milestowere
modified and payment terms related to this agre¢mssociated with satisfaction of the milestonesewevised.

During 2011, we recognized $1.0 million of milestsaeenue related to this agreement. All our perfarceaobligations under this agreement were satisfied
December 31, 2011 and there are no other agreemihtgotential future milestone. The collaborategreement terminated in accordance with its terffesteve May 1,
2012.

Grants
California I nstitute for Regenerative Medicine

In April 2009, we were awarded a grant from the Catii@ Institute for Regenerative Medicine (CIRM)the amount of $0.8 million to be earned over a tyear

period. Under this grant, we designed and developemtype microfluidic systems

75




Table of Contents
FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

for use in stem cell research. The final paymeneuithis grant was received in September 2011. In B4 1, we were awarded a second grant from CIRMeéramount of
$1.9 million to be earned over a three -year pefifitier this grant, we continue to design and devptototype microfluidic systems for use in sterth Esearch. The
CIRM grant revenue is recognized as the relateglres and development services are performed astd associated with this grant were recognized aarels and
development expense during the period incurredrétegnized $0.6 million of CIRM grant revenue dgreach of 2013 and 2012 .

Singapore Economic Development Board

In February 2007, we entered into a letter agreeqmemiding for up to SG $3.7 million (approximatéls$2.9 million using the December 31, 2013 exchaag® in
grants from the Singapore Economic Development (EDBs letter agreement applied to research, dewadop, and manufacturing activity from June 1, 2806ugh May
31, 2011 by Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Fluidigingapore), our wholly-owned subsidiary. Grant paymergre calculated as a portion of qualifying experiacurred in
Singapore relating to salaries, overhead, outsegrand subcontracting expenses, operating expesrsgésaw material purchases. In May 2011, Fluid&jngapore
submitted its final progress report and evidencaabfievement of its development targets underdtierlagreement. We received our final grant paymeder the letter
agreement in July 2011. In July 2013, we receivedigoation from EDB that all of our obligations undie letter agreement had been met.

This agreement further provided EDB with the rightieanand repayment of a portion of past grant iretrent we did not meet our obligations under theagent.
Based on confirmation received from the EDB, weehfaifilled our obligations under the grant and witlerefore, not have to repay any of the granteeds received.

All ownership rights in the intellectual property édoped by us in Singapore remain with Fluidigm &jpgre, and no such rights are conveyed to EDB uhéer
agreements.
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4. Balance Sheet Data
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The following are summaries of cash and cash etgnts (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2013:
Cash
Money market funds

As of December 31, 2012:
Cash
U.S. government and agency security
Money market funds

Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands)of:

Raw Materials
Work-in-process
Finished Goods

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followingtifiousands) as of:

Computer equipment and software
Laboratory and manufacturing equipment
Leasehold improvements

Office furniture and fixtures

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

Construction-in-progress
Property and equipment, net

7

Amortized Cost

and
Estimated Fair
Value

$ 17,71«

17,547

$ 35,26!

$ 57,08:

1,55(

17

$ 58,64¢

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

$ 2,65( $ 2,84¢
1,625 1,36¢

3,871 2,95¢

$ 8,14t $ 7,16¢

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012

$ 2,72¢ 3 2,37:
13,97: 12,84t

1,48¢ 991

822 571

19,001 16,78¢
(14,47 (12,95Y)

2,281 1,141

$ 6,81¢ $ 4,97¢
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5. Long-Term Debt

We entered into a long-term loan agreement in M6 that was subsequently amended in 2006, 2008, 2nd 2010 (as amended, the Loan Agreement). In
connection with the Loan Agreement, we issued wartarpsirchase a total of 209,960 shares of our atible preferred stock to the lender. Upon the eigsif our IPO in
February 2011, the warrants to purchase 209,96@slad our convertible preferred stock that werel il the lender were converted to warrants to pwelsaares of
common stock. In July 2011, the lender net exetlicibese warrants at an exercise price of $12.1%hmre and was issued 70,731 shares of common stock.

Commencing in March 2011, we made principal and-éstepayments of $0.6 million per month and, asired under the Loan Agreement, we made an additiona
principal payment of $2.3 million in March 2012. bigithe effective interest method, a majority of March 2012 payment was accrued as interest exjpepsgiods prior
to 2010 with the remainder being recognized thrahghmaturity date. In June 2012, we elected to naakadditional principal payment in the amount o8%illion using
proceeds from our Line of Credit (see Note 6) angwie the remaining balance due of $2.1 milliolsaptember 2012.

6. Line of Credit

In December 2012, we entered into a two -year bawekdf credit agreement (as amended, the Line difhat provided us with the ability to borrow up$10.0
million , of which $6.0 million is available on amdormula basis, subject to certain covenants dhdraestrictions. The balance of $4.0 millisravailable based on eligit
receivables. The Line of Credit is collateralizeddor assets, excluding our intellectual propeatyd bears interest at a rate equal to the grebgr 8.75% or (ii) the prime
rate plus 0.50% per year. At December 31, 201328@ , there was no outstanding balance on thedfi@redit and we were in compliance with all applikz covenants.

7. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases
We have entered into various long-term non-cantelaperating leases for equipment and facilities.

On April 9, 2013, we entered into an amendment (the#dment) to the lease agreement dated SeptembP@t@(as amended, the Lease) relating to the tE#ase
office and laboratory space at our headquarteetéadcat 7000 Shoreline Court, South San Franc@Balifornia. The Amendment provides for an expansibtine premises
covered under the Lease to include space thattierdly being subleased by us from a third partgulgh March 31, 2014; an extension of the ternhefltease to April 30,
2020 with an option to renew for an additional fixgars; payment of base rent with rent escalatind;payment of certain operating expenses duringetime of the Lease.
The Amendment also provides for an allowance of gprately $0.7 million for tenant improvements, ainito the extent not used by March 31, 2015, bélused to
offset base rent obligations, and an additionaledince of approximately $0.5 millidar tenant improvements, which, if used, will beaipin equal monthly payments w
interest at a rate of 9% per annum over the reimaterm of the Lease.

On October 14, 2013, Fluidigm Singapore acceptedfan af tenancy (Lease) from HSBC Institutional $r$ervices (Singapore) Limited, as trustee of Adaen
Real Estate Investment Trust (Landlord), relatmghe lease of a facility located at Block 5008, Ang Kio Avenue 5, TECHplace Il, Singapore 569874. Bans to the
terms of the Lease, Fluidigm Singapore took possess the facility commencing on March 3, 2014 &oterm of 99 months, and the Lease and rentajatizdns thereunder
will commence on June 3, 2014. The Lease also pesviduidigm Singapore with an option to renew thadeefor an additional 6@onths at the then prevailing market rt
and on similar terms as the existing Lease, anmgha of first refusal on certain additional spacéthe building beginning June 2, 2014 until Jun2Qi,5. The leases for
Fluidigm Singapores existing facilities terminate on September 34,20 luidigm Singapore intends to consolidate iofacturing operations in the new space in threl
quarter of 2014. See Note 16.

78




Table of Contents
FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2013

As of December 31, 2013, we also leased office spader non-cancelable leases in Japan, China, amt&rwith various expiration dates through March620
Certain facility leases also contain rent escatatlauses. Future minimum lease payments undecancelable operating leases as of December 31,&@1&s follows (in
thousands):

Years ending December 31:

2014 $ 2,077
2015 2,23t
2016 2,10¢
2017 2,077
2018 2,10¢
Thereafter 4,11¢
Total minimum payments $ 14,70¢

Our lease payments are expensed on a straightdsie bver the life of the lease. Rental expensemoplerating leases, net of amortization of leaseritive, totaled
$2.7 million , $1.9 million , and $1.6 million f@013 , 2012 , and 2011 , respectively.

Other Commitments

In the normal course of business, we enter intmuarcontractual and legally binding purchase commmaits. As of December 31, 2013 , these commitmenthé
next year were approximately $8.6 million .

Indemnifications

From time to time, we have entered into indemnifaraprovisions under certain of our agreementfiéndrdinary course of business, typically with bess partners,
customers, and suppliers. Pursuant to these agreenmee may indemnify, hold harmless, and agreeitobiurse the indemnified parties on a case-by-basks for losses
suffered or incurred by the indemnified partiesémnection with any patent or other intellectuaparty infringement claim by any third party witkspect to our products.
The term of these indemnification provisions iseaifly perpetual from the time of the executiortef agreement. The maximum potential amount oféupayments we
could be required to make under these indemnifiogtrovisions is typically not limited to a speciimount. In addition, we have entered into indeitatibn agreements
with our officers and directors. We have not incdmeaterial costs to defend lawsuits or settle clamteted to these indemnification provisions. ADetember 31, 2013,
we had no accrued liabilities for these indemnifaaprovisions.

Contingencies

From time to time, we may be subject to variouslipgaceedings and claims arising in the ordinamyree of business. We assess contingencies to detethe
degree of probability and range of possible losgpfiential accrual in our financial statements.estimated loss contingency is accrued in the firgdustatements if it is
probable that a liability has been incurred andameunt of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

Pursuant to the terms of a patent cross licensseaggnt with Applied Biosystems, LLC (a subsidianLié¢ Technologies Corporation, or Life, and nowrtpzt
Thermo Fisher Scientific), we are obligated to mal&L.0 million payment to Life upon satisfactionceftain conditions. We do not believe that theditions triggering the
payment obligation have been met; however, on Octb®e2013, Life provided notice that the $1.0 rillpayment was due and payable under the licegrezment. We
accrued a loss contingency of $1.0 million on Seyter 30, 2013 and on January 30, 2014, we paidthé@mount due while reserving our rights with respesuch
matter. Among other reasons, we made the paymeoid what would have been, in our view, an imprdpemination of our license to certain Life patélihgs under the
agreement, which could have subjected our relevatyet lines to risks associated with patent infeimgnt litigation.

On November 6, 2012, we filed a complaint against I$ameg Technologies, Inc., or NanoString, in the BdiStates District Court in the Northern District of
California (Civil Action No. 12-5712), alleging clasrof false advertising, unfair competition, andawvful trade practice in violation of the Lanham Antlacorresponding
sections of the California Business & ProfessiondéC Our complaint sought to enjoin NanoString framtimuing to make or disseminate any of the fate misleading
claims, misrepresenting and/or exaggerating thispaance of its product in comparison with our Biafd System, to require NanoString to retract, removeorrect the
false and misleading advertising claims, and tovec damages and other relief for harm caused by WanoString. In addition, we filed a lawsuit on Apr, 2013 in
Singapore against NanoString alleging malicioussfad®d in advertising and trademark infringementS@ptember 30, 2013,
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we and NanoString agreed to settle the lawsuits tdtimes of the settlement require NanoString to, agrather things, pay us $0.6 million , remove dlérences - from its
marketing materials, website, and promotional atisi- to a single-cell comparison study compafthgdigm and NanoString single-cell products, ashaselrecall and
destroy all materials related to and/or based ersthdy. The case brought in the United StatesiEti€ourt in the Northern District of California wdgsmissed on October
22, 2013, and the case brought in Singapore wasmtiaued on October 29, 2013.

8. Promissory Notes
Note and Warrant Purchase Agreement

In January 2011, we entered into a note and waptanchase agreement (the Note Agreement) with egistiockholders, including certain of our officerslalirectors
under which we issued subordinated secured promissxes (the Notes) with an aggregate principal amof$6.0 million bearing interest at a rate of §3%r year. Our
obligations under the Notes were secured by ourgssatiuding intellectual property, and were subwatiid to senior indebtedness under the Loan Agretgises Note 5)
and the Line of Credit (see Note 6). Notes issuecutite Note Agreement matured on the earliest ¢aroaf the closing of the next financing in which issued and sold
shares of capital stock of at least $25.0 milliachange of control as defined in the Note Agreenmentanuary 6, 2012 (the maturity date). In cotinaavith the Note
Agreement, we issued warrants to acquire a totaD8f1B2 shares of Series E-1 convertible preferteeksat $0.02 per share. The fair value of theseamés, based on a
contemporaneous valuation, was $1.2 million and wesgnized as an original issue discount amortizawée the expected life of the borrowing. As a restitbur IPO in
February 2011, the warrants were net exercisedd®y1B2shares of our common stock and we repaid all grai@nd interest outstanding under these Noteglimuary an
March 2011. Upon repayment of the Notes, the untineat discount of $1.2 million was immediately renizgd as interest expense.

9. Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

On February 10, 2011, we had outstanding warransrithase 489,880 shares of our convertible prefesteck that had been granted at various timeg 1001.
Warrants to purchase our convertible preferredkstzere recognized at fair value using the Black-$&hoption pricing model and classified as liatgtbecause the
warrants may have conditionally obligated us togfanassets at some point in the future. The wesnaare subject to remeasurement to fair valuedt balance sheet de
and any change in fair value was recognized irctimelensed consolidated statements of operatidlessifrom changes in the fair value of convertjineferred stock
warrants. The fair value of these warrants was apmately $3.7 million at February 10, 2011, which veasincrease in fair value of approximately $1.8iam since
December 31, 2010. Upon the closing of our IPO, wasréor approximately 103,182 shares of our coiitverpreferred stock were net exercised and theemlzbility of
$1.4 million was reclassified to additional paideapital; warrants to purchase 209,960 shares of@uwrertible preferred stock were converted into amis to purchase
common stock and the related liability of $1.5 roill was reclassified to additional paid-in capitag remaining warrants to purchase 176,738 shémsr@onvertible
preferred stock expired unexercised and the relabiity of $0.8 million was recognized as ganom extinguishment of convertible preferred stockresmats.

10. Convertible Preferred Stock

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were no Sledieonvertible preferred stock issued or outstands all shares of preferred stock convertedhéoes of
common stock upon completion of our IPO. During 2Qdliloutstanding shares of convertible prefertedlsconverted by their terms into approximately48D,000 shares
of common stock and the related carrying valueppfaximately $184.6 million , plus $9.9 million déemed dividend (see Note 2), was reclassifiedmoncon stock and
additional paid-in capital.

Each share of convertible preferred stock convartrcommon stock based upon a conversion rataefshare of common stock for each share of cabieert
preferred stock regardless of the series, excefBddes E convertible preferred stock which cotadat a rate of approximately 1.3 shares of comstock for each share
of Series E convertible preferred stock.

No dividends on the convertible preferred stock Haeen declared or paid from our inception throdghdonversion of the preferred stock into commonolst
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11. Stock-Based Compensation
2011 Equity Incentive Plan

On January 28, 2011, our board of directors adoe@011 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2011 Plan) und®ch incentive stock options, nonstatutory stopkions,
restricted stock units, stock appreciation rightsformance units, and performance shares (collgfiAwards) may be granted to our employees, dirscind consultant

Incentive stock options and nonstatutory stockamstigranted under the 2011 Plan have a term ofare than ten years from the date of grant and arcese price of
at least 100% of the fair market value of the ulyiley common stock on the date of grant. If a pgtint owns stock representing more than 10% oftieg power of all
classes of our stock on the grant date, an inaestivck option awarded to the participant will haterm of no more than five years from the datgraht and an exercise
price of at least 110% of the fair market valughef underlying common stock on the date of granhe@aly, outstanding options vest at a rate ofezitb% on the first

anniversary of the option grant date and ratabtyeaonth over the remaining period of 36 monthsratably each month over 48 months . We may gvptibns with
different vesting terms from time to time.

Our board of directors sets the terms, conditiond,rastrictions related to the grant of restricteatk units, including the number of restricteccktanits to grant. Our

board of directors also sets vesting criteria aegending on the extent to which the criteria ae¢, wur board of directors will determine the numdierestricted stock units
to be paid out.

The exercise price of any stock appreciation rgjtall be determined by our board of directors blithé no less than 100% of the fair market valu¢hefunderlying
common stock on the date of grant. The stock ajgiren rights expire upon the date determined bybmard of directors but no later than ten yeasmfthe date of grant.

Our board of directors sets the performance objestand other vesting provisions in determiningnihiber of shares or value of performance unitspantbrmance
shares that will be paid out. Such payout will Harection of the extent to which performance objexs or other vesting provisions have been achieved

As of December 31, 2013 , the 2011 Plan had a té®&Pd 3,000 awards authorized for issuance.

2009 Equity Incentive Plan and 1999 Stock Option Bh

Our 2009 Equity Incentive Plan (the 2009 Plan) teatéd on the date the 2011 Plan was adopted afi®#8Stock Option Plan (the 1999 Plan) expireddo®
Options granted or shares issued under the 200%Rththe 1999 Plan that were outstanding on thetdat2011 Plan became effective remained subjebietterms of the
respective plans.

Activity under the 2011 Plan, the 2009 Plan, andli®@9 Plan is as follows (in thousands, except paresamounts):

Outstanding Options
Weighted-Average

Shares Available Number of Exercise Price
for Grant Shares per Share

Balance as of December 31, 2012 44F 2,948 $ 10.8¢
Additional shares authorized 1,00(¢ —

Options granted (1,273) 127: % 18.1¢

Options exercised — (696) $ 8.3t

Options canceled 90 90) $ 14.41

Balance as of December 31, 2013 262 343: ¢ 13.9¢
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We determine stock-based compensation expense th&ir®jack-Scholes option-pricing model and théofwing weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Expected volatility 57.1% 57.€% 57.€%
Expected life 5.9 year 5.9 year 5.9 year
Risk-free interest rate 1.2% 1.1% 1.€%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Weighted-average fair value of options granted $ 9.6z $ 79C $ 6.44

Expected volatility is derived from the historicallatilities of several unrelated public companigthin the life sciences industry. Each company&drical volatility
is weighted based on certain qualitative factord,@mbined to produce the single volatility faatged by us. The risk-free interest rate is baseti@.S. Treasury yield
curve in effect at the time of grant for zero comhS. Treasury notes with maturities approximaggjyal to the option’s expected life. Given our tedi history as a public
company, we used the “simplified” method to estineatpected lives of options granted to the varicupleyee groups. The “simplified” method calculates expected life
of an option as the average of the time-to-vesiimg the contractual life of the options. Forfeituveere estimated based on an analysis of actuaitimés. We periodically
evaluate the adequacy of our forfeiture rate basealctual forfeiture experience, analysis of emgéoturnover, and other factors. Each of these snigigubjective and
generally requires significant judgment by us. Alsquired to compute the fair value calculation pfians is the fair value of the underlying commdtock.

We grant stock options at exercise prices nottless the fair value of our common stock at the déigrant. Prior to our IPO, our board of directobdained
contemporaneous valuations from an unrelated thartly valuation firm to determine the estimated f@lue of common stock based on an analysis ef/agit metrics, such
as the price of the most recent convertible pretestock sales to outside investors, the rightfepences, and privileges of the convertible pretestock, our operating and
financial performance, the hiring of key persontiet, introduction of new products, the lack of neaability of the common stock, and additional fasteelating to our
business. There is inherent uncertainty in theSmates and if we or the valuation firm had madéedént assumptions, the amount of our stock-basetpensation
expense, net loss, and net loss per share amaritsltave been significantly different. Followingetbompletion of our IPO in February 2011, the failue of options
granted is based on the closing price of our comstock on the date of grant as quoted on the NASDA®& Ielarket.

Additional information regarding our stock optiongstanding and exercisable as of December 31, 20di3nmarized in the following table:

Options Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Number of Remaining
Exercise Price Per Share Shares Contractual Life Options Exercisable
(In Thousands) (In Years) (In Thousands)
$2.42 - $3.39 76 1.1 76
$4.08 - $4.08 89 5.9 89
$4.45 - $4.45 29t 6.2 277
$8.23 - $8.37 262 7.0 20C
$13.01 - $13.08 17¢€ 7.7 12€
$13.16 - $14.90 841 7.9 40E
$15.04 - $21.94 1,64¢ 8.9 437
$29.87 - $38.28 44 9.9 —
3,43: 8.0 1,61(

Options exercisable as of December 31, 2013 had ghveei-average remaining contractual life of 7.2rgea weighted-average exercise price per shar&1o8%, and
an aggregate intrinsic value of $43.3 million .
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Options outstanding that have vested as of Decenihé@03 3 or are expected to vest in the future amensarized as follows:

Weighted-
Average Weighted- Aggregate
Number of Exercise Price Average Remaining Intrinsic
shares per Share Contractual Life Value (1)
(In Thousands) (In Years) (In Thousands)
Vested 1,61C $ 11.3¢ 72 % 43,34
Expected to vest, net of forfeitures 1,75C $ 16.3¢ 8.6 38,39t
Total vested and expected to vest, net of forfegur 336( ¢ 13.9¢ 8o $ 81,73¢

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value was calculated agdifference between the closing stock price on éisé¢ trading day of 2013 , which was $38.28 , ancitegcise price of
the options, multiplied by the number of in-the-ragroptions.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgr2013 , 2012 , and 2011 was $20.8 million , $Bilfon , and $3.1 million , respectively.

There were no stock-based compensation tax beneditgnized during 2013 , 2012 , or 2011 . Capkalistock-based compensation costs were insignifata
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 .

As of December 31, 2013, there was $15.7 milliorotfltunrecognized compensation cost related tkdtased compensation arrangements that is exptctel
recognized over an average period of 2.6 years.

In January 2011, we granted 94,972 performancesbastions (the 2010 performance awards) to certedowtives. These awards vest over a period of appedely
four years based on continuing service and wereestity) accelerated vesting if specified corporatt departmental performance goals were met fofishel year ended
December 31, 2010. Based on achievement of 201Gtdegpaal and corporate goals, vesting for 66,48ap was accelerated in March 2011. We recogni8¢0® ,
$20,000 and $0.4 million of stock-based compensaipense during 2013, 2012, and 2011 , resgdgtiv

12. Income Taxes
Our loss before income taxes consists of the follgwin thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011

Domestic ($16,20!) ($18,01) ($20,81Y)
International (1849) (871 (1,489
Loss before income taxes ($16,389) ($18,889) ($22,30¢)

Significant components of our provision for incotages are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Current
State ($29 (812) ($9)
Foreign (113) (124 (162)
Total provision for income taxes ($137) ($13¢) ($16€)
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Reconciliation of income taxes at the statutorg tatthe provision for income taxes recorded instiagements of operations is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Tax benefit at federal statutory rate 34.(% 34.C% 34.C%
State tax expense, net of federal benefit 5.€ (2.7 3.€
Foreign tax expense (3.9 0.9 (2.5)
Change in valuation allowance (34.¢ (28.0 (32.2)
Federal R&D Credit 6.¢ — 1.2
Unrecognized tax benefit (4.5 (3.9 (1.9
Return to provision reconciliation (2.8 0.2 (0.2
Other, net (2.3 (1.6 (2.8
Effective tax rate (0.8)% (0.7% (0.8%

Significant components of our deferred tax assedsliabilities are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 82,23( % 79,797
Reserves and accruals 2,467 1,672
Depreciation and amortization 28z 35E
Tax credit carryforwards 7,89¢ 6,63¢
Stock-based compensation 3,39 2,14¢
Total deferred tax assets 96,27¢ 90,617
Valuation allowance (96,27%) (90,617
Net deferred tax assets $ — 3 —

We evaluate a number of factors to determine thkzability of our deferred tax assets. Recognitibrleferred tax assets is appropriate when realizaf these asse
is more likely than not. Assessing the realizabttifydeferred tax assets is dependent upon sesrtair§ including historical financial results. Tiet deferred tax assets h
been fully offset by a valuation allowance becausédaxee incurred losses since our inception. Theataln allowance increased by $5.7 million and $5ilion during
2013 and 2012, respectively. The change in valnatimwance in 2013 is mainly due to the current’gdaxable loss and the current year's researdhdawelopment
credit.

As of December 31, 2013, we had net operating losgfoavards for U.S. federal income tax purposes28&0 million , which expire in the years 2020 tlgbu
2034, and U.S. federal research and developmemwtéabits of $5.5 million , which expire in the ye&@20 through 2034 . As of December 31, 2013, weneadperating
loss carryforwards for state income tax purpose&l@D.3 million , which expire in the years 2018othigh 2034 , California research and developmentttedits of $6.2
million , which do not expire. As of December 31, 2048 had foreign net operating loss carryforward$2® million , which expire in the years 2015 thrb@22 .

Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwardsl @redits may be subject to a substantial animéhltion due to the ownership change limitationsvided by
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 198@&nmaended, and similar state provisions. The arlimigtion may result in the expiration of net ogting losses and
credits before utilization. We previously completeSection 382 analysis for the period from ouepton in May 1999 through December 31, 2012 andrdehed that an
ownership change as defined under Section 382 mxtur November 2001, which resulted in a reductiaur U.S. federal and California net operatingéssby $1.2
million and $0.7 million , respectively. We havefoemed a Section 382 update for the period fronuday 1, 2013 through December 31, 2013 and detedithat an
ownership change did not occur during such period.

We have not provided for U.S. federal and staterime taxes on any of our non-U.S. subsidiaries’ uridiged earnings as of December 31, 2013 becaucde s
earnings are intended to be indefinitely reinvestfubn distribution of those earnings
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in the form of dividends or otherwise, we may bejscito U.S. federal and state income taxes, theragnation of which is not practical as it is degient on the amount of
U.S. tax losses or other tax attributes availabtbetime of the repatriation. Undistributed earsiog our foreign subsidiaries amounted to approsefye50.4 million at
December 31, 2013.

Effective January 1, 2010, we obtained approvaPioneer Tax Status in Singapore. The Pioneer TaxSallows a full exemption from Singapore cogpertax
related to contract manufacturing activities thiolepcember 31, 2019, subject to the achievemetertdin milestones which will be reviewed by the Sipgre
government. Due to available capital allowances, axeot benefited from the tax exemption throughddeber 31, 2013 and may never benefit if we daanbteve the
required milestones.

On January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief A2042 (H.R.8) was signed into law. This law retrozedii extended the federal research and development
credits (R&D credits) for amounts incurred from Jaryul, 2012 through December 31, 2013. As a restlteofetroactive extension, we generated a 2012dbtx credit
of $0.4 million , net of reserve, which was fullffset by the valuation allowance.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The aggregate changes in the balance of our grossagnized tax benefits during 2013, 2012, and.2@dre as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 2010 $4,79¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current period 652
December 31, 2011 5,44¢
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current period 90z
December 31, 2012 6,351
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current period 1,04¢
Decreases in balances related to tax positions tdieng prior period (547)
December 31, 2013 $6,84¢

Accrued interest and penalties related to unrecegiax benefits were included in the income tax igiom and were immaterial.

As of December 31, 2013, the total amount of unreizegintax benefits that, if recognized, would affeat effective tax rate is zero . We do not antitégaat our
existing unrecognized tax benefits will significaniticrease or decrease within the next 12 months .

We file income tax returns in the United Statesiows states, and certain foreign jurisdictions.ad®sult of net operating loss carryforwards, Bur tax years are
open to federal and state examination in the UrBtiatles. Tax years from 2008 are open to examinativarious foreign countries.

13. Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor a 401(k) savings plan for our employeése United States that stipulates that eligétgployees may elect to contribute to the plan,esiltp certain
limitations, up to the lesser of 60% of eligiblexgmensation or the maximum amount allowed by the lt8rnal Revenue Service. We have not made cotiifsito this
plan since its inception.

14. Information About Geographic Areas

We operate in one reporting segment, which is thveldpment, manufacturing, and commercializatiomafrofluidic systems for the life science and Ag-Bio
industries. Our chief executive officer managesaperations and evaluates our financial performamca consolidated basis. For purposes of allocaéagurces and
evaluating regional financial performance, our thieecutive officer reviews separate sales inforamafor the different regions of the world. Our gealend administrative
expenses and our research and development exmmesest allocated to any specific region. Most af principal operations, other than manufacturary] our decision-
making functions are located at our corporate headgrs in the United States.
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The following table represents our product revelmyigeography based on the billing address of ostocners for each year presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
United States $36,30¢ $27,32! $21,64-
Europe 18,47: 13,08¢ 10,49¢
Asia-Pacific 6,56+ 6,321 3,69¢
Japan 6,63¢ 3,84( 3,94z
Other 2,21t 91€ 79¢
Total $70,19¢ $51,48t¢ $40,58:

Our license and collaboration and grant revenueimsapily generated in the United States.

We had long-lived assets consisting of property eaqudpment, net of accumulated depreciation, irfeéHewing geographic areas (in thousands) as of:

December 31,

December 31,

December 31,

2013 2012 2011
United States $2,96° $1,96¢ $1,50:
Singapore 3,741 2,961 1,72(
Japan 32 18 23
Europe 64 27 11
Asia-Pacific 14 — —
Total $6,81¢ $4,97: $3,25¢
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Selected quarterly results of operations for treryended December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as foliowsousands, except for per share amounts):

2013

Total revenue

Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

2012

Total revenue

Net loss

Net loss per share, basic and diluted
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First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 14,53 $ 17,480 $ 18,28° $ 20,88:
$ (3557 $ (4,046 $ (4,286 $ (4,649
$ 019 $ (0.12¢) $ 017 $ (0.1¢)
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
$ 10,94 $ 12,94¢ $ 12,78: $ 15,65¢
$ (6,690 $ (4580 $ (415) $ (3,609
$ 039 $ (022 $ 0.1 $ (0.19
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16. Subsequent Events
Senior Convertible Notes Offering

On February 4, 2014, we closed an underwritten pulfiering of approximately $201.3 million aggregatincipal amount of our 2.75% Senior Convertibletido
due 2034 (Notes) pursuant to an underwriting ages¢naated January 29, 2014. The Notes will acerigzast at a rate of 2.75% per year, payable samially in arrears
on February 1 and August 1 of each year, commenirgust 1, 2014. The Notes will mature on Februard0B4, unless earlier converted, redeemed, or repeed in
accordance with the terms of the Notes. The initiaversion rate of the Notes is 17.8750 sharesiof@emmon stock, par value $0.001 per share, p@0®Iprincipal
amount of Notes (which is equivalent to an initiaheersion price of approximately $55.94 per shaFbg conversion rate will be subject to adjustmgruthe occurrence
of certain specified events. Holders may surretigeir Notes for conversion at any time prior to steted maturity date. On or after February 6, 2GiBior to February |
2021, we may redeem any or all of the Notes in dasle closing price of our common stock exceed3%f the conversion price for a specified numbdetays, and on or
after February 6, 2021, we may redeem any or d@li@iNotes in cash without any such condition. Tldemgption price of the Notes will equal 100% of thimgipal amount
of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest. Heldwy require us to repurchase all or a portiath@f Notes on each of February 6, 2021, Februa®084, and Februa
6, 2029 at a repurchase price in cash equal to kifa#e principal amount of the Notes plus accraed unpaid interest. If we undergo a fundamentatg@baas defined in
the terms of the Notes, holders may require usgorohase the Notes in whole or in part for cashraparchase price equal to 100% of the principalarhof the Notes
plus accrued and unpaid interest.

We received net cash proceeds of approximately #iifidn from the issuance of the Notes and havel eggproximately $117.2 million of the net procetmisatisfy
the cash portion of the DVS Sciences, Inc. acquisifdiscussed below).

Acquisition of DVS Sciences, Inc.

On February 13, 2014, we acquired DVS Sciences, Inc. JB@&pproximately $193.8 million and assumecdbalistanding DVS stock options and unvested restricte
stock, as discussed below. The merger considerpéigable to the former stockholders of DVS, excludirgvalue of stock options and unvested restristeck assumed |
us, consisted of approximately $117.2 million isttand 1,759,007 shares of Fluidigm common stodk avfir value of approximately $76.8 million , lading cash of
$1.0 million in escrow to satisfy certain potentiarking capital adjustments. In addition, 50.3030Rthe shares with a fair value of $38.6 milliaras deposited into escrt
to secure indemnification obligations. Under thente of the merger agreement, all outstanding stptions and unvested shares of DVS restricted st@eck converted into
142,624 stock options and 186,417 shares of Fleidigmmon stock, respectively, pursuant to an exghaatio specified in the merger agreement. At Fatyra3, 2014,
there were 27,756,000 shares of our common stoakdsand outstanding, which includes the 1,759,0@res issued and 186,417 shares of unvested tedtsiock for the
DVS acquisition but excludes any exercise of stqufions since December 31, 2013.

Prior to the closing of the acquisition, we closedunderwritten public offering of approximately $2® million aggregate principal amount of our Naof@iscussed
above) to fund the cash portion of the acquisitionsideration. The results of DVS'’s operations hasebeen included in our consolidated financiatesteents for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

The initial accounting for the business combinat®im progress as of the date of this Form 10HKdi
Termination of Singapore Lease

Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Fluidigm Singapor@)r wholly-owned subsidiary, is currently party tades for manufacturing and office space in Singagone of
the leases expires on September 30, 2014 accaalitgyterms, and the remainder of the leases wlire on later dates through August 26, 2016 (theOttleases). On
February 27, 2014, Fluidigm Singapore notifiedatsdlord that it was exercising its right pursuanttte terms of the Other Leases to terminate therQthases early,
effective as of September 30, 2014.

Fluidigm Singapore intends to relocate its Singagacilities to its new manufacturing and office apéocated at Block 5008, Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5 TECHpldl,
Singapore in the third quarter of 2014. See Note 7.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chieé&ttive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, ewated the effectiveness of our disclosure contals
procedures as of December 31, 2013 . The term tdigok controls and procedures,” as defined in RLBas15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Acpmeontrols
and other procedures of a company that are destpnekure that information required to be disaddsg a company in the reports that it files or sitbmnder the Exchan¢
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reparigdn the time periods specified in the SEC’s suded forms. Disclosure controls and procedurdadec without
limitation, controls and procedures designed tasnthat information required to be disclosed lmp@pany in the reports that it files or submitsemithe Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s nesnewgt, including its principal executive and prpadifinancial officers, as appropriate to allow tlyndecisions
regarding required disclosure. Management recogrifrg any controls and procedures, no matter howdesigned and operated, can provide only reaseraslurance of
achieving their objectives and management necéssaplies its judgment in evaluating the cost-tiitmelationship of possible controls and procedui®ased on the
evaluation of our disclosure controls and proceslaseof December 31, 2013, our Chief Executive &ffemd Chief Financial Officer concluded that, aswith date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectitkeateasonable assurance level.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finah&aporting

Our management is responsible for establishing amdtaining adequate internal control over finanoggorting to provide reasonable assurance regatim
reliability of our financial reporting and the paeption of financial statements for external pugsos accordance with GAAP. Management assessedteanal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 20&nagement based its assessment on criteria estatblininternal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread®@ommission (1992 Framework). Based on our assgsmanagement has concluded that our internataiaver
financial reporting was effective as of December2,3 . The certifications of our principal execativfficer and principal financial officer attachasl Exhibits 31.1 and
31.2 to this report include, in paragraph 4 of seetifications, information concerning our disalos controls and procedures and internal contnads financial reporting.

The effectiveness of our internal control over fioial reporting as of December 31, 2013 has beeitegdy Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registeratlic
accounting firm, as stated in its report includedhis Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repogtin
There were no changes in our internal control éwamncial reporting that occurred during the thneenths ended December 31, 2013 that have mateaiédigted, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, oureimtal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well conceived aretatpd, are designed to provide a reasonable dbatmabsolute, level of assurance that the objesitf the
control system are met. Further, the design ofrarobsystem must reflect the fact that there asmurce constraints, and the benefits of controlst fse considered relative
to their costs. Because of the inherent limitationall control systems, no evaluation of contrcds provide absolute assurance that all controésand instances of fraud,
if any, have been detected. Because of the inh&naitditions in any control system, misstatements tb error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not applicable.
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10H€, information required by this Item 10 relatingoter executive officers is included under the aaptiExecutive
Officers” in Part | of this Form 10-K.

The other information required by this Item 10nedrporated by reference to our Proxy Statemerth®®2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to bedilvith the
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 déysir December 31, 2013 fiscal year end) undeh#alings “Corporate Governance and Board of Diregtor
“Election of Class | Directors,” “Executive Officérand “Related Person Transactions and Section) Bigeficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.”

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 is incargted by reference to our Proxy Statement for 8ted2Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed vt
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 déysir December 31, 2013 fiscal year end) undeh#slings “Corporate Governance and Board of Dirgttord
“Executive Compensation.”

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND M ANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 is incagted by reference to our Proxy Statement for fiiel2Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed vitile
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 déysir December 31, 2013 fiscal year end) undeh#alings “Executive Compensation” and “Security Oainip.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECT OR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 is incargted by reference to our Proxy Statement for 8td2Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed vittle
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 déysir December 31, 2013 fiscal year end) undeh#alings “Corporate Governance and Board of Dirgttord
“Related Person Transactions and Section 16(a)fidgieOwnership Reporting Compliance.”

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item 14 is incagted by reference to our Proxy Statement for fiiel2Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed vitile
Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 déysir December 31, 2013 fiscal year end) undeh#sing “Ratification of Appointment of Indepent&egistered
Public Accounting Firm.”
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1. Financial Statements.See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statement#?art I, ltem 8 of this Form 10-K.
2. Financial Statement scheduleSee “Schedule Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accountldeserve” in this section of this Form 10-K.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits set forth below are filed herewith ar mxcorporated by reference to exhibits previotithg with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Comruissi
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Year ended December 31, 2013
Accounts receivable allowance

Year ended December 31, 2012
Accounts receivable allowance

Year ended December 31, 2011
Accounts receivable allowance

SCHEDULE I[I—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNT AND RESERVE

In thousands

Balance at Additions/ Balance at
Beginning of Charged to End of
Period Expense Deductions Period
$ 44¢ 4 $ (416 $ 36
$ 36€ 97 $ s $ 44¢
$ 467 12 $ (119 $ 36€
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Exhibit
Number
2.1
31
3.2

4.1
4.2

43
4.4
45

4.6
4.7
4.8

4.8A

4.8B

4.8C

10.1

10.2#
10.2A#
10.3#
10.3A#
10.4#
10.4A#

EXHIBITS
Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated January 28, B9Jhd among 8-K 2.1 1/29/2014
Fluidigm Corporation, DVS Sciences, Inc., Dawid Mer§eb, Inc. and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC.
Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpmmeof Fluidigm 10-K 3.1 3/28/2011
Corporation filed on February 15, 2011.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corporagifective as of 10-K 3.2 3/28/2011
February 9, 2011.
Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm Cogpon. S-1/A 4.1 2/7/2011
Indenture, dated as of February 4, 2014, by anddsst Fluidigm 8-K 4.1 2/4/2014
Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association.
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Febrda®p14, by and 8-K 4.2 2/4/2014
between Fluidigm Corporation and U.S. Bank National&igion.
Form of Global Note (included in Exhibit 4.3). 8-K 4.3 2/4/2014
Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreeinetteen the S-1 4.5 12/3/2010
registrant and certain holders of the registrareisital stock named
therein, including amendments No. 1, No. 2 and No. 3.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Business Financing Agreement between the registrahBadge Bank, S-1/A 4.8 1/28/2011
National Association, dated as of December 16, 2010.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated Ma&t, 2011, by 8-K 4.8A 4/4/2011
and between Bridge Bank, National Association, &edrégistrant.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated Drédwer 21, 2012, 8-K 4.8B 12/27/2012
by and between Bridge Bank, National Association dodligm
Corporation.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated dan@9, 2014, by 8-K 10.1 1/29/2014
and between Bridge Bank, National Association angdifm
Corporation.
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regigtand its S-1/A 10.1 1/28/2011
directors and officers.
1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as amended S-1 10.2 12/3/2010
Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Option Plan S-1 10.2A 12/3/2010
2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, agaded. S-1 10.3 12/3/2010
Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Incefftiga. S-1 10.3A 12/3/2010
2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant. S-1/A 104 1/28/2011
Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Incefftiaa. S-1/A 10.4A 1/28/2011
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Exhibit
Number

10.5t

10.5Af

10.6t

10.6AT

10.7t

10.8t

10.9t

10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14#

10.15
10.16
10.17#
10.18#

10.19

10.19A

10.20

10.21

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed
Second Amended and Restated License Agreement blyeaween S-1 10.5 12/3/2010
California Institute of Technology and the registraffective as of
May 1, 2004.
First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007, ¢ésd&d Amended ar S-1 10.5A 12/3/2010
Restated License Agreement by and between Califtmst#ute of
Technology and the registrant effective as of MagQDA4.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidenfafidws of S-1 10.6 12/3/2010
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®ctober 15, 2000.
First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreememwben President S-1 10.6A 12/3/2010
and Fellows of Harvard College and the registréfiecéve as of
October 15, 2000.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidentafidws of S-1 10.7 12/3/2010
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®atober 15, 2000.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidentafidws of S-1 10.8 12/3/2010
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®atober 15, 2000.
Letter Agreement between President and Fellows ofatd College and S-1 10.9 12/3/2010
the registrant dated December 22, 2004.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Form of Amended and Restated Employment and Severdgreement 8-K 10.14 12/11/2012
between the registrant and each of its executivieer.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2008. S-1 10.17 12/3/2010
Offer Letter dated May 3, 2010 to Fredric Walded &uddendum thereto 8-K 10.18 4/4/2011
dated November 8, 2010.
Lease Agreement between ARE - San Francisco No. 17drdddhe S-1/A 10.19 1/7/2011
registrant, dated September 14, 2010, as amengeeriger 22, 2010.
Second Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE+@anifco 10-Q 10.19A 5/9/2013
No. 17, LLC and the registrant, dated April 9, 2013
Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore btwaC S-1 10.20 12/3/2010

Corporation and the registrant dated July 27, 2@88%mended

August 12, 2008 and May 31, 2010.

Offer of Tenancy for Facility Lease between Fluidi§mgapore Pte.
Ltd. and SBC Institutional Trust Services (Sing&)drimited, as trustee
of Ascendas Real Estate Investment Trust dated @ctzh 2013.
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Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit by Reference From Exhibit
Number Description From Form Number Date Filed
10.22 Reserved.
10.23 Reserved.
10.24 Reserved.
10.25# Executive Bonus Plan. 10-K 10.25 3/28/2011
10.26 Reserved.
211 Subsidiaries of the registrant. Filed herewith
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing. Filed herewith
24.1 Power of Attorney (contained in the signature paggais Form 10-K). Filed herewith
31.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of hiecutive Officer.
31.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of hileancial Officer.
32.1~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Ohiecutive Officer.
32.2~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Ohiecutive Officer.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document Filed herewith
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Filed herewith
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Documen Filed herewith
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Filed herewith
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Document Filed herewith
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document Filed herewith

# Management contracts or compensation plangangements in which directors or executive offiames eligible to participate.
T Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@an order granted by the Securities and Exoh&@wmnmission for confidential treatment.

~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Rule: Management’s Reports on Internal ContnatiO
Financial Reporting and Certification of DisclosimeExchange Act Periodic Reports, the certificasidurnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto aentkd to
accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deemed dfilr purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Scitch certifications will not be deemed to be incoaped by
reference into any filings under the Securities ércthe Exchange Act, except to the extent thatelyestrant specifically incorporates it by referen
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&i{te Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signed dreitslf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Dated: March 12, 2014 By: /sl Gajus V. Worthington
Gajus V. Worthington

President and Chief Executive Officer
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whigsature appears below constitutes and appoirjts®a Worthington and Vikram Jog,
jointly and severally, as his or her true and laveftibrney-in-fact and agents, with full power of substituti@mnd resubstitution, for him or her and in his or ieme, place
and stead, in any and all capacities, to signRbrsn 10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibhgrteto, and other documents in connection therewith the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneyfadt and agents full power and authority to do pedorm each and every act and thing requisiteecessary to be
done in and about the premises hereby ratifyingcamdirming all that said attorneys-faet and agents, or his or their substitute or suiss, may lawfully do or cause to
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of the registramd in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal &xtéve Officer); March 12, 2014
/sl Gajus V. Worthington Director
Gajus V. Worthington
/sl Vikram Jog Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and danting Officer) March 12, 2014
Vikram Jog
/s! Samuel D. Colella Chairman of the Board of Directors March 12, 2014
Samuel D. Colella
/sl Gerhard F. Burbach Director March 12, 2014
Gerhard F. Burbach
/sl Evan Jones Director March 12, 2014
Evan Jones
/sl Patrick S. Jones Director March 12, 2014
Patrick S. Jones
/s/ John A. Young Director March 12, 2014

John A. Young
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Exhibit
Number

2.1

3.1

3.2

4.1
4.2

4.3
4.4

4.5

4.6
4.7
4.8

4.8A

4.8B

4.8C

10.1

10.2#
10.2A#
10.3#
10.3A#
10.4#
10.4A#

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

EXHIBITS
Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed
Agreement and Plan of Merger dated January 28, B9#hd among 8-K 2.1 1/29/2014
Fluidigm Corporation, DVS Sciences, Inc., Dawid Mer§eb, Inc. and
Shareholder Representative Services LLC.
Eighth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpameof Fluidigm 10-K 3.1 3/28/2011
Corporation filed on February 15, 2011.
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Fluidigm Corporagifective as of 10-K 3.2 3/28/2011
February 9, 2011.
Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Fluidigm Cogpon. S-1/A 4.1 2/7/2011
Indenture, dated as of February 4, 2014, by anddsst Fluidigm 8-K 4.1 2/4/2014
Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association.
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Febrda®p14, by and 8-K 4.2 2/4/2014
between Fluidigm Corporation and U.S. Bank National&iion.
Form of Global Note (included in Exhibit 4.3). 8-K 4.3 2/4/2014
Ninth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agreeinemteen the S-1 4.5 12/3/2010
registrant and certain holders of the registrarsisital stock named
therein, including amendments No. 1, No. 2 and No. 3.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Business Financing Agreement between the registrehBadge Bank, S-1/A 4.8 1/28/2011
National Association, dated as of December 16, 2010.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated Ma&t, 2011, by 8-K 4.8A 4/4/2011
and between Bridge Bank, National Association, &edrégistrant.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated Drédwer 21, 2012, 8-K 4.8B 12/27/2012
by and between Bridge Bank, National Association dadligm
Corporation.
Business Financing Modification Agreement dated dan@9, 2014, by 8-K 10.1 1/29/2014
and between Bridge Bank, National Association andgdiim
Corporation.
Form of Indemnification Agreement between the regigtand its S-1/A 10.1 1/28/2011
directors and officers.
1999 Stock Option Plan of the registrant, as amended S-1 10.2 12/3/2010
Forms of agreements under the 1999 Stock Option Plan S-1 10.2A 12/3/2010
2009 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant, agaded. S-1 10.3 12/3/2010
Forms of agreements under the 2009 Equity Incefftiga. S-1 10.3A 12/3/2010
2011 Equity Incentive Plan of the registrant. S-1/A 10.4 1/28/2011
Forms of agreements under the 2011 Equity Incefftiga. S-1/A 10.4A 1/28/2011
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Exhibit
Number

10.5t

10.5Af

10.6t

10.6AT

10.7t

10.8t

10.9t

10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14#

10.15
10.16
10.17#
10.18#

10.19

10.19A

10.20

10.21

Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
by Reference From Exhibit
Description From Form Number Date Filed
Second Amended and Restated License Agreement blyetween S-1 10.5 12/3/2010
California Institute of Technology and the registraffective as of
May 1, 2004.
First Addendum, effective as of March 29, 2007, ¢aéhd Amended S-1 10.5A 12/3/2010
and Restated License Agreement by and between @adifmstitute of
Technology and the registrant effective as of MagaD4.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between PresidenfFatidws of S-1 10.6 12/3/2010
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®ctober 15, 2000.
First Amendment to Co-Exclusive License Agreememwben S-1 10.6A 12/3/2010
President and Fellows of Harvard College and thestemit effective as
of October 15, 2000.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidenfafidws of S-1 10.7 12/3/2010
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®aber 15, 2000.
Co-Exclusive License Agreement between Presidenfafidws of S-1 10.8 12/3/2010
Harvard College and the registrant effective a®aber 15, 2000.
Letter Agreement between President and Fellows ofatd College S-1 10.9 12/3/2010
and the registrant dated December 22, 2004.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Form of Amended and Restated Employment and Severagreement 8-K 10.14 12/11/2012
between the registrant and each of its executiviees.
Reserved.
Reserved.
Offer Letter to Vikram Jog dated January 29, 2008. S-1 10.17 12/3/2010
Offer Letter dated May 3, 2010 to Fredric Walded &uddendum 8-K 10.18 4/4/2011
thereto dated November 8, 2010.
Lease Agreement between ARE - San Francisco No. 17dnddhe S-1/A 10.19 1/7/2011
registrant, dated September 14, 2010, as amengeeriger 22, 2010.
Second Amendment to Lease Agreement between ARE+&agifco 10-Q 10.19A 5/9/2013
No. 17, LLC and the registrant, dated April 9, 2013
Tenancy for Flatted Factory Space in Singapore bwdC S-1 10.20 12/3/2010

Corporation and the registrant dated July 27, 288%mended
August 12, 2008 and May 31, 2010.

Offer of Tenancy for Facility Lease between Fluidi§mngapore Pte.
Ltd. and SBC Institutional Trust Services (Singa)drimited, as
trustee of Ascendas Real Estate Investment Triustdactober 14,
2013.
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Incorporated
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit by Reference From Exhibit
Number Description From Form Number Date Filed
10.22 Reserved.
10.23 Reserved.
10.24 Reserved.
10.25# Executive Bonus Plan. 10-K 10.25 3/28/2011
10.26 Reserved.
211 Subsidiaries of the registrant. Filed herewith
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriting. Filed herewith
24.1 Power of Attorney (contained in the signature pagghis Form 10-K). Filed herewith
31.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350dspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of hiecutive Officer.
31.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350dspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of hileancial Officer.
32.1~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350dspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Ohiecutive Officer.
32.2~ Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350dspted Pursuant to Filed herewith
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Ohiecutive Officer.
101.INS XBRL Instance Document Filed herewith
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document Filed herewith
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docutmen Filed herewith
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document Filed herewith
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Document Filed herewith
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Document Filed herewith

# Management contracts or compensation plangangements in which directors or executive offiames eligible to participate.
T Portions of the exhibit have been omitted purst@an order granted by the Securities and Exoh&@wmnmission for confidential treatment.

~ In accordance with Item 601(b)(32)(ii) of RegidatS-K and SEC Release No. 33-8238 and 34-47986| Rule: Management’s Reports on Internal ContnatiO
Financial Reporting and Certification of DisclosimeExchange Act Periodic Reports, the certificasidurnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto aentkd to
accompany this Form 10-K and will not be deemed dfilr purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Scitch certifications will not be deemed to be incoaped by
reference into any filings under the Securities ércthe Exchange Act, except to the extent thatelyestrant specifically incorporates it by referen
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Lease Reference No: TP2-5008-009-00002
Date: 04 October 2013 STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL

FLUIDIGM SINGAPORE PTE.LTD.
BIk1026 Tai Seng Avenue #07-3532
Singapore 534413

Attention: MS GRACE YOW
MANAGING DIRECTOR & EXEC VICE PRESIDENT

Dear Sirs,

LEASE OF BLOCK 5008 ANG MO KIO AVENUE 5 #08 -01/19, RC ROOF 1 & RC ROOF 2, TECHPLACE Il SINGAPOR E 569874

This Offer shall supersede our previous Offer dated 18 September 2013.

1 TERMS OF OFFER

‘

On behalf of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limit  ed As Trustee of Ascendas Real Estate Investment Tr  ust (
Landlord ') , we are pleased to offer you, FLUIDIGM SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. (* Tenant °), a lease of the premises (‘* Premises ’)
(described below in paragraph 1.1) which forms part of the building (* Building ) located at Block 5008 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 5 TECHplace
Il Singapore 569874, subject to the Standard Terms, Covenants and Conditions attached in Appendix 1 (‘ Covenants ’) and the following
terms, covenants and conditions (where the definitions set out in the Covenants have been adopted):

1.1 PREMISES

(a) Unit No(s) :
#08-01/19, RC Roof 1 & RC Roof 2 Block 5008 TECHplace I

(b) Demarcation :
(for purpose of identification only) edged in red in the attached plan(s)
marked as Attachment 1 .
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1.2 ELOOR AREA

Unit No(s) Floor Area (sm)
(where temporary occupation permit (* TOP ) for the Building has not
yet been issued, the Floor Area is subject to final survey)

#08-01/19 3,455.00
Block 5008 TECHplace I

RC ROOF 1 115.00
Block 5008 TECHplace I

RC ROOF 2 130.00
Block 5008 TECHplace I

Total 3,700.00

(@) Where the TOPfor the Building has not yet been issued, the Floor Area as indicated herein is subject to a final survey to be
performed by a surveyor appointed by the Landlord, if such survey is required by the Landlord. The Floor Area as determined from
the results of such survey shall be final and binding upon the Tenant.

(b) Where the Floor Area is adjusted following such survey, all references to the Floor Area in the Lease shall refer to such Floor Area
as determined by the Landlord and there shall be an adjustment of the Gross Rent (with effect from the Commencement Date), the
Renovation Deposit and the Security Deposit, all calculated with reference to the revised Floor Area.

1.3 PERMITTED USE

(a) Permitted Use : _ o ) ) _
R&D and manufacturing of fluidic chips and microfludic system for

the business of the Tenant and not for any other purpose.
(b) Business Licence / Approval : _ ) o o
The Tenant is responsible for obtaining and keeping in force all
necessary approvals required by law for the operation of its
business in the Premises, at its own cost and expense.

1.4 LEASE TERM

Term:
96 months commencing on: where the TOP has already been

issued: 02 June 2014 (the * Commencement Date °).




1.5 POSSESSION OF PREMISES

Possession Date where the TOP has already been issued: 02 March 2014
1.6 RENT AND OTHER PAYMENTS (EXCLUSIVE OF GST)

(@) The Monthly Net Rent and Monthly Service Charge shall be as follows:-
Unit Monthly Net  |Monthly Service [Monthly Gross |[Monthly Net Rent Monthly Monthly Gross Applicable

Rent Rate Charge Rate Rent Rate Service Rent Period
(psm) (psm) (psm) Charge

#08-01/19, RC Roof $14.25 $2.43 $16.68 $52,725.00 $8,991.00 $61,716.00 |02 Jun 2014 to
1 & RC Roof 2 Block 01Jun 2016
5008 TECHplace I
#08-01/19, RC Roof $14.79 $2.43 $17.22 $54,723.00 $8,991.00 $63,714.00 |02 Jun 2016 to
1 & RC Roof 2 Block 01 Jun 2017
5008 TECHplace Il
#08-01/19, RC Roof $15.33 $2.43 $17.76 $56,721.00 $8,991.00 $65,712.00 |02 Jun 2017 to
1 & RC Roof 2 Block 01 Jun 2019
5008 TECHplace Il
#08-01/19, RC Roof $16.41 $2.43 $18.84 $60,717.00 $8,991.00 $69,708.00 |02 Jun 2019 to
1 & RC Roof 2 Block 01 Jun 2020
5008 TECHplace I
#08-01/19, RC Roof $16.95 $2.43 $19.38 $62,715.00 $8,991.00 $71,706.00 |02 Jun 2020 to
1 & RC Roof 2 Block 01 Jun 2021
5008 TECHplace Il
#08-01/19, RC Roof $17.48 $2.43 $19.91 $64,676.00 $8,991.00 $73,667.00 |02 Jun 2021 to

1 & RC Roof 2 Block
5008 TECHplace I

01 Jun 2022

ascendas




(b)

(©
(d)

(e)

()
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The charges shown above are exclusive of goods and services tax (* GST ’) and other taxes payable by the Tenant under the
Covenants.

The Service Charge shown above is subject to increase as provided in Clause 5.1.2 of the Covenants.

Unless otherwise provided in this letter (* Offer Letter ') or in any side/amendment/variation letters (* Side Letters '), the
Tenant must pay the Monthly Gross Rent monthly in advance, on the first day of each month of the Term. The pro-rated
Monthly Gross Rent for any part of a month must be paid in advance on the first day of that month, which will be apportioned
on a daily basis (based on the actual number of days in that month).

Upon acceptance of this offer, the Tenant must pay to the Landlord in advance one (1) full month’s Gross Rent (including
GST) for the period of one (1) month from the Commencement Date.

In addition to the Monthly Gross Rent, the Landlord is also entitled to impose charges for the use of any part of the Common
Property (defined in the Covenants) at a rate to be determined by the Landlord based on the area of any part of the Common
Property used by the Tenant (* Ancillary Site ). The Landlord may require the Tenant to sign a separate side letter or enter
into a licence or tenancy agreement or such other documents and on such terms and conditions as the Landlord may require
in respect of the Ancillary Site.

1.7 RENT FREE PERIOD

@)

A rent free period (the ‘ Rent Free Period ) will be granted to the Tenant as follows:

Unit

Start Date End Date Duration

#08-01/19, RC Roof 1 & RC Roof|2 March 2014 01 June 2014 3 months

2

Block 5008 TECHplace Il

(b)
(©

The Tenant will not be required to pay Gross Rent for the Rent Free Period.

The Landlord has agreed to grant the Rent Free Period to the Tenant on the basis that the Tenant will complete the entire
Term. If the Term is prematurely terminated by the Tenant for any reason whatsoever or if the Lease is determined by the
Landlord under Clause 8.1 of the Covenants, then in addition to and without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the
Landlord, the Tenant shall compensate and pay to the Landlord on demand the Gross Rent for the entire Rent Free Period.
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1.8 SECURITY DEPOSIT

Security Deposit : 8 months’ Gross Rent
Security Deposit Amount :  $589,336.00

Time for Payment of : Upon the Tenant's acceptance of this offer.
Security Deposit Amount

Mode of Payment : Cash

1.9 TENANT'S WORKS

The Tenant must obtain the prior written consent of the Landlord for the Tenant’'s Works in respect of the Premises which may be
required by the Tenant for the use and enjoyment of the Premises and comply with all other stipulations set out in Clause 4.1 of the
Covenants and the Tenants’ Guide.

1.10 RENOVATION DEPOSIT

Renovation Deposit : Based on the rate of $10.00 per square metre of the Floor Area of the Premises and subject
to a minimum of $2,000.00, the Renovation Deposit of $37,000.00 for the proposed Fitting
Out Works must be placed with the Landlord on acceptance of this offer.

1.11 CARPARKLOTS

(@) Number of allocated car park lots : 18 car park lot(s) will be allocated to the Tenant at prevailing rates.
(b) Allocation of car park lots is subject to the following:-

(i) Tenant’'s compliance with relevant government regulations (where applicable);

(i) Landlord’s prevailing policies; and

(iii)  Availability.

The Landlord reserves the right to revise the allotment from time to time or cancel the allotment at any time.
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1.12 REQUISITE APPROVALS & SUBLET FEE

(@) This offer of the lease of the Premises and acceptance is subject to:

(i) the Tenant obtaining approval from the relevant authorities (including, where necessary, Jurong Town Corporation) for
the use of the Premises for the Tenant's operations (to be obtained by the Tenant in accordance with paragraph 1.3
above); and

(i) where required, the approval from the Head Landlord for the lease of the Premises to the Tenant

(collectively the ‘ Requisite Approvals ).

(b) The Tenant shall furnish any information and/or documents forthwith to the Landlord upon the Landlord’s request to assist the

(©

Landlord to obtain the approval from the Head Landlord for the lease of the Premises to the Tenant. The Tenant shall pay all
fees charged or chargeable by the Head Landlord in respect of approval for the subletting of the Premises by the Landlord to
the Tenant for the Term (including any subletting fees). The Tenant shall reimburse the Landlord for any fees paid by the
Landlord to the Head Landlord in advance and on the Tenant's behalf.

In the event that the aforesaid approval/s is/are not obtained, it is hereby agreed between the parties hereto that the Landlord
shall give written notice to the Tenant of such fact, and the Landlord shall, within one (1) month of the Tenant’s receipt of the
Landlord notice, refund to the Tenant all deposits paid hereunder by the Tenant without interest (subject however to
appropriate deductions for any breach or damage done to the Premises and/or the Building by the Tenant). The Landlord
shall also refund back to the Tenant the legal fees and/or stamp duties paid by the Tenant provided always that the same
have not been expended for legal work rendered or for payment of stamp duty. The Tenant shall, however, be liable for
payment of all rent, service charge, air-con charges, utilities and other charges payable hereunder for the period of time that
the Tenant had occupied the Premises until and including the day that the Premises is handed back to the Landlord in the
state and condition satisfactory to the Landlord. Prior to the handing over of the Premises back to the Landlord, the Tenant
shall, at its own costs and expense, reinstate the Premises back to its original bare state and condition. Thereafter, this
Agreement shall be null and void and neither party shall have any claims against the other in respect of any damages,
compensation, costs, expenses, losses or otherwise arising out of or in connection therewith, save as provided in this Clause.

(d) The approved business activities shall not be changed without prior approval from the relevant authorities.
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FLOOR LOADING

The Tenant shall not be permitted to place or allow to be placed any load on the floor slab in excess of :

Storey Floor Loading (KN per square metre)

1 125
4t08 7.5
Canteen 5

COSTS & EXPENSES OF LEASE

Any costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord to draw up this Offer Letter and the Covenants and as a result of any negotiation
to amend this Offer Letter or the Covenants shall be borne by the Tenant on a full indemnity basis and paid on demand including
but not limited to legal fees, stamp duties payable on this Offer Letter and payable as a result of an increase in Gross Floor Area
pursuant to paragraph 1.2(a) above and the Landlord’s administrative charges.

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

In addition to the terms, covenants and conditions contained in this Offer Letter and the Covenants, the parties must comply with
and be bound by the terms, covenants and conditions on their respective parts set out in Attachment 2 (“ SpecialConditions ). In
the event of any inconsistency between the terms, covenants and conditions set out in the Special Conditions and those contained
in this Offer Letter, the terms, covenants and conditions set out in the Special Conditions shall prevail.

INTERPRETATION

(@) Unless the context otherwise requires, all definitions, terms and references used in this Offer Letter will have the same
meanings given to them in the Covenants.

(b) The Appendix and Attachments to this Offer Letter shall be binding on the parties and be construed as an integral part of this
offer.

2 ACCEPTANCE

2.1

In order to accept this offer, please let the Landlord have the items listed below (each an * Acceptance Item ' and together, the *
Acceptance Iltems .):-

(@) Both copies of this Offer Letter with the Acceptance portion duly signed by the Tenant's authorized signatory;

(b) A cashier’s order/cheque drawn in favour of “HTSG A/C ASCENDAS REIT” for the total amount set out in the Statement of
Accounts attached to this Offer Letter as Attachment 3 ; and




2.2

2.3

3.1

3.2
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(c) A cashier's order/cheque drawn in favour of “Commissioner of Stamp Duties” for the Stamp Duty amount set out in the
Statement of Accounts attached to this Offer Letter as Attachment 3 .

For the avoidance of doubt, the Landlord hereby confirms that this offer will only be deemed to have been accepted by the Tenant
on the date of receipt by the Landlord of all the Acceptance Items or where they are given separately, the date of receipt of the last
Acceptance Item.

Payments made prior to the receipt of the last Acceptance Item may be cleared by the Landlord upon receipt. However, if the
remaining Acceptance Items are not received by the Landlord within 7 working days from the date of this Offer Letter (the
‘Acceptance Period’),(or such other date as the Landlord may agree), the offer herein shall, unless the Landlord otherwise agrees,
lapse and there shall be no contract between the Tenant and the Landlord in respect of the lease of the Premises. All payments
received by the Landlord from the Tenant pursuant to this letter shall be forfeited without affecting any other rights or remedies of
the Landlord and the Tenant shall have no claim of whatever nature against the Landlord.

DECLARATION FORM

The Tenant shall furnish to the Landlord the completed and executed Declaration Form attached as Attachment 4 by 14 October
2013. If the Tenant fails to furnish the said Declaration Form by the specified date mentioned above (or such other date or dates as
the Landlord may agree), the Landlord may terminate the lease by giving to the Tenant not less than one (1) month’s notice in
writing.

Upon the expiry of such notice, the Term and the lease shall absolutely cease and determine and if the Tenant has already taken
possession of the Premises, the Tenant shall deliver vacant possession of the Premises to the Landlord in accordance with the
Covenants without compensation from or any claim whatsoever against the Landlord but without prejudice to any right of action of
the Landlord against the Tenant in respect of any antecedent breach of the terms, covenants and conditions on the part of the
Tenant contained in the Covenants, this Offer Letter and Side Letter(s), if any. Upon such termination, the Landlord shall forfeit and
retainall monies paid by the Tenant under the provisions of the Offer Letter and/or the Covenants, including but not limited to, the
amounts set out in the Statement of Accounts attached to this Offer Letter as Attachment 3 for its own benefit without affecting any
other remedy of the Landlord, at law or in equity.
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4 LEASE

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

The lease of the Premises to the Tenant is subject to the specific terms, covenants and conditions set out in:-

(@) This Offer Letter;
(b) The Covenants (attached hereto as Appendix | ); and
(c) The Side Letter(s), if any.

The date of the lease of the Premises shall be the date that the Tenant is deemed to haveaccepted this Offer Letter in accordance
with paragraph 2 above.

All terms, covenants and conditions contained in the Covenants will apply to the lease and the Landlord and the Tenant shall
observe, perform and be bound by the terms, covenants and conditions on their respective parts contained in the Covenants as
though such terms, covenants and conditions had been incorporated in this Offer Letter.

In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Offer Letter, the Covenants and/or the Side Letter(s), if any, priority
shall be given in the following order in order to resolve the inconsistency:-

(@) the Side Letter(s), if any;
(b) this Offer Letter; and
(c) the Covenants.

5 EXPIRY OF OFFER

This offer will lapse if the Acceptance Items are not furnished before the Acceptance Period (refer to paragraph 2.3 above), unless
an extension of time has been requested and agreed to by the Landlord in writing.
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6 AGENCY

This offer is made to the Tenant by us as agents on behalf of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited As Trustee of
Ascendas Real Estate Investment Trust.

7 CONTACT DETAILS
Please contact Ms. Cheryl Toh at DID Tel No. [*] and Mobile No. [*] if you have any queries.

Yours faithfully,

For and on behalf of

HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited As Trustee of Ascendas Real Estate
Investment Trust

[s/ Adrian Tan [s/ SOH Lay Hwa

Name: Adrian Tan Name: SOH Lay Hwa
Senior Executive Manager
Lease Operations Lease Operations

Date: 04 October 2013 Date: 04 October 2013
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To:  Ms. Cheryl Toh
As agent of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Singapore) Limited As Trustee of

Ascendas Real Estate Investment Trust

ACCEPTANCE OF OFFER OF LEASE OFBLOCK 5008 ANG MO KI O AVENUE 5 #08-

01/19, RC ROOF 1 & RC ROOF 2, TECHPLACE 1l SINGAPOR E 569874

I/We, FLUIDIGM SINGAPORE PTE. LTD. (the * Tenant ') hereby unconditionally accept your offer of the lease on the above stated terms,
covenants and conditions.

I/We acknowledge receipt of the Covenants ( Appendix | ), the Tenant’'s Guide (published as at 02 May 2012), plans, payment schedules,
forms and such other documents as may form part of this Offer Letter.

I/We enclose the following:-

(@) cashier’s order/cheque drawn in favour of “HTSG NC ASCENDAS REIT” for the total amount set out in the Statement of
Accounts attached to this Offer Letter as Attachment 3 .

(b) cashier’'s order/cheque drawn in favour of “Commissioner of Stamp Duties” for the Stamp Duty amount set out in the
Statement of Accounts attached to this Offer Letter as Attachment 3 .

December 6, 2013 /s/ Yow Mai Chan
Date

Name of authorized signatory:Yow Mai Chan Designation:
Director

Tenant’s Rubber Stamp:




APPENDIX |

See enclosed Standard Terms, Covenants and Corsditio

ATTACHMENT 1

PLAN OF THE PREMISES
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ATTACHMENT 2

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

Page 14




4

ascendas

SPECIAL CONDITIONS

In addition to the provisions set out in the Offer Letter, the parties shall comply with and be bound by the following terms,
covenants and conditions:-

1. OPTION TO RENEW

@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

()

The Landlord shall grant to the Tenant a further lease of the whole Premises for sixty (60) months ( “ Renewal Term "),
commencing on the day after the expiry date of the Term, at the Tenant’s cost and expense Provided That:

(i) the Tenant gives the Landlord notice of not less than six (6) months before the expiry date of the Term, that it requires a
further lease of the Premises; and

(i) the Tenantis not in breach of any of the obligations on its part contained in the Lease.

The further lease for the Renewal Term must be in respect of the whole of the Premises (and not part of it) and the rent for the
Renewal Term shall be pegged to the then prevailing market rent, and on similar terms as this existing Lease. The Landlord
shall revert with its proposal for the revised rent within one (1) month from the date of the Tenant's notice of renewal.

Within two (2) weeks of receipt of the Landlord’s proposal for the revised rent or such longer period as may be mutually
agreed, the Tenant must inform the Landlord, in writing, whether the revised rent is acceptable.

If the revised rent or the other terms are not acceptable to the Tenant or if the Tenant fails to give a written acceptance to the
Landlord in time, then the Tenant will be treated as if it is no longer interested in a further lease and the Landlord will be free to
end all negotiations with the Tenant for the further lease.

If the Landlord’'s proposal for the revised rent and other terms has been accepted by the Tenant in time, the Tenant must sign
the new lease document in respect of the Renewal Term within two (2) weeks of receipt.

If after the new lease document for the Renewal Term has been signed but the Tenant is in default of the provisions of the
Lease before the commencement of the Renewal Term, the Landlord is entitled to terminate the lease for the Renewal Term
by giving notice to the Tenant. Upon receipt of the notice, the lease for the Renewal Term will be terminated without affecting
the rights of the Landlord against the Tenant in respect of the default (including, without limitation, compensation for loss of
rent for the Renewal Term).
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1. STAGGERED RENTAL

The Landlord has agreed to the staggered rent arrangement set out in this Offer Letter at the Tenant's request subject to the
condition that the Tenant will perform all terms, covenants and conditions in accordance with the provisions of the Lease
including fulfilling all payment obligations. If the Tenant fails to do so, the Landlord shall, without prejudice to its other rights and
remedies, be entitled to adjust the rent payment schedule by issuing a written notice (‘Adjustment Notice’) to the Tenant
requiring the Tenant to pay Gross Rent based on the net rent rate of $15.60 per square metre per month (‘Original Rent Rate’ )
with effect from the Commencement Date. After the issuance of the Adjustment Notice, the Tenant shall pay Gross Rent based
on the Original Rent Rate on the Payment Dates. The additional Gross Rent payable for the period of the Term prior to the
issuance of the Adjustment Notice shall be paid within seven (7) days from the date of the Adjustment Notice. If the Lease is
determined for any reason prior to the expiry of the Term, the Tenant shall, without prejudice to the Landlord’s other rights and
remedies, pay to the Landlord a lump sum representing the difference between the Gross Rent based on the Original Rent
Rate for the entire Term and the Gross Rent already paid.

2. INSTALLATION OF AIR-CONDITIONING UNITS

The Tenant shall, at its own costs and expense, install and maintain its own air-conditioning unit(s) at the Premises. In this
respect, the Tenant shall ensure that all air-conditioning and mechanical ventilation installed at the Premises shall comply with
the GreenMark Requirements as imposed or to be imposed by the relevant Authorities from time to time throughout the Term.

3. RENOVATIONS ALTERATIONS AND INSTALLATIONS

Further to the provisions of Clause 3 above, and without prejudice to the generality of the provisions herein contained, the
Tenant shall adhere to all GreenMark Requirements in respect of all renovations, alterations and installations (including but not
limited to light fittings, etc) to be carried out at the Premises, notwithstanding such renovations, alterations and installations
being approved by the Landlord and/or other relevant Authorities.

4. HANDOVER CONDITION OF PREMISES ON POSSESSION DATE

The Tenant hereby acknowledges that it shall take possession of the Premises in the following handover condition:-
(a) the Premises shall not have subdivision walls, common corridors, common trunking systems or cable trays;

(b) the Premises shall have cement sand screed finish for flooring; and
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(c) the Premises shall have walls, columns and pipes duly painted by the
Landlord and the Tenant shall have no objection whatsoever to the same.

6. INSTALLATION OF SIGNAGE

The Landlord shall allow the Tenant to install its company’s signage (“ Signage ") at the standing pylon at the entrance of the
Park PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the Tenant shall:-

(@ seek the Landlord’s consent in respect of the dimensions of the Signage, and the Landlord shall be entitled to impose
terms and conditions in respect of the same, to which the Tenant shall comply with; and

(b) at its sole costs and expense, seek approval/s from the relevant Authorities for the display of the Signage, and comply
with all terms and conditions and to pay all charges (if any) imposed or to be imposed by the relevant Authorities in
respect of the same; and

(c) pay all monthly license fees and other charges imposed by the Landlord in respect of the display of the Signage; and

(d) sign all documents required by the Landlord and/or the Authorities for the Signage and shall pay all fees, legal or
otherwise, arising out of or in connection therewith, as well as all stamp fees payable thereon, if any; and

(e) be solely responsible for the maintenance and upkeep of the Signage and the Landlord shall not, in any manner
whatsoever, be liable to the Tenant or responsible for any damage, loss, defacement etc. of the Signage.

7. SECURITY DEPOSIT AMOUNT

The Landlord is agreeable to consider lowering the Security Deposit Amount from eight (8) month’s Gross Rent as reflected in
Clause 1.8 hereof, to a sum equivalent to six (6) month’s Gross Rent, subject to the Landlord’s assessment of the Tenant’s
financial standing. In this respect, the Landlord may request the Tenant for its latest audited accounts at any time during the
Term. For the avoidance of doubt, the Landlord’s assessment of the Tenant’s financial standing shall be made based on the
Landlord's criteria and the Tenant shall not be entitled to object to the Landlord’s decision on the same.
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RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

The Landlord shall grant to the Tenant options for rights of first refusal (individually “ the Option " and collectively “ the
Options ") to take up the lease or leases for the following units on the 4 th 5 th 6 th and 7 th storeys in the Building
(individually called “ each of the storeys ") respectively:-

(@)
(b)

(©
(d)

Units #04-05/06/07/08 (collectively the “4 th Storey Units " );
Units #05-08/09 (collectively the “5 th Storey Units " );

Units #06-05/06/07/08 (collectively the “6 th Storey Units ”); and
Units #07-04/05/06/07/08 (collectively the “7 th Storey Units ")

PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT: -

@
(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the Options shall be valid from 02 June 2014 and shall expire on 01 June2015 ( “ the validity period ”);

the Options shall be offered during the validity period to the Tenant by way of a written notice ( “ the said Notice ")
served to the Tenant by the Landlord when a third party expresses an interest to the Landlord to take up a lease for
either the whole or part of each storey in the Building, (i.e. either the whole or part of the 4 th Storey Units, either the
whole or part of the 5 th Storey Units,either the whole or part of the 6 th Storey Units or either the whole or part of the 7
th Storey Units);

the Options shall be granted by the Landlord to the Tenant only once for each of the storeys in the Building.For
example, if a third party expresses interest during the validity period in taking up the lease of part of the 4 th Storey
Units, namely Unit #04-05, the Landlord shall then grant an Option to the Tenant to take up the lease for the whole of
the 4 th Storey Units. In the event that the Tenant rejects or fails to take exercise the Landlord’s Option for the lease of
the whole of the 4 th Storey Units in accordance herewith, the Tenant’s right to the Option for the 4 th Storey Units shall
then expire and will not be re-granted again to the Tenant. The Options for the 5 th Storey Units, the 6 th Storey Units
and the 7 th Storey Units in this case, if not previously granted by the Landlord to the Tenant under this Clause 7, shall
still remain valid until the expiry of the validity period; and

the Option/s shall be exercised by the Tenant by way of written acceptance together with full payment within seven (7)
days (weekends inclusive) from the grant of the Option/s by the Landlord to the Tenant, failing which the Option/s shall
be deemed null and void and the Landlord shall be free to lease the same to other interested parties without any further
reference to the Tenant and the Tenant shall not, thereafter, have any claims against the Landlord for any damages
arising out of or in connection therewith.
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9. RIGHT TO PREMATURELY TERMINATE LEASE

The Landlord is agreeable to allow the Tenant to prematurely terminate the lease of the whole of the Premises at any time
during the Term ( “ the Pre-Termination ") PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT:-

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

an in-coming tenant acceptable to the Landlord ( “ Incoming Tenant ") has been sourced by the Tenant to either
takeover the existing lease of the Premises from the Tenant, or to take up a fresh lease of the Premises with the
Landlord. In this respect, the Incoming Tenant shall accept the Landlord’s then prevailing terms and conditions for the
fresh lease of the Premises, and the Tenant shall have no objection to the same whatsoever;

all costs and expenses arising out of or in connection with the Pre-Termination as well as the Incoming Tenant either
taking over the Lease of the Premises or to take on a fresh lease with the Landlord, whether imposed by the Landlord
and/or the Authorities, shall be solely borne by the Tenant, including but not limited to marketing costs, administrative
costs and the like (including all GST payable thereon);

the Tenant shall enter into all documentation required by the Landlord arising out of or in connection with the Pre-
termination, and to bear all costs in connection thereto (legal or otherwise) including all GST payable thereon, as well
as all stamp duties imposed thereon (if any);

the Tenant shall comply with all terms and conditions to be imposed by the Landlord and/or the Authorities in respect of
the Pre-termination, and

in the event that gross rent payable by the Incoming Tenant is lower than the Gross Rent reflected in Clause 1.6 hereof,
the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord the rental differential from and including the date the lease of the Premises is pre-
terminated by the Tenant until and including the expiry date of the Term. Such sum shall be payable to the Landlord in
one lumpsum and shall be payable by the Tenant upon the Landlord’s demand.

10. Clause 1.2(b) of the Offer Letter shall be amended as follows:-

“(b)

Where the Floor Area is adjusted following such survey, all references to the Floor Area in the Lease shall refer to such
Floor Area as determined by the surveyor appointed by the Landlord and there shall be an adjustment of the Gross Rent
(with effect from the Commencement Date), the Renovation Deposit and the Security Deposit, all calculated with
reference to the revised Floor Area. Provided always that the revised Floor Area used to calculate the adjustment to the
Gross Rent, the Renovation Deposit and the Security
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Deposit shall not be more than 3% of the original Floor Area as reflected in this Clause 1.2 above.”

The following variations shall be made to the Stand ard Terms, Covenants And Conditions under Appendix | hereof: -

11. Clause 4.2.5 shall be amended as follows:-

“4.2.5

The Renovation Deposit, subject to any deductions made by the Landlord as above, shall be repaid to the Tenant
following completion of all of the following:-

(@)

(b)
(©

proper completion of the Tenant's Works (in compliance with the provisions of the Lease and the Tenants’
Guide);

making good damage (if any) to the Premises, the Building and the Park; and

full compliance with Landlord’s requirements to the Landlord’s reasonable satisfaction.”

12. Clause 5.1.2 shall be amended as follows:-

“5.1.2

The Landlord shall be entitled at any time and from time to time to increase the Service Charge by notice if there is any
increase in the Total Outgoings and the following shall apply:-

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

(e)

the Tenant shall pay such increased Service Charge during the Term;

upon such increase in Total Outgoings, the Landlord shall issue a notice (the ‘Increase Notice’) to the Tenant
stating the amount of the increase in the Service Charge on a per square metre basis and the effective date of
such increase;

the Increase Notice shall be accepted by the Tenant as conclusive and binding of the matters so stated (save for
manifest error);

the increase in Service Charge shall be chargeable and payable by the Tenant with effect from the date specified
in the Increase Notice; and

if there is any additional Service Charge payable from a date prior to the issuance of the Increase Notice, the

aggregate amount of such additional Service Charge shall be payable by the Tenant forthwith upon the issuance
of the Increase Notice unless there is/are
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documentation error(s), in which case the payment will be delayed until the error(s) is/are corrected by the
Landlord.

13. Clause 5.5.2 shall be amended as follows:-

“6.5.2  Where the Landlord arranges for the supply of electricity to the Premises (whether by way of en bloc energy purchase
or otherwise), the Tenant must pay to the Landlord:

(@)

(b)

(©

Electricity Charges in respect of the electricity supplied to the Premises, to the Landlord on a monthly basis. The
Electricity Charges will be calculated by the Landlord at such rate as the Landlord may stipulate and notified to
the Tenant by a statement from the Landlord in writing. In the absence of manifest error, the statement is
conclusive as to the amount stated and the Tenant must make payment within seven (7) days from the date of
the Landlord’s statement;

all charges relating to the supply of electricity to the Premises including but not limited to connection charges and
administrative charges within seven (7) days of the Landlord’s notice to the Tenant of such charges unless there
is/fare documentation error(s), in which case the payment will be delayed until the error(s) is/are corrected by the
Landlord; and

the Electricity Supply Deposit. The Landlord will inform the Tenant of the amount of the Electricity Supply Deposit
from time to time during the Term. The Electricity Supply Deposit will be retained by the Landlord for the Term
and may be used (whether in whole or part) in or towards indemnifying the Landlord against any breach by the
Tenant of its obligations under Clauses 5.5.2(a) and 5.5.2(b) above. If the Electricity Supply Deposit is for any
reason less than the amount required by the Landlord, the Tenant must pay the Landlord the amount of the
deficit within 7 days of the Landlord’s written request. The Landlord will refund the Electricity Supply Deposit
(subject to the Landlord’s rights under this paragraph) to the Tenant, free of interest, together with the Security
Deposit Amount.”

14. Clause 5.9 shall be amended as follows:

"59

Repair

The Tenant must:

5.9.1 keep the Premises in a clean, tidy and sanitary condition;
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59.2 keep the Premises, including all fixtures and fittings in it (whether
belonging to the Landlord or the Tenant), all mechanical and electrical equipment in and serving the Premises
and the Conducting Media in and serving the Premises and reasonably accessible to the Tenant in good and
tenantable repair and condition (except for fair wear and tear); and

59.3 immediately make good, to the reasonable satisfaction of the Landlord, any damage caused to the Premises
(including the Landlord’s fixtures and fittings in it) or any other part of the Building or the Park by the Tenant.”

15. Clause 5.10.2 shall be amended as follows:-

“5.10.2 If any breach, defects, disrepair, removal of fixtures or unauthorised alterations, additions or installations are found on
inspection for which the Tenant is liable, then, on notice from the Landlord, the Tenant must carry out the necessary
works with due diligence within the time period specified in the Landlord’s notice, to the reasonable satisfaction of the
Landlord.”

16. Clause 5.11.2 shall be amended as follows:-

“5.11.2 The Landlord need not pay any compensation for any nuisance, annoyance, inconvenience, damage or loss caused to
the Tenant. Nonetheless, the Landlord will endeavour to cause as little disturbance as is reasonably possible in the
circumstances. Provided always that the Landlord (or other person so entering) shall take steps to minimize the
disruption to the Tenant’s business operations, and exercise such right in a reasonable manner and make good any
damage caused to the Premises without unreasonable delay.”

17. Clause 5.18 shall be amended as follows:-

5.18 Confidentiality of Information

Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies the Landlord is entitled to, the Tenant will not disclose to any third
party any information in respect of or arising from or in connection with the terms, conditions and provisions of the lease
of the Premises whether contained in the Lease or in previous or subsequent correspondence or otherwise, unless such
disclosure is required by Law or with the prior consent of the Landlord or to the extent that such information has become
public knowledge not due to the Tenant’s breach of this undertaking.”
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
AMOUNT GST (7%)

NET RENT: $52,725.00 $3,690.75
$14.25 per square metre per month on 3700.00 square metres for a
period of 24 months beginning from 02
June 2014
SERVICE CHARGE: $8,991.00 $629.37
$2.43 per square metre per month on 3700.00 square metres for a
period of 24 months beginning from 02
June 2014
GROSS RENT: $61,716.00 $4,320.12
$16.68 per squaremetre per month on 3700.00 square metres for a
period of 24 months beginning from 02
June 2014
LEGAL FEES $500.00 $35.00
CASH DEPOSIT $589,336.00
RENOVATION DEPOSIT $37,000.00
SUB-TOTAL $688,552.00 $4,355.12
GST PAYABLE $4,355.12
TOTAL AMOUNT (INCLUSIVE OF GST) $692,907.12
[payable to “HTSG NC ASCENDAS REIT”]
STAMP DUTY $12,808.00

[payable to “Commissioner of Stamp Duties”]

The TOTAL AMOUNT payable includes the 1 st month advance gross rent beginning 02 June 2014. GIRO payment will be effective
from the following month.
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DECLARATION FORM

This form may take 15 minutes to complete. Some of the information is pre- filled for your convenience. If the information is inaccurate, you can delete and fill
in correctly. Please submit this completed form tog ether with your acceptance.
1. PARTICULARS

Name of Company/Firm (as in ACRA) : FLUIDIGM SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.

Company’s Mailing Address: Block 1026 Tai Seng Avenue #07-3532 Singapore 53441 3

Facsimile Number: [*] Website: www.fluidigm.com

Telephone: [*]

Company Registration No : [*] |Company's Country of Origin: USA
Company’s Principle Activity: MANUFACTURING AND R&D

Note: If you are a foreign firm or a company in formation, please provide a local contact address and telephone number, where possible.

2. USAGE/ ACTIVITIES FOR PREMISES:
Manufacturing, research & development, customer tes t and service functions, office and store.

2.1 URA’s 60:40 requirements
R . , . . YES
Do your activities in the leased premises comply with Urban Redevelopment Authority’s (URA) 60:40 requirements (set

out below) for space utilization? NO

Industrial

URA's 60:40 requirements: The tenant must ensure that at least 60% of the floor area is used for industrial activities i.e. manufacturing, assembly, research & development,
ancillary stores and ancillary warehouse with only the other 40% of the floor area may be used as ancillary offices, showrooms, neutral areas and communal facilities.

2.2 APPLICATION ON THE USE OF PREMISES TO CENTRA L BUILDING PLAN UNIT OF NEA
Please note that you will need to submit your application online at http://ias.nea.gov.sq . You are to submit and apply the same usage reflected in paragraph 2 of this
declaration form. Upon successful submission, you are required to furnish us a copy of the application acceptance notification. Once your application is approved, please
forward us the approval email/reply from the authorities.

2.3 APPLICATION FOR PORTABLE WATER/NON PORTABLE WATER
Please note that you are required to apply for portable water/non portable water if your water consumption is more than 500 cubic metres per month.

DECLARATION

On behalf of the above mentioned Company/Firm, | declare that all the information and particulars provided in this form are true, correct and complete, and that the
activities to be conducted in the stated premises shall not be changed without the prior approval of the owner of the premises.

YOW MAI CHAN / DIRECTOR s/ YOW MAI CHAN

Name/ Designation  Signature

Company Stamp
14 OCT 2013
Date
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HANDING OVER
Please provide details of the person whom we can liaise with on handing over of the premises.

Name/ Designation [*]

Contact No/Email [*]

E-BILLING (Mandatory)

Please provide details of the person (e.g. Finance Manager) who will be accessing the billing invoices through our Ascendas Tenant Services Portal.

Name [*]
Designation [*]
Email address [*]

Contact number [*
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TENANT'S GUIDE
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STANDARD TERMS, COVENANTS AND CONDITIONS

INTERPRETATION
Definitions
In these Covenants, the Offer Letter and the Side Letter(s), where the context so allows:

‘Acceptance’ means the acceptance of the offer for lease of the Premises set out in the Offer Letter issued by the Tenant in accordance with the provisions of
the Offer Letter.

‘ Air Conditioning Charges ' means the air conditioning charges, if any, referred to in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any.
‘Authorities ' means all relevant governmental and statutory bodies and authorities.

‘Building’ means the land and the buildings of which the Premises form part, the location and name of which are specified in the Offer Letter, and refers to
each and every part of the Building and includes car parks, service, loading and any other areas the use and enjoyment of which is appurtenant to the Building
whether or not within the structure of the Building.

‘Car Park Charges ' means the charges for the use of the car park lots as notified by the Landlord to the Tenant from time to time.

‘Chilled Water Charges’ means the charges for the provision of chilled water to the Premises, referred to in the Offer Letter or such other amount as may be
specified by the Landlord from time to time.

‘Chilled Water Deposit’ means the chilled water deposit amount specified in the Offer Letter or such other amount as may be specified by the Landlord from
time to time.

‘Chilled Water Rate’ means the rate of the Chilled Water Charges as specified in the Offer Letter or such other rate as the Landlord may specify from time to
time.

‘Commencement Date ' means the date of commencement of the Term specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any.
‘Common Property’ means the parts of the Building (whether or not within the structure of the Building) to be used in common with the Tenant, other tenants
and occupiers of the Building, the Landlord and those properly authorised and permitted to do so and which would reasonably be treated as common parts of

the Building for common use or benefit if the Building had been subdivided and registered under the Land Titles (Strata) Act, Chapter 158, but excludes any
such parts as may be within the Premises.

‘ Conducting Media ' means any drains, sewers, conduits, flues, risers, gutters, gullies, channels, ducts, shafts, watercourses, pipes, cables, wires and mains
now or in the future in upon or under the Building.

‘ Covenants ' means these Standard Terms, Covenants and Conditions and includes any documents supplemental to it.
‘ Electricity Charges ' means the charges for the supply of electricity to the Premises, as specified by the Landlord from time to time.

‘ Electricity Supply Deposit ’ means the electricity supply deposit amount specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s) (if any) or such other amount as
may be specified by the Landlord from time to time.

‘ Fire Safety Approval ' means the approval (in the form of fire safety certificates or notices of approval) issued by the Commissioner, Singapore Civil
Defence Force under the Fire Safety Act, Chapter 109A or other Authority.
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‘Fitting Out Works’ means such fitting out or other works as the Tenant may require to carry out in connection with the use and enjoyment of the Premises
immediately upon taking over possession of the Premises.

‘Floor Area ' means the floor area of the Premises specified in the Offer Letter.

‘Force Majeure’ means any circumstances beyond the reasonable control of the Landlord which directly or indirectly prevents or impedes the due
performance of the Landlord’s obligations under the Lease, including but without limitation to an act of God, flooding, national emergency, war, insurgency,
civil commotion or riots.

‘Gross Rent ' means the aggregate of the Net Rent and Service Charge.

‘Head Landlord ' means the holder of a reversion whether immediate or not to the lease under which the Landlord holds its interest in the Building.

‘ Head Lease’ means the lease under which the Landlord holds its interest in the Building and also includes any leasehold reversion whether immediate or not
to such lease.

‘Infectious Disease ' means infectious diseases defined pursuant to the Infectious Diseases Act, Chapter 137.

‘Interest’ means interest at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum, calculated on a daily basis and on the basis of the actual number of days in the year
(both before and after judgement) or such higher rate as may be determined from time to time by the Landlord.

‘Landlord” means the landlord specified in the Offer Letter and includes its successors and assigns and all persons from time to time entitled to the immediate
reversion to the Lease.

‘Law’ includes any present or future requirement of statute (including subsidiary legislation), common law and equity.

‘Lease’ means the agreement for the lease of the Premises between the Landlord and the Tenant constituted by the Offer Letter, incorporating these
Covenants, the Acceptance and the Side Letter(s) (if any) and includes any documents supplemental to the Lease.

‘month " means calendar month.

‘ Monthly Gross Rent ' means the Monthly Net Rent and the Monthly Service Charge.

‘Monthly Net Rent ' means the Net Rent for each month of the Term calculated at the monthly Net Rental Rate on the Floor Area.
‘Monthly Service Charge ' means the monthly Service Charge calculated at the Service Charge Rate on the Floor Area.

‘Net Rent’ means the net rent (exclusive of Service Charge and other sums) payable by the Tenant to the Landlord in accordance with the Offer Letter,
Clause 5.1 and the Side Letter(s), if any.

‘Net Rental Rate ' means the rate or rates of Net Rent for any month of the Term, as specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any.

‘Offer Letter’ means the offer letter issued to the Tenant by or on behalf of the Landlord to which these Covenants are attached, in respect of the lease of the
Premises and includes these Covenants and all amendments of the Offer Letter and supplements thereto.

‘Original Condition’ means the original state and condition of the Premises as indicated in the plans and drawings furnished or to be furnished by the
Landlord to the Tenant when possession of the Premises are handed to the Tenant by the Landlord.
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‘Payment Date ' means the first day of a month or such other day that the Landlord may from time to time specify for payment of the Monthly Net Rent.
‘Park’ means a science, business or industrial park within which the Building is located.
‘permitted occupier ' means any person on the Premises for any period expressly or by implication with the Tenant's authority.

‘Permitted Use’ means the permitted usage specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any, or such other use as may be approved by the Landlord
and the Authorities.

‘Possession Date’ means the anticipated date of possession of the Premises specified by the Landlord in the Offer Letter or such other date as the Landlord
may specify. Where no Possession Date is specified by the Landlord in the Offer Letter, the Commencement Date shall, for the purposes of the Lease, be
deemed to be the Possession Date.

‘Premises’ means the premises in the Building agreed to be leased to the Tenant as specified in the Offer Letter and refers to each and every part of the
Premises and improvements and additions made to, and fixtures, fittings and appurtenances in, the Premises, but excludes the structural parts, loadbearing
framework, roof, foundations, joists, the Conducting Media within but not exclusively serving the Premises, and any of the Landlord’s machinery and plant
within but not exclusively serving the Premises, the exterior faces of exterior walls and the external faces of boundary walls.

‘ Renovation Deposit ' means the renovation deposit (if any) referred to in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any.

‘Rent Free Period ' means the rent free period (if any) referred to in the Offer Letter.

‘Security Deposit Amount ' means the security deposit amount specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any.

‘Service Charge’ means the service charge payable by the Tenant to the Landlord in accordance with the Offer Letter and Clause 5.1 and the Side Letter(s),
if any.

‘Service Charge Rate ' means the monthly rate of the Service Charge.

‘Side Letter(s)’ means the side/amendment/variation letter(s), if any, made between the Landlord and the Tenant before, on or after the date of the
Acceptance, to supplement, amend or vary the Offer Letter or the Lease.

‘Taxes’ means any goods and services tax, imposition, duty and levy, which may be imposed before, on or after the commencement of the Term, by the
Authorities.

‘Tenant’ means the tenant specified in the Offer Letter and includes its successors and permitted assigns in whom the Lease may for the time being be
vested.

‘Tenants’ Guide’ means the information and guidelines, including but not limited to renovation guidelines and rules relating to the safety, conduct, operation,
maintenance and management of the Building, prepared by the Landlord or its consultants and which may be varied or amended by the Landlord.

‘Tenant’s Works’” means Fitting Out Works and such other renovation, alterations, additions or other works as the Tenant may require to carry out including
but not limited to interior layout, interior design, internal fittings, wiring, plumbing and renovation works which the Tenant may require in connection with the
use and enjoyment of the Premises.

‘ Term ' means the term of the Lease specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any.

‘ Total Outgoings ' includes the total sum of all outgoings, costs and expenses assessed or
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assessable, charged or chargeable, paid or payable or otherwise incurred in respect of the Building and the fixtures, furniture and fittings therein, and in the
control, management, maintenance and replacement of the Building and the fixtures, furniture and fittings therein(including without limitation, capital
expenditure and depreciation).

‘Utilities ' means electricity, water, sewerage, telecommunications and where applicable, gas.

General

The following rules of interpretation apply to the Lease unless the context requires otherwise:
Words in the Lease importing the singular meaning, shall where the context so allows, include the plural meaning and vice versa.

Words in the Lease importing any one gender include both other genders and may be used interchangeably, and words denoting natural persons where the
context so allows include corporations and vice versa.

The Schedules, Attachments, Appendices and Annexures to the Lease or any part of it shall be taken, read and construed as parts of the Lease and the
provisions thereof shall have the same force and effect as if expressly set out in the body of the Lease.

Unless stated otherwise, one word or provision does not limit the effect of another.
Reference to the whole includes every part.

Every obligation by the Tenant is taken to include an obligation by the Tenant to ensure that each of its employees, agents, independent contractors, permitted
occupiers and others under its control comply with that obligation.

In any case where the Tenant is placed under a restriction by reason of the covenants and conditions contained in the Lease, the restriction shall be deemed
to include the obligation on the Tenant not to permit or allow the infringement of the restriction by any person claiming rights to use, enjoy or visit the Premises
through, under or in trust for the Tenant.

If under the Lease or the Tenants’ Guide, the Tenant requires the consent or approval of the Landlord for any action, the Tenant must obtain it in writing before
starting to take that action.

If under the Lease or the Tenants’ Guide, the consent or approval of the Landlord is required, the consent and approval of the Landlord may be given or
withheld by the Landlord in its absolute discretion (unless the Lease provides otherwise) and upon such terms as the Landlord thinks is
appropriate.

Any provision in the Lease referring to tb@sent or approval of the Landlord shall be camstras also requiring the consent or approvaleftead
Landlord (if required under the Head Lease) andAnyority, if required under Law, but nothing irethease shall be construed as implying that any
obligation is imposed upon the Head Landlord orAbghority not to unreasonably refuse any such congeapproval.

A right given to the Landlord to have access toRhamises extends to any persons authorised byahéldrd and the Head Landlord, and includes the
to bring workmen and appliances onto the Premises.

References in the Lease to any statutsstutory instruments include and refer to anyustabr statutory instrument amending, consolidatingeplacing
them respectively from time to time in force, aréerences to a statute include regulations madsupat to them.

Headings are for convenience only and are not to be taken into account in the construction or interpretation of any covenant, condition or proviso to which they
refer.

Unless the context otherwise requires, references:
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to numbered paragraphs, clauses and Attachments in the Offer Letter are references to the relevant paragraphs, clauses and Attachments in the
Offer Letter;

(a) to numbered paragraphs, clauses and Schedules in these Covenants are references to the relevant paragraph or clause in or Schedule to these
Covenants; and

(b) in any Schedule, Attachment, Appendix or Annexure to a numbered paragraph are references to the relevant paragraph in that Schedule,
Attachment, Appendix or Annexure.

1.2.15 References to ‘liability’ include, where the context allows, claims, demands, proceedings,
damages, losses, costs and expenses.

2. LETTING
2.1 Letting

Upon receipt of the Acceptance by the Landlord pursuant to the requirements in the Offer Letter and in consideration of the Gross Rent reserved by and other covenants on the
part of the Tenant in the Lease, the Landlord agrees to lease the Premises to the Tenant, and the Tenant agrees to take a lease of the Premises for the Term:

(@) together with the rights set out in Clause 2.2; and
(b) except and reserved to the Landlord the rights set out in Clause 2.3.
22 Rights
221 The Premises are leased with the benefit of the following rights:
(@) the right to use the Common Property to pass to and from the Premises only to the extent that it is necessary; and
(b) the right to use the designated toilet and bathroom facilities, if any, in the Common Property.
2.2.2 The rights mentioned in Clause 2.2.1 may also be exercised by:
@) any persons authorised by the Tenant but only for proper purposes connected with the use or enjoyment of the Premises; and
(b) the Landlord, the Head Landlord, persons authorised by the Landlord and other persons entitled to do so.
2.3 Exceptions
231 The lease of the Premises to the Tenant is subject to the following rights of the Landlord:
(@) the right to free and uninterrupted passage and running of Utilities, air-conditioning and other services through the Conducting Media in the Premises;
(b) the Landlord’s rights under the Lease including but not limited to the right to enter the Premises pursuant to the Lease;
(c) the right of light, air, support, shelter and all other easements and rights belonging to or enjoyed by other parts of the Building;
(d) the right to erect scaffolding for renovating, retrofitting, refurbishing, altering, repairing, cleaning and/or painting the Building even if the scaffolding

temporarily restricts
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access to or the use and enjoyment of the Premises; and

(e) the right to build upon, alter, rebuild, develop or use the land adjoining the Building and in the Park even if this affects the light and air coming to the
Premises or causes nuisance, damage, annoyance or inconvenience to the Tenant or occupier of the Premises by reason of noise, dust, vibration or
otherwise provided this does not materially affect the Tenant’s ability to use the Premises.

POSSESSION

The Tenant shall take possession of the Premises on the Possession Date in accordance with the terms of the Lease. Any delay in the Tenant taking
possession of the Premises shall not be a ground for postponing the commencement of the Rent Free Period (if any) and/or the Term.

If the Landlord allows the Tenant to take possession of the Premises before the Commencement Date, the Tenant acknowledges that until the
Commencement Date, the Tenant shall be in possession of the Premises as a licensee. Notwithstanding this, the Tenant shall still be bound by the terms,
covenants and conditions set forth in the Lease insofar as they are applicable prior to the Commencement Date. If any of the events set forth in Clause 8.1.1
(a) to (d) below shall occur before the Commencement Date, the Landlord in addition to and without prejudice to any other rights and remedies, shall be
entitled, by giving notice to the Tenant to that effect, to terminate its agreement to grant a lease of the Premises to the Tenant on the terms, covenants and
conditions set out in the Lease. Upon such termination:-

the Tenant's interest in and the rights to the Premises shall cease and determine;

(if the Tenant shall have taken possession of the Premises) the Tenant shall at its own cost and expense carry out the Reinstatement Works (as defined in
Clause 5.12.2. below) and reinstate and restore the Premises to its Original Condition;

the Landlord is entitled to forfeit and retain all monies paid by the Tenant under the Lease for its own benefit without affecting any other rights and remedies of
the Landlord; and

the Tenant shall pay to the Landlord compensation and damages for the loss of Gross Rent (which would have been payable by the Tenant had the Term

been completed), suffered by the Landlord consequential upon such termination and the Landlord will retain all rights and remedies against the Tenant for any
antecedent breach, non-observance or non-performance by the Tenant of its obligations under the Lease.

TENANT'S WORKS
Tenant’ s Works
The Tenant shall not carry out the Tenant's Works without the prior approval of the Landlord.

Subject to Clause 4.1.1, the Tenant shall carry out, at the Tenant's own costs and expense, the Tenant’'s Works and shall comply with and observe the
guidelines, terms and conditions set out in the Tenants’ Guide and any other specific requirements of the Landlord.

The Tenant must obtain and keep in force all necessary approvals from the Authorities for the purpose of carrying out the proposed Tenant's Works, including
without limitation and if applicable, the Fire Safety Approval.

The Tenant must obtain and provide the Landlord with the certification of the Tenant’'s Works from an appropriate architect, engineer or consultant at the
Tenant's own cost and expense by a deadline stipulated by the Landlord.

Unless otherwise provided in the Offer Letter, there will not be suspension of payment of Gross Rent or any other amounts payable by the Tenant during the
Tenant’'s Works.
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The Tenant shall, if required by the Landlord, place with the Landlord a deposit equivalent to such additional amount as the Landlord may deem sufficient as
security for the proper execution of the Reinstatement Works (as defined in Clause 5.12.2 below) and reinstatement of the Premises to its Original Condition.
Such additional deposit shall be returned to the Tenant in accordance with Clause 5.7.5 of the Covenants.

Renovation Deposit
The Tenant shall furnish to the Landlord a Renovation Deposit by the following timelines:

(a) where the proposed Tenant's Works comprise Fitting Out Works, before the Tenant takes possession of the Premises and if specified in the Offer
Letter, on acceptance of the Offer Letter; and/or

(b) where the proposed Tenant's Works do not comprise Fitting Out Works, upon the Landlord’s demand for a Renovation Deposit.

The Tenant shall deposit with the Landlord the Renovation Deposit as security for:-

(a) completion of the Tenant's Works;

(b) the Tenant making good to the satisfaction of the Landlord all damage to the Premises, the Building and the Park resulting from the Tenant’'s Works;
and

(c) the Tenant's due compliance of the provisions of the Lease (including but not limited to Clause 4.1 of the Covenants), the Tenants’ Guide and all

Authorities’ conditions.

If the Tenant fails to complete, make good or comply as set out in Clause 4.2.2, above, the Landlord may effect the necessary works, and apply the
Renovation Deposit to meet the costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord. If the Renovation Deposit shall be insufficient, the Tenant shall pay to the
Landlord on demand the balance of the costs and expenses incurred with Interest from the date of expenditure until the date they are paid by the Tenant to
the Landlord, such costs, expenses and Interest to be recoverable as if they were rent in arrears.

The Landlord may forfeit the Renovation Deposit if the Tenant fails to furnish to the Landlord all relevant plans and the Fire Safety Approval within 2 months
from the Possession Date.

The Renovation Deposit, subject to any deductions made by the Landlord as above, shall be repaid to the Tenant following completion of all of the following:-

(a) proper completion of the Tenant's Works (in compliance with the provisions of the Lease and the Tenants’ Guide);
(b) making good damage (if any) to the Premises, the Building and the Park; and
(c) full compliance with Landlord’s requirements to the Landlord’s satisfaction.

TENANT'S COVENANTS AND OBLIGATIONS
The Tenant covenants with the Landlord that during the Term:

Gross Rent and other payments

The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord:-

(@) Net Rent calculated at the Net Rental Rate on the Floor Area, by monthly payments of the Monthly Net Rent in advance, on each Payment Date of
the Term;

(b) subject to Clause 5.1.2, Service Charge, by way of additional rent, calculated at the
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Service Charge Rate on the Floor Area, by monthly payments of the Monthly Service Charge in advance, on each Payment Date of the Term;

(c) where specified in the Offer Letter or Side Letter(s), if any, Chilled Water Charges, calculated at the Chilled Water Rate, by way of additional rent, in
the manner specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any;

(d) where specified in the Offer Letter or Side Letter(s), if any, Air Conditioning Charges, by way of additional rent, calculated at the rates and payable in
the manner specified in the Offer Letter or the Side Letter(s), if any;

(e) Electricity Charges, by way of additional rent, in the manner specified in Clause 5.5.2(a); and

) Car Park Charges, by way of additional rent, in the manner notified by the Landlord to the Tenant from time to time.

The Landlord shall be entitled at any time and from time to time to increase the Service Charge by notice if there is any increase in the Total Outgoings and
the following shall apply:-

(@) the Tenant shall pay such increased Service Charge during the Term;

(b) upon such increase in Total Outgoings, the Landlord shall issue a notice (the ‘Increase Notice’) to the Tenant stating the amount of the increase in
the Service Charge on a per square metre basis and the effective date of such increase;

(c) the Increase Notice shall be accepted by the Tenant as conclusive and binding of the matters so stated (save for manifest error);

(d) the increase in Service Charge shall be chargeable and payable by the Tenant with effect from the date specified in the Increase Notice; and

(e) if there is any additional Service Charge payable from a date prior to the issuance of the Increase Notice, the aggregate amount of such additional

Service Charge shall be payable by the Tenant forthwith upon the issuance of the Increase Notice.

The Tenant shall pay Gross Rent, Chilled Water Charges, Air Conditioning Charges, Electricity Charges and Car Park Charges which are payable by way of
standing order (GIRO) to an account designated by the Landlord or in such other manner as prescribed by the Landlord.

The provisions of this Clause 5.1 shall continue to apply notwithstanding the expiry or earlier determination of the Lease but only in respect of the Term.
Interest

If the Tenant does not pay the Gross Rent or any other sums owing to the Landlord under the Lease by the due date (whether or not formally demanded), the
Tenant must pay the Interest on that sum from the date the sum is due until the date that the sum is paid. Such Interest will be recoverable from the Tenant as
if it is rent in arrears. Nothing in this Clause 5.2 entitles the Tenant to withhold or delay any payment or affects or derogates from the rights of the Landlord in
relation to non-payment including without limitation, the right of re-entry under the Lease.

Taxes

In addition to the Gross Rent and other sums payable under the Lease, the Tenant must pay the Landlord immediately on demand Taxes payable by the

Landlord in respect of any sum payable under the Lease and/or the occupation and lease of the Premises. Taxes payable hereunder are recoverable as if
they are rent.
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The Tenant must pay to the relevant supplier all charges in respect of the Utilities (save for the Electricity Charges and the Air Conditioning Charges payable
to the Landlord pursuant to the Lease) supplied to the Premises by each respective supplier.

5.5Electricity Supply

5.5.1Unless otherwise notified by the Landlord, the Tenant shall make arrangements with a supplier

or retailer, as the case may be, for the supply of electricity to the Premises in which case, the Tenant shall comply with the following:

(a)
(b)

Tenant shall obtain the prior approval of the Landlord of the supplier or retailer; and

Tenant shall pay all charges for the supply of electricity to the Premises (including but not limited to any connection charges) directly to the supplier or
retailer.

5.5.2Where the Landlord arranges for the supply of electricity to the Premises (whether by way of en bloc energy purchase or otherwise), the Tenant must pay to the Landlord:

5.6

5.6.1

@

(b)

©

Electricity Charges in respect of the electricity supplied to the Premises, to the Landlord on a monthly basis. The Electricity Charges will be calculated
by the Landlord at such rate as the Landlord may stipulate and notified to the Tenant by a statement from the Landlord in writing. In the absence of
manifest error, the statement is conclusive as to the amount stated and the Tenant must make payment within seven (7) days from the date of the
Landlord’s statement;

all charges relating to the supply of electricity to the Premises including but not limited to connection charges and administrative charges within seven
(7) days of the Landlord’s notice to the Tenant of such charges; and

the Electricity Supply Deposit. The Landlord will inform the Tenant of the amount of the Electricity Supply Deposit from time to time during the Term.
The Electricity Supply Deposit will be retained by the Landlord for the Term and may be used (whether in whole or part) in or towards indemnifying
the Landlord against any breach by the Tenant of its obligations under Clauses 5.5.2(a) and 5.5.2(b) above. If the Electricity Supply Deposit is for any
reason less than the amount required by the Landlord, the Tenant must pay the Landlord the amount of the deficit within 7 days of the Landlord’s
written request. The Landlord will refund the Electricity Supply Deposit (subject to the Landlord’s rights under this paragraph) to the Tenant, free of
interest, together with the Security Deposit Amount.

Where the Landlord has effected or intends, at any time or from time to time during the Term, to effect an en bloc energy purchase for the Building or the Park,
the Tenant will be deemed to have granted its consent to such purchase on the date of the Acceptance. The Tenant must, if required by the Landlord, sign an
authorization containing such provisions as prescribed by the Landlord, to confirm such consent.

Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Tenant must not without the prior consent of the Landlord agree to purchase energy from any party
other than the Landlord or open a power supply account with SP Services Pte Ltd or any other electricity or power retailer.

Meters

The Tenant is required to engage a qualified contractor to install and test the electricity, water

and air conditioner meters (‘Meters’) relating to the Premises at the Tenant's own cost and expense (including without limitation, the costs and expenses
arising from the submissions to, endorsements by and attendance of the Landlord’s licensed electrical worker). Prior approval of the Landlord, and where

required

, the relevant Authorities for such installation and testing must be obtained.
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The Tenant shall be responsible for the maintenance, repair and replacement of the Meters at the Tenant’s costs and expense during the Rent Free Period (if
any) and the Term and the Tenant must not tamper with, or do anything which may affect the accuracy of, the Meters.

All connection and turning on fees whether payable to the Landlord or the Authority or any other person, shall be borne by the Tenant.

5.7Security Deposit Amount

5.7.1The Tenant must pay to and maintain with the Landlord the Security Deposit Amount:-

5.7.6

5.8Insurance

5.8.1

(a) as security for compliance by the Tenant of all the provisions in the Lease;

(b) to secure and indemnify the Landlord against:

@) any loss or damage resulting from any default by the Tenant under the Lease;

(i) any claim by the Landlord at any time against the Tenant in relation to any matter arising out of or in connection with the Premises; and

(iii) without prejudice to the generality of the preceding sub-Clauses, any amount owing by the Tenant to the Landlord during any holdover period or

subsequent lease of the Premises between the Landlord and the Tenant.

If any default by the Tenant under the Lease occurs, the Landlord is entitled (but not obliged) to apply the whole or part of the Security Deposit Amount in or
towards:-

(a) making good any loss or damage sustained by the Landlord as a result of any of the above in any manner as may be required by the Landlord; and
(b) repayment of any expense incurred by the Landlord in making good the loss and damage, in any manner as may be prescribed by the Landlord.

The Tenant must pay to the Landlord an amount equal to the amount applied by the Landlord under Clause 5.7.2, as replacement of the whole or part of the
Security Deposit Amount applied, within seven (7) days of demand.

If from time to time during the Term, the Gross Rent is increased in accordance with the Lease, the Security Deposit Amount shall likewise be increased and
the difference shall be paid by the Tenant upon the Landlord’s notice requiring payment.

The Landlord must repay to the Tenant the Security Deposit Amount, without interest and after proper deductions by the Landlord after the end of the Term if
the Tenant has paid all sums owing and performed all other obligations under the Lease to the satisfaction of the Landlord.

The Tenant must not set-off any part of the Security Deposit Amount against any Gross Rent or other sums owing to the Landlord.

The Tenant shall at the Tenant's own cost and expense from the Possession Date or the commencement of the Term, whichever is earlier, till the expiry of the
Term and during any period of holding over, take out and keep in force the following insurance policies (hereinafter called the “ Insurance Policies "):

(@) an insurance policy in the name of the Tenant:

@) against all risks of physical loss or damage (including risks of fire) in respect of the Tenant’s property, goods and stock-in-trade (if any) in the
Premises including all the Tenant’s plate and tempered glass, glass frontage and plant and machinery in the Premises (if any);
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5.10.1
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(ii) up to the full replacement value of the Tenant's property, goods and stock-in-trade in the Premises; and

(iii)which includes a provision for waiver of subrogation against the Landlord.

(b) a public liability insurance policy in the name of the Tenant with the Landlord named therein as an additional insured party:

0} against claims for personal injury, death or property damage or loss arising out of all operations of the Tenant, its servants, agents, invitees,
licensees and independent contractors in or from the Premises or assumed under this lease, which shall be extended to include any of the insured
parties’ legal liability for loss of or damage to the Premises (including all fixtures and fittings therein) and all the Landlord’s property;

(i) in an amount not less than the sum of Singapore Dollars Three Million (S$3,000,000.00) or such higher amount as may from time to time be required
by the Landlord; and

(iii) which includes a cross-liability clause.
The Tenant shall take out the Insurance Policies with a reputable insurance company approved by the Landlord.

The Tenant shall forthwith at the request of the Landlord furnish to the Landlord copies of the Insurance Policies and the receipt for the last premium payable
in respect of such policies.

The Tenant shall not do nor suffer to be done anything whereby any of the Insurance Policies may be rendered void or voidable.
Repair

The Tenant must:

keep the Premises in a clean, tidy and sanitary condition;

keep the Premises, including all fixtures and fittings in it (whether belonging to the Landlord or the Tenant), all mechanical and electrical equipment in and
serving the Premises and the Conducting Media in and serving the Premises and reasonably accessible to the Tenant in good and tenantable repair and
condition (except for fair wear and tear); and

immediately make good, to the satisfaction of the Landlord, any damage caused to the Premises (including the Landlord’s fixtures and fittings in it) or any
other part of the Building or the Park by the Tenant.

Landlord 's Right of Inspection and Repair

The Tenant must allow the Landlord to enter the Premises at all reasonable times to:

(@) establish if the provisions of the Lease have been observed;

(b) inspect the condition of the Premises;

(c) take a schedule of fixtures; and / or

(d) determine the source of any interference or disturbance to other tenants and occupants.

If any breach, defects, disrepair, removal of fixtures or unauthorised alterations, additions or installations are found on inspection for which the Tenant is liable,
then, on notice from the Landlord, the Tenant must carry out the necessary works with due diligence within the time
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period specified in the Landlord’s notice, to the satisfaction of the Landlord.

5.10.3If the Tenant does not complete the necessary works in time, the Landlord may enter the

Premises to do the necessary works pursuant to Clause 8.8 below. In connection with such works and if required by the Landlord, the Tenant shall:-

@)

(b)

remove its own installations, machinery or any article so as to facilitate the Landlord’s execution of things, repairs and works and if the Tenant fails to
do so, the Landlord may effect such removal at the Tenant's costs and expense; and

cease activities to such extent and during such hours as the Landlord may specify by notice to the Tenant in order to carry out such works (including
without limitation, investigations relating thereto).

5.11Landlord 's Right of Entry for Repairs

5.11.1

5.11.2

5.11.3

5.12

5.12.1

The Tenant must allow the Landlord to enter the Premises at all reasonable times after giving to the Tenant prior notice (except in an emergency):

(a)
(b)

©

(d)
(e)
(U]

to carry out any works relating to the Conducting Media and to install additional Conducting Media;

to carry out any works which the Landlord considers necessary or desirable to any part of the Building or the Park (including the services and
facilities in it);

to exercise any right granted to or to comply with any obligation of the Landlord under the Lease or the Head Lease or any obligation owed to any
third party having legal rights over the Premises, the Building or the Park;

to alter, repair or maintain the Premises, the Building or the Park (including cleaning the exterior windows of the Building);
to develop the remainder of the Building or the Park, including the right to build onto any boundary wall of the Premises; or
to construct, alter, maintain, repair or fix anything or additional thing serving such property and running through or on the Premises and the Landlord

shall also have the right to grant access to any of the Authorities to carry out any works at the Premises including but not limited to any surrounding
areas if so required by the Authorities.

The Landlord need not pay any compensation for any nuisance, annoyance, inconvenience, damage or loss caused to the Tenant. Nonetheless, the Landlord
will endeavour to cause as little disturbance as is reasonably possible in the circumstances.

If required by the Landlord, the Tenant shall:-

@)

(b)

remove its own installations, machinery or any article so as to facilitate the Landlord’s execution of things, repairs and works and if the Tenant fails to
do so, the Landlord may effect such removal at the Tenant’s cost and expense; and

cease activities to such extent and during such hours as the Landlord may specify by notice to the Tenant for any work (including without limitation,
investigations relating thereto) to be executed by the Landlord.

Vacating the Premises

At the expiry or sooner determination of the Term, the Tenant must:-

@)
(b)

have complied with all its obligations specified in Clause 5.12.2; and

vacate the Premises and yield up the Premises to the Landlord together with all keys
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of the Premises and the keys of all mailboxes for the Premises.

Prior to vacating the Premises, the Tenant must at its cost carry out the reinstatement works to restore the Premises to its Original Condition (except fair wear
and tear) as set out in the Tenants’ Guide and in accordance with the Landlord’s additional reinstatement requirements (‘Reinstatement Works ).

If the Tenant took over fixtures, fittings and/or furniture of any previous occupant, the Reinstatement Works shall include the removal all such fixtures, fittings
and furniture.

If the Tenant fails to comply with any of its obligations set out above, the Landlord may carry out the Reinstatement Works (or such part thereof as may remain
uncompleted) at the Tenant's cost and expense.

If the Landlord carries out such Reinstatement Works:-

(@) the Landlord must complete the works within a reasonable period; and
(b) the Tenant must pay the Landlord immediately on demand:
@) all the Landlord’s costs together with Interest from the date of expenditure to the date they are paid by the Tenant to the Landlord (such expenses

and Interest to be recoverable as if they were rent in arrears);

(ii) a sum (the ‘Additional Sum’) equivalent to the Gross Rent calculated based on the period (the ‘Reinstatement Period’) taken by the Landlord to
complete the works.

If the Landlord is agreeable that the Reinstatement Works be delayed with the intent of procuring a replacement tenant to take over the Tenant’s fixtures and
fittings, the Landlord shall be entitled to require the Tenant to pay a further sum to be determined by the Landlord by reference to the costs and expenses that
would be required to complete such Reinstatement Works (the ‘Further Sum’). If such replacement tenant agrees to take over the Tenant's fixtures and
fittings, the Tenant shall be deemed to have consented to the transfer of its title in the fixtures and fittings to the replacement tenant and upon:-

(a) the Tenant issuing a written confirmation to that effect; and

(b) the replacement tenant undertaking in writing to take over the Tenant's fixtures and fittings and agreeing in writing to reinstate the Premises,

the Further Sum shall be refunded to the Tenant. If paragraph (a) and/or paragraph (b) above is/are not fulfilled within three (3) months (or such other period
as the Landlord may stipulate) from the date of the expiry or sooner determination of the Term, then the Landlord shall be entitled to retain the entire Further
Sum and remove, dispose or deal with the Tenant's fixtures and fittings as the Landlord deems fit and all proceeds from the disposal (if any) shall be retained
by the Landlord.

A statement from the Landlord of the costs incurred, the Additional Sum and the Further Sum is conclusive and binding on the Tenant (save for manifest
error).

Permitted Use
Subject to Clause 5.13.3 below, the Tenant shall not use the Premises for any purpose except for the Permitted Use for the business of the Tenant.

The Tenant shall obtain and keep in force all necessary approvals required by law for the operation of its business in the Premises, at its own cost, and
expense and must ensure that the terms and conditions of such approvals are strictly complied with.

The Tenant must ensure that not more than 40% of the Floor Area is used for purposes ancillary to the Permitted Use, as approved by (a) the Urban
Redevelopment Authority or other




5.14

5.15

5.15.1

5.15.2

5.16

ascendas

Authority and (b) the Landlord.

Not to Void Insurance

The Tenant shall not do anything which may make any of the Landlord’s insurance policies invalid or capable of cancellation or which may increase the
premium on such policies. If the Tenant is in default of this Clause, the Tenant shall make good any damage suffered by the Landlord and to pay the
increased premium and all costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord with respect to the renewal of such policy, without affecting any other rights or
remedies of the Landlord.

Viewing

Within six (6) months before the end of the Term, the Tenant shall allow all persons authorised

by the Landlord or its agents to view the Premises at all reasonable times with prior notice in connection with any reletting.

At any time during the Rent Free Period (if any) and the Term, the Tenant shall allow all

persons authorised by the Landlord or its agents to view the Premises at all reasonable times with prior notice in connection with any sale of the Building.

Compliance with the Law

5.16.1The Tenant must comply, at its cost, wjth the Law and all requirements of the Authorities in

@
(b)
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5.16.2

5.17

5.18

5.19

force during the Term relating to:

the Premises or the use or occupation of the Premises;

anything in or done in the Premises by the Tenant; and

the observance or performance of the Tenant's obligations under the Lease,

and immediately inform the Landlord in writing of any notice or order from any Authority received in relation to any of the above or of any defect in the
Premises which may give rise to a liability or duty on the Landlord.

Without prejudice to Clause 5.16.1, the Tenant shall not allow the Premises to be used as a

place in which any person is employed in contravention of Section 57(1)(e) of the Immigration Act (Chapter 133), Section 5 of the Employment of Foreign
Manpower Act (Chapter 91A) and any other Law in force at the moment.

Acceptance of Existing State and Condition

The Tenant agrees to accept, and not raise any objection to, the existing state and condition of the Premises as at the Possession Date including the
structural, mechanical and electrical specifications of the Premises.

Confidentiality of Information

Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies the Landlord is entitled to, the Tenant will not disclose to any third party any information in respect of or
arising from or in connection with the terms, conditions and provisions of the lease of the Premises whether contained in the Lease or in previous or
subsequent correspondence or otherwise, unless such disclosure is required by Law or with the prior consent of the Landlord.

Indemnity by Tenant

The Tenant shall indemnify the Landlord against all claims, demands, actions, proceedings, judgements, damages, losses, costs and expenses of any nature
which the Landlord may suffer or incur for death, injury, loss and/or damage caused, directly or indirectly by:
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any occurrences in the Premises or the use or occupation of the Premises by the Tenant or by any of the Tenant's employees, independent contractors,
agents or any permitted occupier;

the Tenant or its employees, independent contractors, agents or any permitted occupier of the Premises, the Building or any property in them (including
without limitation, those caused directly or indirectly by the use or misuse, waste or abuse of the Utilities or faulty fittings or fixtures) or the condition of any part
of the interior of the Premises; and

any default by the Tenant in complying with the provisions of the Lease.

Assignment and Subletting

The Tenant shall not assign, sublet, mortgage or charge the Lease or the Premises.
The Tenant shall not licence, part with or share possession or occupation of the Premises or grant third parties any rights over the Premises.

Where the Tenant is a company, any change in the management control or majority shareholders of the Tenant made without the prior consent of the
Landlord will be treated as an assignment of the Lease.

For the purpose of this Clause, “majority shareholder” means a person who:

(a) controls the composition of the board of directors of the Tenant; or
(b) controls more than 50% of the issued share capital of the Tenant; or
(c) controls more than 50% of the voting power of the Tenant.

Subject to Clause 5.20.1, if the Tenant is a sole-proprietor or comprises of partners carrying on business under a business name registered under the
Business Registration Act, the Tenant shall not effect any change in the constitution or membership of the sole-proprietorship or partnership without the
Landlord’s prior consent.

In the event the Landlord grants its consent, the Landlord shall be entitled at its absolute discretion to impose such terms and conditions and charge such fees
as the Landlord shall see fit and Section 17 of the Conveyancing and Law of Property Act (Chapter 61) shall not apply.

No Lodgment of Caveat, Registration of Lease and Su___bdivision

The Tenant shall not lodge a caveat in respect of the Lease nor register the Lease at the Singapore Land Registry, whether before or during the Term. The
Tenant undertakes to immediately withdraw any caveats lodged in default of this Clause.

The Tenant must not require the Landlord to subdivide the Building or do any act which could result in the Landlord being required to subdivide the Building.

The Landlord and the Tenant hereby agree and acknowledge that the Lease does not operate as a lease capable of registration under the provisions of the
Land Titles Act (Cap. 157) or any other Law.

Prevention of Infectious Diseases

The Tenant shall take all steps and measures, at the Tenant’s cost and expense, to prevent any outbreak, spread or any transmission whatsoever of any
Infectious Disease (including, but not limited to, thoroughly fumigating and disinfecting the Premises to the satisfaction of the Authorities) and to, without
prejudice to Clause 5.16, to promptly comply, at the Tenant's cost and expense, with the Law and all guidelines, rules and requirements of the Authorities
relating to the prevention of any outbreak and/or spread of Infectious Diseases.
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The Tenant shall forthwith give notice to the Landlord and the Authorities if the Tenant is aware or suspects that any person is suffering, has died from, is a
carrier or a contact of, or is at risk of infection from an Infectious Disease and provide such required information or particulars.

Head Lease

The Tenant shall comply with and be bound by the conditions (if any) imposed by the Head Landlord in granting its consent to the lease of the Premises to the
Tenant.

The Tenant shall comply with, perform, observe and be bound by the obligations contained or referred to in the Head Lease insofar as they relate to the
Premises. The Tenant shall also comply with, perform, observe and be bound by the obligations of any additional or supplemental documents made or to be
made from time to time between the Landlord and the Head Landlord pursuant to the Head Lease in relation to the Building and/or the Park.

Change of Name
The Tenant shall give prior notice to the Landlord of any intended change in its name and pay to the Landlord a fee for every change of its name.
Additional Property Tax

The Tenant must pay to the Landlord immediately on demand, any additional property tax ( ‘Additional Property Tax’ ). The Additional Property Tax shall be
the property tax payable for or apportioned as attributable to the Premises (in respect of each month of the Rent Free Period (if any) and the Term) arising
from an increase in the annual value of or attributable to the Premises or an increase in the rate of property tax of or attributable to the Premises over and
above the annual value and the rate of property tax prevailing on the Commencement Date. If the Tenant fails to comply with this Clause 5.25, the Additional
Property Tax together with Interest accruing from the date of the Landlord’s demand until the date of payment will be recoverable from the Tenant as if it were
rentin arrears.

The liability of the Tenant to pay the Additional Property Tax will not be affected by the expiry or sooner determination of the Term.
Objection to or appeals in respect of any assessment of annual value or imposition of property tax on the Premises may only be made by the Landlord at its

sole discretion.

LANDLORD'S OBLIGATIONS
The Landlord covenants with the Tenant as follows:
Quiet Enjoyment

If the Tenant pays the Gross Rent and other sums due under the Lease and complies with the Tenant’s obligations in the Lease, the Tenant may occupy and
use the Premises throughout the Term without any interruption by the Landlord, except as provided in the Lease.

Property Tax

Save for the Additional Property Tax, the Landlord must pay the property tax levied on the Building by the Authority and which is apportioned as attributable to
the Premises.

Management of the Building
Subject to the provisions of Clauses 7.1, the Landlord must:

keep the exterior of the Building, the Common Property, the mechanical and electrical services and other services, amenities and facilities in the Building
provided by the Landlord for
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common use or benefit, in good repair and in the case of mechanical and electrical services, in working order and condition (fair wear and tear excepted);

provide lift services during the hours specified by the Landlord, electricity for the lighting of the Common Property within the Building and water for the toilet
and bathroom facilities, if any, in the Common Property in the Building;

keep the Common Property sufficiently cleaned and lit; and

insure the Building (excluding fixtures and fittings installed by the Tenant) against damage by fire and such other risks which the Landlord decides are
necessary.

LANDLORD NOT LIABLE

No Claim by Tenant

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Lease, the Landlord is not liable to the Tenant or its employees, independent contractors, agents or permitted
occupiers or any other persons and the Tenant must not claim against the Landlord for any death, injury, loss or damage (including indirect, consequential and
special losses) which the Tenant or its employees, independent contractors, agents or permitted occupiers or any other persons may suffer (whether
sustained at or originating at the Premises or the Building or the Common Property or the Park) in respect of any of the following (whether caused by
negligence or other causes):

any interruption in any of the services mentioned in Clause 6.3 due to necessary repair, maintenance, damage or destruction of any installations or equipment
or mechanical, electrical, electronic, microprocessor, software or other defect, malfunction or breakdown; or

any act, omission, negligence or misconduct of (a) any employee of the Landlord or any person acting under such employee in respect of the Premises or the
Building; (b) the employee, agent or independent contractor of the Landlord in performing any duty relating to the services mentioned in Clause 6.3; or (c) any
contractor nominated or approved by the Landlord under the Lease, and such contractor appointed by the Tenant will not be treated as an employee or agent
of the Landlord or (d) any other person in the Building; or

leakage or defect in the piping, wiring and sprinkler system or defect (inherent or otherwise) in the structure of the Building; or
the use of the car parks in the Building; or

the violation of the Tenants’ Guide by any of the other tenants, invitees, licensees or other occupiers in the Building including their employees, independent
contractors, agents, visitors, invitees or licensees; or

any failure or delay by the Landlord in the taking or implementing of any measures or the insufficiency of any such measures taken by the Landlord, to prevent
any outbreak or spread whatsoever of any Infectious Disease in the Building; or

any terrorist act regardless of any other cause or event contributing concurrently or in any other consequence to the loss (including, but not limited to, any
action taken in controlling, preventing, suppressing or in any way relating to any terrorist act); or

any Force Majeure; or

any failure or inability or defect in the supply or character of electricity, water (including chilled water) or where applicable, gas, supplied to the Premises by
any service provider supplying the Building with electricity, water (including chilled water) or where applicable, gas; or

for accidents happening or injuries sustained or for loss of or damage to property in the Premises, the Building or the Park.
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OTHER TERMS
Re-entry
The Tenant will be in default under the Lease if, during the Term:

(@) the Tenant fails to pay the Gross Rent or any other sum payable under the Lease within seven (7) days after the due date (whether or not formally
demanded);. or

(b) the Tenant fails to comply with its obligations under the Lease (other than payment of Gross Rent and any other sum payable under the Lease) and
(where the breach is capable of remedy) fails to make good the default within fourteen (14) days (or any other period stipulated by the Landlord) of
the Landlord’s notice ; or

(c) any distress or execution is levied on the Tenant's property and is not discharged within seven (7) days; or
(d) an event of insolvency occurs or is likely to occur in relation to the Tenant.

In any of the above events, the Landlord may re-enter and take possession of the Premises (or any part of it) at any time (even if any previous right of re-entry
has been waived) and to repossess the Premises and the Term and the Lease shall absolutely cease and determine.

The exercise of the Landlord of its right of re-entry will not affect any rights of the Landlord against the Tenant (including rights in respect of the default under
which the re-entry is made).

The Tenant must indemnify the Landlord from and against all cost, loss, damages and expenses (including, without limitation, Gross Rent for the Rent Free
Period and loss of Gross Rent which would have been payable by the Tenant if the Term had been completed and all costs and expenses incurred for re-
letting or attempted re-letting of the Premises), suffered by the Landlord as a result of the Landlord exercising its right of re-entry. This indemnity will not affect
the other rights and remedies of the Landlord against the Tenant.

Government Acquisition

If the Building or any part of it is acquired by any Authority or a notice, order or gazette notification is issued in respect of the intended or actual acquisition of
the Building or any part of it by any Authority, the Landlord may terminate the Lease, without compensation, by giving notice to the Tenant. Upon receipt of the
notice, the Lease will end without affecting the rights of the Landlord against the Tenant for any previous default by the Tenant of the Lease

Removal of property after the end of Lease

If the Gross Rent or any other sums payable under the Lease shall be unpaid, the Tenant shall, upon the Landlord’s notice, leave any property of the Tenant
specified by the Landlord in the Premises.

If any property of the Tenant remains on the Premises after the Tenant has vacated the Premises after the expiry or sooner determination of the Term whether
under Clause 8.3.1 or for any other reason whatsoever, the Landlord shall be entitled, and shall be deemed to be authorized, to remove, store, deal with, sell
and dispose of the property in any manner which the Landlord thinks is appropriate. All costs and expenses incurred by the Landlord together with Interest
from the date of expenditure until the date they are paid by the Tenant to the Landlord shall be recoverable from the Tenant as if they were rent in arrears. The
Landlord shall be entitled to apply the proceeds of sale (if any) against such costs, expenses and Interest and any other amounts owing by the Tenant to the
Landlord. The Landlord shall return the balance, if any, to the Tenant.

The Tenant must indemnify the Landlord against any liability incurred by the Landlord to any third party whose property is dealt with or disposed of by the
Landlord in the mistaken belief (which will

be presumed unless the contrary is proved) that such property belonged to the Tenant.
Notices

A notice given or required to be given under the Lease must be in writing.

A notice to the Tenant is only valid if given by hand or sent by registered post to the Premises.

A notice to the Landlord is only valid if sent by registered post to the registered office for the time being of the Landlord or any other address notified by the
Landlord to the Tenant.




8.4.4

8.5

8.5.1
8.5.2

8.5.3
8.6

8.7

8.7.1
8.7.2
8.7.3
8.8

ascendas

Any notice will be treated as served:
(@) (for notice given by hand) immediately on the day upon which it is sent; and

(b) (for notice by registered post) twenty-four (24) hours after posting and in proving it, it will be adequate to show that the envelope containing the notice
was addressed, stamped and posted.

Service of Process
Any process, by writ, summons or otherwise, shall be sufficiently served if effected on:

the Landlord by registered post to its business address;

the Tenant by registered post to or by leaving or affixing it at the business address or the Premises notwithstanding that it is returned by the post office
undelivered; or

the solicitor for the Landlord or the Tenant in the manner provided in this Clause.

Prohibition against Offsetting

The Tenant must pay to the Landlord promptly as and when due, without demand, deduction, set-off, or counterclaim, all sums due and payable by the Tenant
to the Landlord under the Lease. The Tenant must not exercise any right or claim to withhold Gross Rent or any other sum payable under the Lease or any
right or claim to legal or equitable set-off.

Costs and Expenses

The Tenant agrees to pay the Landlord (on a full indemnity basis), immediately on demand, all the Landlord’s costs and expenses (including without limitation,
legal fees) incurred:-

for drawing up, negotiating and completing Side Letter(s), if any;

for considering a request for any consent or approval by the Landlord (including fees imposed by the Landlord’s consultants for advising the Landlord); and

as a result of a default by the Tenant of the Lease.

Remedial Measures.

If the Tenant fails to observe or perform any obligations on its part in the Lease, the Landlord may (but shall not be under any obligation to) without prejudice
to any of its other rights or remedies, carry out or cause to be carried out such remedial measures as the Landlord thinks necessary. All costs and expenses
incurred by the Landlord together with Interest from the date of expenditure until the date they are paid by the Tenant to the Landlord shall be recoverable

from the Tenant as if they were rent in arrears PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the Landlord shall not be liable to the Tenant for any loss, damage or
inconvenience directly or indirectly caused thereby.
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No Waiver

The Landlord’s consent or waiver to any default by the Tenant of its obligations in the Lease is only effective if it is in writing. Mere knowledge or consent by
conduct (expressed or implied) of the Landlord of such default by the Tenant will not be implied or treated as a waiver.

Such consent or waiver by the Landlord must not be taken as a consent or waiver to another default by the Tenant of the same obligation or a default of
another obligation in the Lease.

The Landlord will not be treated as waiving its right to proceed against the Tenant in respect of any default by the Tenant of its obligations in the Lease, if the
Landlord accepts the Gross Rent or any other sum payable by the Tenant under the Lease.

Representations

The Lease forms the entire agreement between the Landlord and the Tenant relating to the lease of the Premises.

The Landlord is not bound by any representations or promises with respect to the Building, the Premises or the Park if they are not stated in the Lease
whether written or oral, express or implied by common law, statute or custom or otherwise.

The Tenant confirms that it has not agreed to or executed the Acceptance or any Side Letter(s) relying on any representation made by the Landlord or on its
behalf which is not stated in the Lease.

The Landlord and the Tenant each represents, warrants and undertakes that it has full power and authority to enter into and perform the Lease and the Lease
is valid and binding on its part.

Tenants ' Guide

The Tenant must comply with the Tenants’ Guide and ensure that its employees, agents, independent contractors and permitted occupiers comply with the
Tenants’ Guide.

The Landlord may make and vary the Tenants’ Guide at any time.

The provisions of the Lease will prevail where there is inconsistency between such provisions and the Tenants’ Guide.

Landlord may Assign

The Landlord is entitled to transfer (whether by an assignment or novation) its rights and obligations in the Lease. Upon such transfer, the Tenant:-

(a) is treated to have consented to such transfer and must accept the transferee as its new landlord;

(b) must release the Landlord from all its obligations under the Lease, including without limitation, the Landlord’s obligation to refund the Security Deposit
Amount and other sums that the Landlord is obliged to refund under the Lease;

(c) must become a party to and sign the assignment or novation agreement in respect of the Lease with the Landlord and its transferee, if required by the
Landlord. Such agreement will be prepared by the Landlord or its transferee at its own cost; and

(d) if requested by the Landlord, where the Security Deposit Amount is furnished by way of a bank guarantee, procure a replacement bank guarantee to
be issued in favour of the transferee.
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Unenforceability and Severance

The illegality, invalidity or unenforceability of any provision in the Lease under the law of any jurisdiction will not affect the legality, validity and enforceability of
that provision under the law of any other jurisdiction or the legality, validity or enforceability of any of the other provisions in the Lease.

Governing Law and Submission to Jurisdiction

The Offer Letter and the Lease are governed by Singapore law.

The parties agree to submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of the Republic of Singapore.
Where the Tenant is a company that is neither incorporated nor registered in Singapore:-

(@) the Tenant undertakes to deliver to the Landlord a copy of the letter issued by the process agent to the Landlord, consenting to irrevocably act as the
Tenant’s process agent, within seven (7) days of appointment, in a form approved by the Landlord;

(b) the service of process on the Tenant is treated as completed upon leaving the documents at the last known address of the process agent; and
(c) Clause 8.14.3 will not affect the right of the Landlord to serve process in any other manner permitted by Law.

Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act Cap 53B

Without prejudice to Clause 8.12, nothing in the Lease shall confer on any person who is not party to the Lease a right to enforce any terms of the Lease and
the provisions of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act, Cap 53B, which might otherwise be interpreted to confer such rights to such persons shall not
apply and are expressly excluded from applying to the Lease and no consent of any third party is required for any variation (including any release or
compromise of any liability) or termination of the Lease.

Limitation of Liability

Notwithstanding any contrary provision in the Lease, it is hereby agreed and acknowledged that the Landlord is entering into this Lease in its capacity as
Trustee of A-REIT and not in its personal capacity. As such, any liability of or indemnity given or to be given by the Landlord shall be limited to the assets of A-
REIT over which the Landlord has recourse and shall not extend to any personal assets of the Landlord or any assets held by the Landlord as Trustee for any
trust other than A-REIT.

Ascendas Services Pte Ltd

Co Reg No.:199600003W

61 Science Park Road, #04-01 The Galen, Singapore Science Park Il, Singapore 117525
Tel [¥] Fax [*] Email [*]



SUBSIDIARIES OF FLUIDIGM CORPORATION

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Corporation (Delaware):

Fluidigm K.K. (Japan)

Fluidigm Europe, B.V. (Netherlands)

Fluidigm Singapore Pte. Ltd. (Singapore)

Fluidigm (Shanghai) Instrument Technology Compaigited (China)

Fluidigm Sciences Inc. (Delaware)

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Europe, BV (Netherlands):

Fluidigm France SARL (France)

Fluidigm UK Limited (United Kingdom)

Subsidiaries of Fluidigm Sciences Inc. (Delaware):

Fluidigm Canada Inc. (Ontario, Canada)

DVS Sciences (UK) Ltd. (United Kingdom)



CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference infdllewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3ASR No.-833624) of Fluidigm Corporation,

2 Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 3332082333-180363 and 333-187204) pertaining to #891Stock Option Plan, 2009
Equity Incentive Plan, and 2011 Equity IncentivarPof Fluidigm Corporation, and

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8/S-3 No. 3880B4) pertaining to (a) the 2011 Equity Incen®en of Fluidigm Corporation, (b)
stock options granted under the DVS Sciences,20&0 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, assuméduigigm Corporation, and (c)
the DVS Sciences, Inc. Stock Restriction AgreemantsRestricted Stock Purchase Agreements assuyrfeldidigm Corporation;

of our reports dated March 12, 2014, with respethé consolidated financial statements of Fluidigamporation and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of Flugsh Corporation included in this Annual Report (FdréiK) of Fluidigm Corporation for the
year ended December 31, 20

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Redwood City, California
March 12, 2014



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF THE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-144),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornK1@F Fluidigm Corporatior

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to make #tersents
made, in light of the circumstances under which statements were made, not misleading with respebetperiod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfinancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowsefregistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéus report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined gh&xge
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internalrobotver financial reporting (as defined in Excharfct Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the

registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under our supervision, to ensute tha
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kntawns by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this rep@being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under our supervjdion
provide reasonable assurance regarding the rétjabilfinancial reporting and the preparation wfaincial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registgadisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis report our conclusions about the effectagsof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étiteqeriod covered by this report based on swekuation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegis's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most recesuai
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartethie case of an annual report) that has materiéfltigi@d, or is reasonably likely to materially affe

the registrant’s internal control over financigboeting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anbdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimtiernal control over financial reporting, teetregistrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registsabtiard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material wealsessin the design or operation of internal cordxar financial reporting which are reasonably kel
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to recqutbcess, summarize and report financial inforomtand

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that invavaanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
By: /sl Gajus V. Worthington

Gajus V. Worthington
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 12, 2014



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-144),
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornK1@F Fluidigm Corporatior

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadomny untrue statement of a material fact ort@émstate a material fact necessary to make #tersents
made, in light of the circumstances under which statements were made, not misleading with respetietperiod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respectsfinancial
condition, results of operations and cash flowsefregistrant as of, and for, the periods presentéus report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as defined oh&xge
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internalrobotver financial reporting (as defined in Excharfct Rules 13a-15(f) and 185(f)) for the
registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedoresused such disclosure controls and procedortes designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to thgiseant, including its consolidated subsidiarisspade known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in whichstheport is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financiglorting, or caused such internal control over foahreporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitte reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples;

C. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presentesi report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prors] as of the end of the period covered by #pent based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrathost recent fisc.
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quartettie case of an annual report) that has materiéfligt@d, or is reasonably likely to materially affe
the registrant’s internal control over financigboeting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial reporting, ttee
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee efrégistrant’s board of directors (or persons perfiog the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material wealsessin the design or operation of internal cordgrar financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finamdiatmation; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiosmin the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: March 12, 2014 By: /sl Vikram Jog

Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONG®
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gajus V. Worthington, the chief executive offiadrFluidigm Corporation (the “Company”), certifgrfthe purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adqutesuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003, tbahe best of my knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-Ktfe fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “R8péully complies with the requirements of
section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finanmaldition and results of operations of the Company.

By: /sl Gajus V. Worthington
Gajus V. Worthington

President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 12, 2014




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. § 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTIONG®
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Vikram Jog, the chief financial officer of Flugth Corporation (the “Company”), certify for the poses of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted purtuan
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, toate best of my knowledge,

(i) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10-Ktfe fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “R§péully complies with the requirements of sectio
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act B4,%s amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report faigyesents, in all material respects, the finammaldition and results of operations of the Company.
By: /sl Vikram Jog

Vikram Jog
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 12, 2014



